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In the year under review, the Siegfried 
Group strengthened its position in the out-
sourcing market and further broadened its 
base for the future. While in a demanding 
market environment the company suffered 
a decline in sales, the EBITDA margin 
 considerably increased thanks to early pre-
ventive measures taken. The development  
in customer acquisition and, therefore, in 
the number of new customer projects, 
was very pleasing. 
—
 
Dear Shareholders 

In the year under review, the Siegfried Group strengthened its position in the outsourcing 
market and further broadened its base for the future. While in a demanding market environ - 
ment the company suffered a decline in sales, the EBITDA margin considerably increased 
thanks to early preventive measures taken. 

Sales for the 2014 financial year fell by 15.9% (15.2% in local currencies) to CHF 315.3 mil- 
lion, while earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) of 
CHF 58.8 million was slightly below the previous year’s parameters. As a result, EBITDA 
margin grew by 1.1% percentage points to 18.6%. Earnings before interest and taxes  
(EBIT) are reported at CHF 34.0 million, corresponding to an EBIT margin of 10.8%. Net 
profit is reported at CHF 38.6 million.

The Transform strategy continued to be implemented in 2014. The Siegfried Group consider-
ably strengthened its activities in the field of sterile filling through the acquisition of  
Hameln Pharmaceuticals GmbH and Hameln RDS GmbH, both located in the town of Hameln, 
Germany. 

million Swiss francs net profit  
in 2014.

38.6
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Dr. Andreas Casutt, Chairman of the Board of Directors Dr. Rudolf Hanko, Chief Executive Officer

Significant increase of new enquiries 
The 2014 financial year was extremely gratifying with regard to the number of enquiries  
and the acquisition of new projects. The project pipeline grew by 35 new projects in 2014. 
Compared with the previous year, this represents a growth of 40% in terms of numbers  
and doubling in terms of value. Following the acquisition of Hameln, we have recognized  
a higher customer interest for products produced there.

Significant progress in strategy implementation 
As in previous years, Siegfried has again made significant progress in strategy implementa-
tion. In Nantong, China, a new production plant was put into service. The first inspection by 
the FDA, the U.S. regulatory authority, is scheduled for the second half of 2015. Nantong 
plays an important role in customer acquisition, especially considering the present currencies 
insecurity. 

Yet another milestone was reached in terms of expanding our technological competence by 
taking into operation a state-of-the-art spray dryer in Pennsville, USA. New orders for this 
new technology have been acquired in 2014 and enlarged our customer portfolio. The spray 
dryer represents a second important pillar of the site in addition to the production of 
controlled substances.
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The Siegfried Group significantly strengthened its commitment to the sterile filling segment 
through the acquisition of Hameln Pharmaceuticals GmbH and Hameln RDS GmbH. While 
Irvine focuses on technically demanding, complex dosage forms, Hameln’s focus is on larger 
and more efficient production aimed at filling ampules and vials. Siegfried is in a position  
to take advantage on several levels of the synergies provided by sterile competencies in Irvine 
and extensive know-how in the development and production of finished dosage forms. 

All of these strategic measures represent milestones in our corporate development. Siegfried’s 
Board of Directors and its Executive Committee are determined to play an active role in  
the industry’s current consolidation phase. In this spirit, Siegfried will continue to consistently 
implement its strategy. You find more information on Siegfried Group’s strategy in the 
magazine part of this Annual Report.

Focus on cost variability
Siegfried must remain flexible and be able to react quickly to short-term customer requests  
or changing order volumes. The company has for several years confronted this challenge  
with a growing share of variable costs. As a result, in Zofingen, several activities such as 
maintenance, security, and both supply and disposal have been outsourced so that these 
services – which are strongly connected to production capacity utilization – can be accessed 
to meet requirements. At all sites, a pool of qualified temporary staff has been developed  
in the last few years in order to increase or decrease resources as the order volume demands. 
These measures have proven successful in the year under review and made a considerable 
contribution toward the rise of the EBITDA margin. 

Natural hedge strengthened further 
In addition to our focus on costs, priority in 2014 was given to reaching a higher natural 
hedge by closing as far as possible the gap between expenses and earnings in foreign 
currencies. With a natural hedge of about 89% (US dollar and Euro combined) in 2014, this 
goal has to a large extent been reached and, in these unsettled times, it represents an 
enormous advantage with respect to currencies. As a result, the company is not particularly 
sensitive with regard to currency fluctuations; the EBITDA margin is maintained at a high 
level, with the exception of the impact on sales, which cannot be eliminated by means of 
hedging. 

Sound financing 
The company’s financing remains sound, even following the implementation of significant 
strategic projects, and with a net debt of CHF 85 million only a part of the credit line  
of CHF 250 million was utilized. The calculation does not take into consideration own shares 
of about CHF 20 million. 

natuarl hedge to the Euro  
in 2014.

98%
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Positive outlook for 2015
We expect Siegfried in the current year to grow in the low double-digit percentage range 
regarding EBITDA.

Distribution from capital contributon reserve
In view of the gratifying net profit, the Board of Directors will recommend to the General 
Meeting that the payout to shareholders remains unchanged at the previous year’s level  
of CHF 1.50 per share. This distribution will be made from the capital contribution reserve.

Staff news
Dr. Andreas Casutt assumed his position as Chairman of the Board of Directors with effect 
from the 2014 General Meeting. Prof. Dr. Wolfram Carius was elected to Siegfried’s Board  
of Directors. He has extensive knowledge of the pharma business from his professional 
activities in various companies. 

With effect from November 1, 2014, Peter Gehler was appointed Head of Pharmapark 
Siegfried, consisting of five companies. Consequently, he has withdrawn from Siegfried’s 
Executive Committee on which he had served since 2006. Peter Gehler continues his func-
tion as the Siegfried Group’s Chief Communications Officer. Dr. Wolfgang Wienand, Head 
Strategy & Legal, has taken on additional responsibility for the Regulatory Affairs depart-
ment with effect from January 1, 2015. 

Thanks to our staff 
Despite lower sales, the Siegfried Group implemented significant strategic steps in the year 
under review and laid the foundation for the current financial year. We would like to take  
this opportunity to thank our staff at all Siegfried Group sites for their commitment and readi- 
ness to positively accept change. To all new staff members in Nantong and Hameln we 
extend a warm welcome to the Siegfried Group. We express our gratitude to the members of 
the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee. In the year under review both manage-
ment bodies were confronted with far-reaching decisions which required considerable courage 
and great care in implementation. 

We would like to thank our shareholders for their continued trust and support. We look 
forward to jointly and actively meeting the challenges of the future for the benefit of Siegfried’s 
continued growth.

Dr. Andreas Casutt Dr. Rudolf Hanko 
Chairman of the Board of Directors  Chief Executive Officer

Swiss francs per share to  
be proposed by the Board of  
Directors at the General  
Meeting.

1.50



Acquisition of Hameln Pharma
Siegfried significantly increased capacities  
in the field of sterile filling in 2014. 



Progress Report

The 2014 financial year was characterized by 
 declining sales, a considerably increased EBITDA 
margin, and significant strategic steps at various  
existing and new sites. Siegfried’s workforce grew 
in the year under review by almost half to approxi-
mately 1400 employees (FTE). The company aims  
to play an active role in the ongoing consolidation  
of the outsourcing industry. 
—
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Highlights

01 Increased margin
Although Siegfried’s 2014 sales decreased  
by 15.9% to CHF 315.3 million, the margin 
rose considerably and earnings before 
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortiza-
tion (EBITDA) grew to CHF 58.8 million;  
the EBITDA margin was thus 18.6%, or  
1.1 percentage points above the previous 
year. The higher margin is due to higher 
variabilization of a part of our fixed costs. 
The decrease in sales is the result of a  
number of factors, including the transfer  
of significant orders to the current year. 

02 Operating approval for Nantong
By October 2014, Siegfried received various 
authorizations and certificates from the 
Chinese authorities, including operating ap- 
proval for the pilot plant of the new facility  
in Nantong. Operating approval for the entire 
plant is expected in the first quarter of  
2015. The Nantong plant currently comprises 
approximately 130 full-time positions. 

03 Acquisition in Hameln
End of November 2014, Siegfried acquired 
Hameln Pharmaceuticals GmbH and Hameln 
RDS GmbH located in a town with the  
same name in Germany, and employing some 
400 individuals (FTE). The acquisition 
strengthens the Siegfried Group’s position  
in the sterile filling market which began  
2012 with the acquisition of Alliance Medical 
Products in Irvine, California, in 2012. The 
new subsidiaries generated some Euro 70 mil- 
lion in sales in 2014. A warning letter issued 
by the American regulatory authority FDA 
was revoked in February 2015. The German 
authorities renewed the GMP license in 
January 2015.

04 Construction projects in Zofingen 
Two large buiding projects are under 
construction in Zofingen. Mid-2015, a new 
production building will replace older, less 
efficient operating facilities. Furthermore, a 
new administration building with state-of- 
the-art office space will be ready for occupa-
tion mid-2015. The building’s design an-
ticipates improved cooperation among the 
individual departments. Moreover, Siegfried 
has begun planning for a new logistics 
center.

05 New spray dryer in Pennsville
In Pennsville, USA, a new spray dryer was 
inaugurated in mid-2014. The new plant 
places Siegfried among the leading suppliers 
in the market.

06 Successful acquisition of new projects
In 2014, Siegfried was very successful with 
regard to the acquisition of new projects. 
The economic value of the new projects 
doubled compared with the previous year.

07 Continued strategy implementation 
Implementation of the Transform strategy, 
adopted in 2010, is well advanced. However, 
Siegfried’s plan is to launch additional stra- 
tegic projects. CEO Dr. Rudolf Hanko: “Our 
industry is in the midst of a consolidation 
process. Siegfried aims to be and will be an 
active participant in this process. Therefore, 
the strategic measures that have been imple- 
mented are to be considered milestones  
and not the end of strategic implementation.” 

Key events in 2014 at a glance
—
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Progress Report

The operating profit EBIT is at CHF 34.0 million, the EBIT-margin at 10.8%. In the year under 
review, the company reported net profit of CHF 38.6 million. Owing to the capitalization  
of tax losses carried forward, net profit is reported a little higher than EBIT. 

A high number of new projects 

With regard to the acquisition of new projects, the 2014 financial year was gratifying. The 
number of customer requests and the level of orders for new development projects clearly 
exceeded the previous years’ levels. While in 2012 Siegfried acquired 17 new projects, the 
number rose to 22 in 2013 and to 35 in the year under review. The economic value of the 
new projects increased considerably and even doubled compared with the previous year.

Despite declining sales, the Siegfried Group 
improved the EBITDA-margin by 1.1 per-
centage points. Earnings before interest 
taxes, depreciation and amortization 
(EBITDA) are at CHF 58.8 million. Sales 
reported at CHF 315.3 million.
—
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Drug substances with a good order situation 

Sales of drug substances for 2014 are reported at 14% below those of the previous year. 
While exclusive synthesis decreased by 20%, the decline by 3% in sales of controlled 
 substances remained within the parameters of the previous year, representing a significant 
improvement. The decline was due to the cancellation of a larger order for exclusive 
syn thesis and the deferment of major orders for controlled substances to the current year. 
Moreover, sales of a significant Zofingen product were lower than expected owing to  
high customer inventory. 

Unequal development of solid oral and liquid dosage forms 

In terms of finished dosage forms (Drug Products) Siegfried differentiates between solid 
oral dosage forms (tablets and capsules) produced in Malta and liquid dosage forms (sterile 
filling) produced at our Irvine site and, since end of November 2014, also in Hameln. Sales  
in drug products declined 20% in 2014.

In the year under review, Siegfried especially experienced a decline in sales of solid dosage 
forms. A part of our customers was unable to achieve the expected tender success for  
large medical insurances in Germany and, as a result, Siegfried clearly lost out on sales for  
its largest product, Candesartan. Although all of the subsequent calls for tender bids were 
again won and new customers gained for the product – in part from other countries – these 
positive results do not have an impact on the year under review. However, they prove that 
Siegfried is competitive and able to gain additional market share. Moreover, in our exclusives 
business, the number of new projects for innovative oral applications increased.

Successful acquisition of new projects benefited sterile filling in Irvine. The projects are  
clearly above the level of previous years and, therefore, they will make a valuable contribution  
to Siegfried’s 2015 results. As the two companies in Hameln were included for only  
one month in Siegfried’s 2014 accounts, it has not been possible to provide a meaningful 
interpretation.

Drug Substances achieved sales  
of CHF 234.4 million (74.3%). Drug 
Products noted CHF 80.9 milion 
(25.7%).

Net Sales
in %

EBITDA margin
in %
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Focus on costs 

In the year under review, management put its focus on continually increasing the share of 
variable costs. Thus, the share of employees with temporary employment contracts has 
grown in recent years. In 2010, several in-process activities were outsourced in areas such as 
maintenance, security, provision, and waste disposal. These measures paid out in 2014 as 
Siegfried was able to adjust expenses short-term. Pharmapark Siegfried is to be seen in this 
context. By sharing its location with several other companies, fixed costs at the site are 
carried jointly by several companies. The concept will be expanded in coming years as we 
have obtained requests from interested parties.

Number of jobs adjusted to degree of capacity utilization 

As of December 31, 2014, the Siegfried Group’s workforce numbered about 1400 employees 
(FTE) worldwide. About 35 positions were not filled in the year under review as the result  
of the continued development and focusing of the organization, adjustments to strategy and 
business development, and to raising efficiency. They include employees in our Shanghai 
representation and in the office for regulatory affairs in Munich, as these functions were inte- 
grated into the existing organization. In Nantong, 94 new positions were created in the  
year under review, bringing the entire workforce there to 131 by the end of 2014. Following 
acquisition of the two Hameln companies, about 400 full-time positions were added.  
Based on capacity utilization and the course of business, Siegfried will adjust its organization 
and the number of positions in the coming years, in order to meet the requirements of  
being a service provider to the pharmaceutical industry. 

Major investments at several sites 

Siegfried made significant investments in the year under review: approximately CHF 40 million 
in China for the new Nantong facility; CHF 19 million for new construction projects at the 
Zofingen site; and CHF 52 million for the acquisition of the two Hameln companies. Despite 
the substantial outlay, Siegfried reports net debt of only CHF 85 million, not considering 
financial assets of about CHF 20 million. 

full-time positions worldwide. 

  approximately

1400
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Strategy implementation on target 

The Transform strategy comprises three different streams, and significant projects were imple-
mented in all three streams in the year under review (cf. Special Report on page 17). 

 – In the “Backward Integration” stream, construction of the new facility in Nantong was 
advanced. Operating approval for the pilot plant and numerous other approvals and 
licenses are on hand. Initial transfers for the pilot plant have been successfully completed. 
Phase ll of the building program is technically completed. New orders for API production  
in Nantong have been signed. An inspection by the US-FDA regulatory authority is expected 
for the second half of the current year. Consequently, Siegfried will dispose of a capacity  
of 300 cubic meters in a cost-efficient production environment. Currently, some 130 local 
employees work at Siegfried Nantong. 
 

 – In the “Forward Integration” stream, a quantum leap was made thanks to the acquisition 
of Hameln Pharmaceuticals GmbH and Pharma RDS GmbH (R&D organization). The new 
Hameln site disposes of a large capacity with eight production lines which complement the 
existing, highly specialized, yet small, plant for sterile filling in Irvine, USA. Hameln Pharma 
was founded in 1950 and consequently looks back on a considerable corporate history.  
A sterile filling facility taken into operation in 2008 was awarded the renowned “Facility of 
the Year” award in 2009. In the past 18 months, the two companies underwent a restruc-
turing process which has now been completed. The consolidation phase together with the 
integration process into the Siegfried Group is in full swing. At the same time, the ground-
work is being laid for the expansion of the site’s technological competence, which currently 
fucuses on the filling of ampules and vials. Production at Hameln today represents about 
80% ampules and 20% vials. The plan is to significantly increase the share of vial produc-
tion in the coming years as the demand for vials is expected to rise. Due to the acquisition 
of the two companies in Hameln, some 400 new employees (FTE) joined the Siegfried 
Group. Organizations on the employee side were included in the acquisition process and 
are positive concerning the acquisition. The Hameln transition was also welcomed by cus- 
tomers who are showing keen interest in the recent acquisition. The acquisition will serve  
to strengthen Siegfried’s market position in the finished dosage forms segment. 

 – In the “New Technologies” stream an important project was brought to completion.  
A new, state-of-the-art spray dryer was inaugurated in Pennsville mid-year. This novel 
technology has met with considerable interest from numerous customers. Siegfried 
currently processes six new projects for spray drying, three of them for new customers.  

The Transform strategy  
comprises three different  
streams, and significant  
projects were implemented  
in all three streams in 2014.
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In Zofingen, a new production building is under construction which will be ready for operation 
mid-year. The technical design of the plant corresponds to that in Nantong, which will 
simplify product transfers to and from Nantong also from a regulatory point of view. Further-
more, planning procedures for a new logistics center in Zofingen were started in 2014. 

A new administration building constructed by an outside investor in Zofingen ensures state- 
of-the-art administration and work procedures. The Forum building, which will provide  
space for some 600 workplaces, will be made available to outside companies, such as those 
with operations in Pharmapark Zofingen. The complex consists of two office buildings and  
a parking garage. A new administration building is currently being planned for Siegfried’s 
Pennsville site in the USA.

Industry consolidation

In recent years, significant consolidation movements were observed in the industry. A 
significant example is the merger between Patheon of Canada with the CMO segment of 
DSM of the Netherlands. This type of consolidation will continue as companies that do  
not wish to confine themselves to niche products will have to show sales of 500 – 600 million 
Swiss francs in order to maintain market flexibility. Siegfried will continue to take an active  
role in this consolidation process. 

2015: growth anticipated

The Siegfried Group expects in the current year to grow in the low double-digit percentage 
range regarding EBITDA. 

workplaces the building  
“Forum“ in Zofingen  
will provide approximately.

 

600
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How a network of competencies spanning 
six locations means added value for clients.
—

Connect Six
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Editorial 

The “Transform” strategy: a solid basis  
for the future
—

We embarked on the implementation of our “Transform” strategy in the 2010 financial 
year. With the financial basis in place thanks to an increase in share capital, we tackled  
four different workstreams.

First: backward integration aims to bring about a major reduction in the factor costs for 
chemical production so that Siegfried can maintain its competitive edge on the market.  
The core element in this stream is the new plant in Nantong which will start commercial 
operation before the end of the current financial year. We have already obtained most  
of the operating permits and the other government licenses that are required. Nantong is 
closely linked to various projects in Zofingen that aim to boost efficiency. For instance,  
the new production building in in Zofingen that will commence operation in mid-2015 has 
a similar technical design to the Nantong plant, making it easier to transfer products 
between the two sites.

Second: forward integration will give Siegfried added strength in the finished dosage forms 
segment. Our company has identified “sterile fillings” as an especially attractive business 
segment. After acquiring Alliance Medical Products of Irvine, California, as well as Hameln 
Pharmaceuticals GmbH and Hameln RDS Gmbh (located at Hameln in the German state of 
North Saxony), Siegfried has a powerful network in this segment with the ability to develop 
and manufacture technically demanding product orders on both a small or large scale.

The purpose of the third stream is to expand Siegfried’s technological capabilities in 
appropriate ways. 2012 saw major improvements to our capabilities in the high potency 
segment in particular, and also as regards chemical and pharmaceutical technology.  
A high-performance spray dryer was commissioned at Pennsville in the reporting year. 
Customers are showing great interest in this technology. Siegfried was able to  
generate six new orders for the spray dryer alone – including three from new customers 
– during the year under review.

Finally, the Siegfried Group intends to – and will – play an active part in the consolidation 
process that is under way in the outsourcing sector. The investments and acquisitions that 
Siegfried has already made have put our company in a good starting position, and further 
strategic moves will follow.
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Mr. Hanko, how did the economic situation in your mar-
kets develop during 2014?
We see positive developments on all fronts. Last year saw good 
growth on the pharmaceuticals market and also in the contract 
manufacturing business, where Siegfried is at home. In my view, 
the pharmaceuticals market is one of the fastest-growing sec-
tors, and I believe that this trend will continue. This is true even 
though the market for healthcare is stagnating. 

What does this mean for Siegfried?
First and foremost, this background augurs well for Siegfried! Our 
business model as a supplier and service provider centers around 
relieving the pharmaceutical companies of risks – rather like a re-
insurer. We are making excellent progress in this area because our 
positioning is precisely tailored to this core market. And what do 
our customers care about most? Reliability and sustainability, a 
flexible approach and a comprehensive offering. We already score 
high on all of these criteria – but that doesn’t mean that we’ve 
already achieved everything. We have to become better still!

What challenges will Siegfried face in the future?
From 2010 onwards, we have consistently geared Siegfried to 
our new “Transform” strategy. The basis of this strategy is our 
determination to be a flawless provider on the custom manufac-
turing market. In the past few years, we also eliminated sources 
of loss and substantially increased our earning power. After 
about five years, it’s critically important for us not to look back 
complacently on our achievements to date but to focus instead 
on the future: we must go on the offensive to tackle the chal-
lenges that confront us every day. The urgent issue that we now 
have to face is the company’s critical mass. In our business, this 
is equivalent to sales of at least CHF 500 – 600 million. That fig-
ure will give us an optimal balance between utilization of our 
plant capacity and availability of free capacity for new orders.

How is the sector going to develop, and what opportuni-
ties or risks will it have to confront?
The pharmaceuticals market, which is relevant for us, will contin-
ue to grow; it is the key opportunity for our sector. The crucial 
challenge for the contract manufacturing organization (CMO) 
segment is to attain critical mass. This means that the growth of 
each individual company will be the dominant issue in the future. 
This generally holds true for every provider. The result will be a 
continuation of the wave of consolidations that we can already 
see today. As an integrated company – one that offers both 
chemical and pharmaceutical production, as I already mentioned 
– we shall seek this growth at each and every stage of the value 
chain that is relevant for us. As we set about this task, we shall 
always pursue the objective of relieving our customers of devel-
opment and production risks. 

Where are the major gaps in your portfolio that should 
be closed so that this growth can accelerate even more?
By and large, we have already closed the gaps. Of course, we 
have to start operations at Nantong and we must integrate 
Hameln, which we acquired end of November 2014. But these 
are matters of implementation rather than fundamental corpo-
rate strategy. We shall continue to achieve growth as we have 
always done – both organically and through acquisitions.

Which milestones did you reach in implementing the 
“Transform” strategy during 2014?
We passed several more important milestones in 2014. End of 
November, we acquired Hameln Pharma with 400 employees 
(FTE) and sales revenue of EUR 70 million. We expect the full 
impact of this acquisition on sales and EBITDA to kick in after 
about one and a half or two years. In China, we obtained the 
operating permit for the Nantong plant in 2014. We are already 
producing in phase 1, the pilot plant. We shall obtain the final 

The most urgent issue that we now have 
to face is the company’s critical mass.  
In our business, this is equivalent to sales 
of at least CHF 500 – 600 million.
—

Interview with the CEO
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approvals in March 2015, and then we can go into full-scale pro-
duction. 

What are the priorities for the Hameln integration?
We shall complete the integration of Hameln Pharma so that it 
becomes a fully-fledged Siegfried facility by the end of 2015. The 
focus here will be on integrating the workforce, management, 
and systems such as IT and finances. We are glad that we have 
no need to reduce the headcount at Hameln. The medium-term 
objective will be to ensure that the asset base is in line with the 
business model, which is not yet the case.

How will Irvine and Hameln interact?
There is vast potential for synergies here that we shall now be 
able to exploit. A customer who is still at the clinical develop-
ment stage will generally find that Irvine has the answers to his 
questions. But if that customer wants ongoing support, we will 
reach the limits of capacity at Irvine. Now, however, we are in an 
excellent position to produce large volumes at Hameln. Both 
plants are jointly managed so that these synergies can be utilized 
to the fullest extent.

What is the situation at Pennsville and Zofingen?
In Pennsville, where we focus on analgesics and narcotics for 
the global market, we have upgraded our technology by install-
ing a latest-generation spray dryer that delivers substantially 
better output. At Zofingen, our new cutting-edge  production 
facility for active pharmaceutical ingredients will be ready for 
productive operation by May 2015. These steps add up to a 
quantum leap in technology compared to the situation today.

You’ve repeatedly mentioned the integration of prima-
ry/secondary manufacturing. How far did you advance 
towards this goal in the 2014 financial year?
We secured a couple of highly encouraging customer orders that 
require us to provide this very combination. So there has been 
excellent progress in this regard, and this was the most remark-
able development in this area during 2014. The significant 
growth in demand demonstrates that customers are coming to a 
better understanding of the added value that our integrated 

business model offers – and they are making better use of it. 
Clearly, our business model is already well established.

What can we expect from Siegfried in terms of strategy 
over the coming months and years?
As I’ve already mentioned, Siegfried’s main strategic goal is to 
attain critical mass – that is, annual sales revenue of CHF 
500 – 600 million. We intend to achieve this objective after two 
years at most. Except for one provider, none of our competitors 
has yet reached this size. With sales revenue of well over CHF 
300 million at present, Siegfried is already close to it.

What are the priorities as you move towards this goal, 
up to the end of 2015 and in the medium term?
We have to show that Hameln turns in a positive contribution to 
the overall result. This will be one stage in the journey towards 
our target sales figure. Another contribution will come from ac-
quisitions. At present, we are mainly looking to the active ingre-
dients segment for this purpose. Our target margin remains un-
changed at EBITDA of about 20%. This should definitely be 
achievable in the medium term. 

How are you financing your ongoing development?
We are able to finance all our future investments in high-priority 
strategic projects without a capital increase – either from our 
own funds, or with borrowed capital. Our growth ambitions are 
favored because the low cost of borrowing looks set to continue 
for the foreseeable future.

What are your personal goals for 2015?
Apart from strategic development, one of my most important 
tasks is to impress upon our employees that we cannot rest on 
our laurels. I intend to make them aware that we have clear ideas 
about our future, and to show them how Siegfried will continue 
to evolve.

Mr. Hanko, thanks for this interview.

“We are in an excellent 
position to produce large 
volumes at Hameln.”

“We always pursue the 
objective of relieving our 
 customers of development 
and production risks.”
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Hameln
Filling of ampoules in Hameln.
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Formulations Network

Siegfried is able to draw on a smart  
network of core competencies to supply the 
global market with active pharmaceutical 
 ingredients and finished dosage forms from  
a single source. 
—

As an integrated supplier to the pharmaceutical 
industry, Siegfried offers the full range of galen-
ic development and drug production from a sin-
gle source. Siegfried’s customers enjoy numer-
ous benefits thanks to this capability, which is 
unrivalled on the market. The company’s inte-
grated business model guarantees that a single 
quality system is deployed for the manufacture 
of active pharmaceutical ingredients and fin-
ished dosage forms. Depending on the dosage 
form, this approach yields substantial cost sav-
ings on the transition from manufacture of the 
active pharmaceutical ingredient to production 
of the drug. Simplified project management 
also makes production processes speedier and 
more efficient.

Flexible global sourcing network
Numerous complex interactions are involved in 
the development of active pharmaceutical in-
gredients and the manufacture of finished 
drugs, but Siegfried’s customers can count on 
support from an efficient, wide-ranging and 
flexible network of different skills at various fa-
cilities across three continents. They supply dif-
ferent markets according to specific preferenc-
es, ensuring that the advantages of decentralized 
production are exploited to the full. Active 
pharmaceutical ingredients are developed and 
manufactured by production facilities at the 
company’s headquarters in Zofingen, Switzer-
land, in Nantong, China, and in Pennsville, USA. 
Capsules and tablets for the global market are 
manufactured at Siegfried’s Hal Far plant in 

Malta. Sterile fillings come from Irvine, Califor-
nia, and Hameln, Germany. Both of these plants 
focus on ampoules, vials and prefilled syringes. 
In addition, Irvine produces emulsions, oint-
ments and gels as well as specializing in drug 
delivery devices.

The strategic importance of Hameln
Siegfried regards the sterile fillings business 
segment as an exceptionally important compo-
nent of its forward integration process for drug 
manufacturing activities, with major potential 
for the future. By acquiring Hameln the Siegfried 
Group has consolidated its presence in this 
growth segment. The employees of Hameln 
Pharma and Hameln RDS offer an extensive 
range of services at all stages of the pharma-
ceutical value chain, comprising product devel-
opment and laboratory services, clinical studies, 
and a comprehensive approval service; Hameln 
also supplies active pharmaceutical ingredients 
as well as finished products, and handles prod-
uct releases. An innovative sterile factory built 
in 2008 won the prestigious “Facility of the Year 
Award” in 2009. With 400 full-time employees 
and eight production lines, Hameln is consider-
ably larger than the Irvine plant, so this acquisi-
tion marks a quantum leap in the Siegfried 
Group’s capacity for large and complex orders. 
This step has made the company substantially 
more attractive to existing and new customers 
alike – as is already reflected by a noticeable 
 increase in project enquiries.

Siegfried’s efficient and broad 
network of competencies 
means added value for clients. 
In our formulations network, 
capsules and tablets for global 
distribution are made in 
Malta; sterile fillings are made 
in Irvine and Hameln,  
in production plants that 
specialize in ampoules,  
vials and pre-filled syringes. 
The active pharmaceutical 
ingredients for all three 
locations are manufactured  
in Zofingen, Nantong or 
Pennsville.

I RV I N E –  H A M EL N –  M A LTA
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 “Capsules and tablets for the global 
market are manufactured at Siegfried’s 
Hal Far plant in Malta.”

Packaging line in Malta 
Where tablets are sealed in primary and secondary  
packaging to manufacture the final product. 

I RV I N E –  H A M EL N –  M A LTA
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First of all, some of our readers may 
only know of Hameln – or Hamelin – 
from the tale of the Pied Piper. So 
can you tell us something about 
Hameln Pharma?
Hameln Pharma is one of Europe’s largest 
providers of sterile fillings for liquid phar-
maceutical products, with the main focus 
on ampoules and vials. This firm was 
founded by a doctor and a pharmacist, 
and it has traditionally concentrated on 
developing and manufacturing generic 
sterile pharmaceutical products including 
analgesics and hospital products in partic-
ular. These competencies are interesting 
for us.

Why was Hameln Pharma sold by its 
previous owner?
In my view, both parties became convinced 
that a win-win situation could emerge 
soon after I made my first contact with the 
owner, Mr. Kerstein, at the end of 2013. 
Hameln Pharma had experienced several 
difficult years when it had to cope with a 
decline in earning power and a number of 
losses. We joined forces to develop ideas 
for transferring the Hameln Group’s CMO 
business and its superb production assets 
into the best possible hands – our own, in 
this case. We also examined how Mr. Ker-
stein could continue to operate with his 
remaining private-brand business for end 
customers. These reflections yielded a 

carve-out structure as defined in the pur-
chase contract: Siegfried owns and oper-
ates the Hameln production site with its 
CMO business, and it has also signed a 
long-term contract to supply the Hameln 
Group’s private-brand business. This gives 
us a guarantee of basic capacity utilization, 
while Mr. Kerstein can ensure reliable de-
liveries and continuity for his products. 

What were Siegfried’s strategic mo-
tives for this acquisition?
In line with our strategy, we have identi-
fied one of our goals as forward integra-
tion in the segment of sterile filling. In 
other words, we wanted to deepen our 
added value in a highly attractive market 
segment. And we also wanted to move 
closer to our objective of becoming an in-
tegrated service provider for the global 
pharmaceutical industry. Why? This is a 
market segment that harbors opportuni-
ties for differentiation, and hence for at-

Chief Strategy Officer Dr. Wolfgang 
Wienand in conversation about  
the new Group member Hameln Pharma
—

Interview

tractive margins − in terms of technology 
and also in view of the high quality re-
quirements. Thanks to its history and 
 market positioning, the Siegfried Group 
will be able to take advantage of this 
leverage. Our acquisition of AMP in 2012 
already marked the first major step in this 
direction and after acquiring Hameln 
Pharma, we have advanced significantly 
closer to the goal. We now have footholds 
in this segment in the two key markets of 
North America and Europe, we can cover 
demand for small, high-priced specialties 
as well as large-volume products, and we 
have set the stage for Siegfried to become 
a key player in this field. 

How do customers perceive this move?
Through AMP, we have been able to offer 
sterile filling in the USA for the last three 
years and now we have superb capacities 
in Europe too. This brings us significantly 
closer to our USP – to be a fully integrated 
service provider for active pharmaceutical 
ingredients and the main medical dosage 
forms such as tablets, ampoules or vials. 
In the future, this means that our custom-
ers will be able to obtain active pharma-
ceutical ingredients and finished products 
from one source in Europe as well as 
North America and Asia – products, cru-
cially, that meet the highest quality stan-
dards thanks to a seamless quality man-
agement system. We simplify our cus- 

“We deepen our 
added value in  
a highly attractive 
market segment.”

H A M EL N I N T E RV I E W
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tomers’ supply chain and cut their com-
plexity costs. That’s our pledge. 

How will Hameln be incorporated into 
Siegfried’s business model?
Hameln will be integrated into our world-
wide functional reporting structure in the 
same way as the other facilities. In formal 
terms and in actual fact, the General Man-
ager and Site Manager will be the disci-
plinary line manager for all our colleagues 
there. He will also take responsibility for 
Siegfried’s day-to-day business in the 
 context of the firm’s global commercial 
and strategic goals. In functional terms, 
however, the individual departments will 
report to their global superiors: the man-
ager of the local development depart-
ment will report to the global Head of 
Research and Development, the local 
Business Development and Sales manag-
ers will report to their respective global 
head, and so on. And the same principle 
will apply at Hameln as everywhere else: 
no optimization of a local facility at the 
cost of the overall global entity. Strong 
functional integration will guarantee this 
is achieved. 

What will happen to the “Hameln” 
brand?
The Hameln brand will soon disappear. 
Our customers know what the first-class 
name of Siegfried stands for: an utterly 
reliable and efficient provider of pharma-
ceutical products that is committed to the 
highest quality standards. And the Hameln 
business will also benefit greatly from this 
excellent reputation and from its integra-
tion into the Siegfried Group.
 
Are any further job cutbacks planned 
in Hameln?
No. After the rigorous restructuring in 
2013 and 2014, the business has bot-
tomed out – which means that it will now 
start to move uphill. However, the path 
will continue to be rocky and challenging 
for some time to come. As we begin to 
integrate Hameln and continue its devel-
opment, our initial focus will be on im-

proving quality management and boost-
ing efficiency. The revocation of the US 
Food and Drug Administration (FDA) 
warning letter in February 2015 was an 
important first step. More will follow. We 
want to make the best of the existing 
business with the team that is already in 
place, and we aim to create the conditions 
for pulling attractive new business ashore 
in the near future. To achieve this, we 
need each and every skilled and commit-
ted employee. In areas like process devel-
opment and quality management we will 
probably have to get external reinforce-
ment in order to achieve our objectives. 

What is the timeline for the integra-
tion?
The integration is fully under way with 
mixed teams from various Siegfried Group 
sites – and responsibilities in these teams 
are deliberately being assigned to our 
new Siegfried colleagues from Hameln as 
well. We should not forget: the acquisi-
tion of Hameln Pharma increased our 
workforce by about 50% overnight. If we 
are to achieve true unity, we must pool 
our strengths. Thanks to our enthusiastic 
integration team and in keeping with the 

Siegfried spirit, I am confident we shall 
largely succeed in this endeavor by the 
end of 2015. 

By when will the full impact of the 
acquisition be felt?
We shall achieve this in two or three years’ 
time. I see two intermeshing lines of ac-
tion here: in the first few years, the aim 
will be to extract the maximum from the 
existing product portfolio – by boosting 
quality and efficiency, and by expanding 
the customer base. At the same time, we 
shall acquire new business in segments 
that Hameln has not yet managed to tap 
thanks to our excellent access to custom-
ers, and we shall gradually shift the port-
folio more in the direction of better-quali-
ty products with higher margins, including 
patented active pharmaceutical ingredi-
ents. This may also mean that we have to 
develop our technology more towards vials 
and prefilled syringes. We already expect 
to see a positive contribution to our group 
result this year, but the target margin of 
up to 20% EBITDA is likely to be attained 
only after approximately three years.

H A M EL N I N T E RV I E W

Hameln
Material preparations in sterile production in Hameln. 
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Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients 
and Intermediates Network

By making investments in backward  
integration, our aims are to reduce  
factor costs in chemical production and  
enhance our competitive edge.
–––

Siegfried is an integrated supplier to the re-
search-based pharmaceutical industry: we offer 
a combination of experience and proficiency in 
both the chemical and pharmaceutical seg-
ments. Our chemical expertise centers around 
the development and production of active 
pharmaceutical ingredients; on the pharmaceu-
tical side, we specialize in manufacturing drugs 
in various dosage forms. As part of our backward 
integration, we are making significant invest-
ments in the chemical development and pro-
duction capacities at our new plant in Nantong, 
China, with parallel investments at our head-
quarters in Zofingen. 

Our chemical development and production net-
work comprises diverse facilities throughout Eu-
rope and America, and now in Asia as well: we 
can draw on their varied expertise and capacity 
to place synergies and flexibility at our custom-
ers’ disposal. The Zofingen plant manufactures 
finished active pharmaceutical ingredients and 
intermediates (semi-finished products), as does 
the production facility at Pennsville, USA, where 

the focus is on analgesics and narcotics for the 
American market in particular. Pennsville cur-
rently ma nufactures the Siegfried Group’s 
top-earning product. In  October 2014, the new 
Nantong plant obtained its operating permit for 
phase I (the pilot phase). Phase ll is technically 
completed and the entire facility is set to com-
mence production in March 2015. 

Cutting-edge API technology for Zofingen
A cutting-edge, multi-purpose production plant 
– known as Building 425 – to develop and pro-
duce active pharmaceutical ingredients (API) 
and intermediates is currently under construc-
tion in a central location on the company site at 
the Siegfried Group’s headquarters in Zofingen. 
Why are we investing in a new building of this 
sort in Zofingen? Several of our buildings and 
plants have now reached the end of their life 
cycles. Moreover, the existing concept with pro-
duction plants in different buildings is ineffi-
cient and prone to errors. As an element of our 
integrated business model, the new Building 
425 will deliver a number of obvious advantag-
es. Efficiency will be boosted by integrating re-
actors of various sizes (up to 10 m3) with multi- 
purpose capability, thereby cutting factor costs. 
This will play a practical part in implementing 
the “Transform” strategy to make the company 
competitive in the future. The technical design 
of Building 425 at Zofingen is identical to that 
of the production facility in Nantong, making it 
easier to transfer products from and to Nantong 
– especially as regards regulatory requirements. 

Zofingen, Pennsville and 
Nantong make up the active 
pharmaceutical ingredients 
and intermediates (semi- 
finished products) network; 
the Zofingen and Pennsville 
plants manufacture both 
active pharmaceutical ingre- 
dients and intermediates.  
At the new production plant 
in Nantong, Siegfried 
successfully implemented 
tried-and-tested Swiss 
technology in China. Active 
pharmaceutical ingredients 
and intermediates made  
by the network are refined  
in Hameln and Irvine.

“Siegfried’s chemical 
development and 
production network 
comprises facilities  
on three continents.”
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Enoxaparin
—

Bestseller among Siegfried’s APIs, produced in Pennsville, USA

FACTS & FIGURES NETWORK 2

Nantong adds competitive edge
Siegfried Nantong and Hameln Pharma are the latest additions to 
the Siegfried family, and the Chinese facility is a key element in 
the implementation of our “Transform” strategy. The core objec-
tives of backward integration in Asia are to create the basis for 
ongoing growth and to gain competitive edge. Nantong makes 
Siegfried an even more attractive development and production 
partner for the entire life cycle of a drug or active pharmaceutical 
ingredient, not only during the patent-protected phase but also 
afterwards.

The new green-field chemical production facility is housed on an 
80-hectare site in one of Greater Shanghai’s largest industrial 
parks, the Nantong Economic & Technological Development Area 
(NETDA). This zone enjoys outstanding road and rail access as 
well as transportation links to the port. Siegfried Nantong ob-
tained the operating permit for phase 1 (the pilot phase) in 2014. 
Phase ll is technically finished and is currently completing the last 

NANTONG

170
—

API and Intermediates are currently being produced at Siegfried

of the load tests specified by the authorities. Some 300 employ-
ees will be working on the production lines here from 2015 on-
wards.

Nantong develops and produces active pharmaceutical ingredi-
ents together with the corresponding intermediates and raw 
 materials. The operation is entirely cGMP-compliant and it meets 
the latest SGU standards for safety, health and the environment. 
Nantong is strategically important because it offers attractive 
cost structures coupled with high-level compliance and quality 
standards.  
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This arrangement will create added flexibility, yielding a substan-
tial operational improvement in keeping with our integrated 
business model.

In the fully integrated Siegfried business model, active pharma-
ceutical ingredients and intermediates developed and manufac-
tured at the three chemical production facilities in Zofingen, 

“At the new production plant in Nantong, 
Siegfried successfully implemented  
tried-and-tested Swiss technology in China.”

Nantong
The Nantong site is technically complete.

Pennsville, and Nantong can undergo further processing in Malta 
(tablets and capsules), Irvine (sterile formulations and complex 
pharmaceuticals such as ophthalmics) and Hameln (ampoules 
and vials). This structure clearly demonstrates the added value 
that we create for our customers as a single-source developer 
and producer of drugs, including active pharmaceutical ingredi-
ents.
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Controlled substances are anesthetics, sub-
stances that influence the human psyche, raw 
materials and products with effects similar to 
those of anesthetics, together with precursors 
and auxiliary chemicals. They are subject to 
strict government control. 

Many years of experience at Zofingen and 
Pennsville
Siegfried can point to decades of experience in 
the manufacture of controlled substances, a 
field where strict government regulations apply. 
We earn approximately 28% of our sales reve-
nue from products in our own portfolio of con-
trolled substances which (unlike the products in 
our exclusive synthesis range) are supplied to 
various customers. The key components of the 
portfolio are opiate derivatives (used in strong 
analgesics, mainly for cancer therapy) and ac-
tive pharmaceutical ingredients such as metha-
done and nicotine which are used in addiction 
therapy. Siegfried is the global market leader for 
methadone and nicotine. Our Pennsville plant 
specializes in the production of controlled sub-
stances and – as well as a manufacturing license 
– it holds one of the few import licenses for  
the raw materials involved. The Pennsville, New 
 Jersey, plant produces about 50% of the con-
trolled substances sold by the Siegfried Group. 
For this reason, Pennsville undergoes regular 
inspections by the US Food and Drug Adminis-
tration (FDA) as well as the Drug Enforcement 
Agency (DEA). The other half of our products in 
this segment is manufactured at Zofingen.

Hameln adds new core competence
Siegfried took another step to consolidate its 
leading position in the narcotics and analgesics 
segment by acquiring Hameln Pharma end of 
November 2014. Filling of controlled substanc-
es numbers among Hameln Pharma’s core com-
petencies, and the company is a global leader in 
this field thanks to the innovative sterile factory 
that it built in 2008. This new plant won the 
prestigious “Facility of the Year Award” in 2009. 
By acquiring Hameln Pharma, Siegfried has 
moved significantly closer to realizing its ambi-
tion of handling the filling process for active in-
gredients from its own production.

The Siegfried Group is an established  manu- 
facturer of narcotics and analgesics, and is 
the market leader for numerous  substances 
used in addiction therapy.
–––

Controlled  Substances Network

PE N N S V I L L E –  ZO F I N G E N

Siegfried’s controlled 
substances network has 
decades of experience  
in a strictly regulated field. 
The Pennsville and  
Zofingen plants specialize in 
producing controlled 
substances, while the filling  
of controlled substances is 
one of Hameln Pharma’s core 
competencies.

“Pennsville produces 
about 50% of the 
controlled substances 
sold by the Siegfried 
Group.”
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Zofingen 
Here Siegfried produces 50% of the controlled substances.  
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Integrated 
supplier

The Siegfried Group is one of the world’s few 
leading independent contract manufacturing 
providers that consistently follows an integrat-
ed business model. Siegfried’s model combines 
chemical production of active pharmaceutical 
ingredients with the manufacture of finished 
dosage forms. We have developed our under-
standing of the business − and our ability to 
handle highly complex interactions and process-
es reliably and efficiently – over the course of 
our 140-year history. Siegfried’s in-depth exper-
tise and proficiency is underpinned by our 
wealth of experience as a fully integrated phar-
maceutical enterprise that can look back on  
a rich tradition. For decades, the networked 
mindset and the interdisciplinary approach have 
been second nature to the experts at Siegfried. 

Just like a reinsurer
Siegfried takes on investment risks for its cus-
tomers in just the same way as a reinsurer. 
Thanks to this approach, we can temporarily or 
permanently relieve customers of the need to 
invest in their own costly production plants 
during phases of uncertainty. The Siegfried 
Group can also deploy its capacities to eliminate 
production bottlenecks and help its customers 
to guarantee delivery of drugs at all times. The 
added value of this business model is based on 
the fact that Siegfried is able to better diversify 
this risk then its customers.

Wide-ranging experience and expertise
As well as relieving our customers of part of 
their entrepreneurial risk, our integrated busi-
ness model offers them a host of other obvious 

benefits. Because projects are managed under 
one umbrella, efficiency is enhanced in many 
different ways – project management is kept 
lean, the number of contracts is reduced, a sin-
gle quality system is applied, and processes are 
optimally coordinated. What’s more, time is 
gained because there are sufficient resources 
for analysis and process development so that 
several teams can work on one project in paral-
lel. Certain customer projects set demanding 
requirements for sourcing because they use a 
variety of raw materials. We score high here 
with our vast network of quality providers. 
Siegfried develops and produces its own active 
pharmaceutical ingredients, so we can draw on 
substantial experience in this field − and when 
it comes to compliance and registration, this 
puts us ahead of our competitors.

Corporate culture is a key factor
Some 1400 employees (FTE) from diverse cul-
tural backgrounds and different regions of the 
world work day after day to fulfill Siegfried’s 
promise to its customers: Expect more. In the 
Siegfried universe, a strong corporate culture is 
essential for the many individual components 
that make up this highly complex machine to 
mesh with one another precisely and effective-
ly. Six fundamental values underlie our culture, 
and we believe that it is crucial for our daily 
work to be guided by them. They are: sustain-
ability, professionalism, compliance, innovation, 
flexibility, and passion. We set great store by 
anchoring these values within the company – 
an undertaking that sets new challenges for us 
every day.

As an integrated provider of active pharma-
ceutical ingredients and finished dosage 
forms, Siegfried delivers safety, security, flex-
ibility and efficiency − just like a reinsurer.
–––
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Integrated Projects Network
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Current Good Manufacturing Practice
In Hal Far, capsules and tables are produced
according to cGMP standards.



Corporate Governance

For Siegfried, corporate governance that meets  
the demands of modern corporate management  
is a part of who we are – because trust is a  
result of transparency. 
—
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General Framework

Corporate governance of the Siegfried Group is focused on ensuring a sound and long-term 
relationship with all stakeholders and providing the necessary transparency. It is based on  
the Swiss Code of Obligations (article 663bbis and article 663c OR), the directive on corporate 
governance of the Swiss Exchange (SIX) and the “Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate 
Governance.” Remuneration for the Board of Directors and Executive Management is reported 
in the separate Remuneration Report on page 69ff. 

Corporate governance of Siegfried is 
 focused on ensuring a sound and long-
term relationship with all stake holders  
and providing the necessary transparency.
—

Corporate Governance
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1 Corporate Structure and Shareholders

1.1 Management structure of the Siegfried Group

Board of Directors
Dr. Andreas Casutt

Chairman of the 
Board of Directors

 
Dr. Rudolf Hanko
Chief Executive Officer

Human Resources

Arnoud M. Middel
Head Human Resources

Strategy and M & A 

Dr. Wolfgang Wienand
Chief Strategy Officer

Finance

Michael Hüsler
Chief Financial Officer

Research & Development

Dr. René Imwinkelried
Head Research & Development

Business Development & Sales

Marianne Späne
Head Business Development,  

Marketing & Sales

Technical Operations

Dr. Walter Kittl
Head Technical Operations
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1.2 Participation structure of Siegfried Holding AG

Currency Capital in LC Holding

1. Switzerland

Siegfried AG, Zofingen CHF 20 000 000 100.00%

Siegfried International AG, Zofingen CHF 2 000 000 100.00%

Siegfried Finance AG, Zofingen CHF 14 000 000 100.00%

2. Europe

Siegfried Deutschland Holding GmbH, Lörrach EUR 1 790 000 100.00%

hameln pharmaceuticals gmbh, Hameln EUR 750 000 100.00%

hameln rds gmbh, Hameln EUR 30 000 100.00% 

hameln real estate gmbh & co. kg, Hameln EUR 25 000 100.00%

Siegfried Deutschland Real Estate GmbH, Lörrach EUR 25 000 100.00%

Siegfried GmbH, München EUR 25 000 100.00%

Siegfried Malta Ltd, Valletta EUR 100 000 100.00%

3. USA

Siegfried USA Holding Inc., Pennsville USD 3 000 100.00%

Siegfried USA, LLC, Pennsville USD 500 000 100.00%

Penick Corp., Pennsville USD – 100.00%

Alliance Medical Products, Inc., Irvine USD 116 521 100.00%

4. Asia

Siegfried Hong Kong Limited, Hong Kong HKD 1 000 100.00%

Siegfried (Nantong) Pharmaceuticals Co., Nantong CNY 346 925 622 100.00%

Alpine Dragon Pharmaceuticals Ltd,  
Huangyang, Gansu Province CNY 10 542 708 49.00%

1.3 Shareholders
The shareholders listed in the following table have reported holdings of 3% or more of the 
voting rights of Siegfried Holding AG as of December 31, 2014, based on the reports according 
to Article 20 of the Swiss Federal Act on Stockbroking and Securities Trading (SESTA), and 
Article 9 et seq. of the Ordinance of the Financial Market Supervisory Authority on the Stock 
Exchange (SESTO-FINMA), and / or the Siegfried Holding AG share registry (the detailed 
reports according to Article 20 SESTA can be found under: http://www.six-swiss-exchange.com/
shares/companies/major_shareholders_de.html?from Date=19980101&issuer=1416.
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Shares as  
of Dec. 31,  

2014

Holding %  
as of Dec. 31,

2014 1

Shares as 
of Dec. 31, 

 2013

Holding %  
as of Dec. 31, 

2013 2

Shareholding > 3%

Tweedy Browne Company LLC, New York, USA 374 7673 9.03 374 767 9.86

Rainer Marc Frey, Freienbach 359 4314 8.67 359 431 9.46

EOP Participants (blocked until 2015) 199 4245 4.81

EOP Participants (blocked until 2016) 199 3326 4.80

Kreissparkasse Biberach, Biberach, Germany  
(BayernInvest Kapitalgesellschaft mbH, Munich, Germany) 137 1787 3.31 137 178 3.61

Siegfried Holding AG (own shares) 131 4078 3.17 191 429 5.04

Total 1 401 539 33.78 1 062 805 27.97

1 Based on 4 150 000 issued shares as of December 31, 2014.
2 Based on 3 800 000 issued shares as of December 31, 2013. 
3  According to the disclosure notification of May 27, 2011.
4  According to the disclosure notification of September 3, 2013. 
5  According to the disclosure notification of March 26, 2014. The “EOP Participants” are the participants in Siegfried Group’s Equity 

 Ownership Plans of 2010 and of 2012 (collectively “EOP”) that were allocated Siegfried shares on 14 March, 2014 subject to a one-year 
blocking period in accordance with the provisions of the EOP. The disclosed shareholding includes shares held by members of the  
Board or the Executive Management (for further information, see Remuneration Report, p. 87). 

6  According to the disclosure notification of March 26, 2014. The “EOP Participants” are the participants in the EOP that were allocated Siegfried 
shares on 14 March, 2014 subject to a two-year blocking period in accordance with the provisions of the EOP. The disclosed shareholding 
includes shares held by members of the Board or the Executive Management (for further information, see Remuneration Report, p. 87). 

6 According to the disclosure notification of April 28, 2012.
8   According to the disclosure notification of December 5, 2014.

As of December 31, 2014, 2630 shareholders were registered in the share registry of  
Siegfried Holding AG, representing a shareholding of 75.99% of the total share capital.  
The distribution of the shares among the shareholders was as follows:

Distribution of shares as of December 31, 2014 No. of shareholders No. of shares per category %

1 –10 257 1 577 0.04

11 –100 1 121 63 809 1.54

101 –1 000 1 006 327 837 7.90

1 001 –10 000 196 643 963 15.52

10 001 –100 000 45 1 033 178 24.90

100 001 –1 000 000 51 1 083 220 26.10

2 630 3 153 584 75.99

Own shares and non-registered shares n. a. 996 416 24.01

Total shares 4 150 000 100.00

Shareholdings by segment as of December 31, 2014, was as follows:

Holdings by segment as of December 31, 2014 No. of shareholders No. of shares per category %

Key shareholders (> 3%) 32 871 376 21.00

Individuals 2 396 1 191 820 28.72

Institutional investors 232 1 090 388 26.27

Own shares and non-registered shares n. a.  996 416 24.01

Total shares n. a. 4 150 000 100.00

1  Including one custodian holding over 3% of the share capital for the account of third parties that has been registered as nominee.
2  Without EOP participants and own shares.
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1.4 Crossholdings
The Siegfried Group has not entered into any capital- or share-based crossholdings with other 
companies.

2 Capital Structure

2.1 Share capital
The share capital of Siegfried Holding AG recorded in the commercial registry as of  
De cember 31, 2014, amounts to CHF 8 300 000, divided into 4 150 000 fully paid-up registered 
shares with a par value of CHF 2 per share. Each registered share authorizes the holder  
to exercise one vote at the General Meeting of Shareholders, and grants the right to receive 
dividends (subject to the dividend resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders).  
There are no preferred rights attached to any Siegfried shares. The Articles of Incorporation 
of Siegfried Holding AG provide for conditional share capital and do not provide for 
 authorized share capital.

2.2 Conditional share capital
The General Meeting of Shareholders of Siegfried Holding AG held on March 26, 2014,  
approved an amendment of the Articles of Incorporation to create a conditional share capital 
of CHF 420 000 in total, divided into 210 000 registered shares with a par value of CHF 2 
each. The conditional share capital is reserved for the issuance of Siegfried shares to members 
of the Board of Directors and / or the employees of Siegfried Holding AG and / or its group 
companies. 

Pre-emptive rights as well as advances subscription rights of company shareholders are 
excluded. The issuing of shares or related pre-emptive rights to members of the Board of 
Directors and / or employees of Siegfried Holding AG and / or its group companies shall take 
place in accordance with one or more regulations to be issued by the Board of Directors, 
taking into account such criteria as performance, functions, responsibility levels, and profit-
ability. Shares or pre-emptive rights may be issued to members of the Board of Directors 
and / or employees of Siegfried Holding AG and / or its group companies at a price below the 
market price. 

2.3 Changes in share capital
In 2014, the conditional share capital of Siegfried Holding AG increased from CHF 7 600 000 to 
CHF 8 300 000 by way of issuance of 350 000 registered shares to members of the Board  
of Directors and employees of Siegfried Holding AG and its group companies in accordance 
with Art. 3bis paragraph 4 of the former Articles of Incorporation of May 24, 2011. Thereby,  
the conditional share capital reserved for such purposes was used up. 

By resolution of the General Shareholder’s Meeting of March 26, 2014, the new conditional 
share capital as per section 2.2 above was created. Concurrently, it was resolved to delete  
the remaining conditional share capital of CHF 100 000 which was originally created for use 
in connection with the issuance of bonds / notes or other financial instruments by Siegfried 
Holding AG or any of its group companies. As a result, as per December 31, 2014, Siegfried 
Holding AG disposed of a conditional share capital in the total amount of CHF 420 000, 
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divided in 210 000 registered shares with a par value of CHF 2 each. The share capital of 
Siegfried Holding AG issued as of December 31, 2014, amounted to CHF 8 300 000 divided 
into 4 150 000 fully paid in registered shares with a par value of CHF 2 each (see section 2.1).

In the business years 2013 and 2012, the share capital of Siegfried Holding remained un- 
changed. In the business year 2011, 870 590 registered shares with a par value of CHF 2  
each were issued out of the conditional share capital pursuant to article Art. 3bis paragraph 1 
of the former Articles of Incorporation of May 24, 2011. As of December 31, 2011, the share 
capital of Siegfried Holding AG amounted to CHF 7 600 000.

2.4 Limitations on transferability and registration of nominees
Only persons recorded in the share registry as shareholder with voting right are entitled to 
exercise voting and related rights. Registration in the share registry is subject to the following 
statutory restrictions:
 – Registration requests are considered granted if Siegfried has not denied them within  
20 days after receipt.

 – Petitioners must expressly declare that they have acquired the shares in their own name 
and for their own account.

Individual persons who refrain from explicitly declaring in the registration application that 
they hold the shares for their own account (“nominees”) may be entered into the share 
register with voting rights, provided the nominee enters into a corresponding agreement with 
the Board of Directors, and is subject to a recognized bank or financial market supervision.

3 Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of Siegfried Holding AG comprises six persons. During the three  
years previous to 2014, none of the members of the Board held a position in the Executive 
Management of Siegfried Holding AG or a Siegfried Group company, nor have they had  
any significant business relationship with Siegfried Holding AG or a Siegfried Group company. 
The following table sets forth the name, position, age, year of election and term in office  
of each member of the Board of Directors:

3.1 Members of the Board of Directors 

Name Birth year Position
Member 
since

End  
of term

Andreas Casutt 1963 Chairman, non-executive 2010 2015

Felix K. Meyer 1953 Vice Chairman, non-executive 2006 2015

Colin Bond 1961 Non-executive member 2013 2015

Wolfram Carius 1961 Non-executive member 2014 2015

Reto Garzetti 1960 Non-executive member 2011 2015

Thomas Villiger 1951 Non-executive member 2011 2015

Honorary Chairman

Bernard A. Siegfried 1934
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3.2 Profiles

01 Dr. Andreas Casutt Chairman
Andreas Casutt (1963) joined the Board of Siegfried Holding AG in 2010 and was elected 
Chairman in 2014. He has been a partner of the Niederer Kraft & Frey law firm in Zurich since  
2002, and held office as managing partner from 2006 to 2014. Andreas Casutt specializes in 
corporate law, contract law, mergers & acquisitions, and stock exchange law. In addition,  
he is a board member of Mikron Holding AG and various privately held companies, incuding 
Maxon Motor AG. Andreas Casutt studied law and received his Ph.D. in Zurich (Switzerland) 
and completed an LL.M. program at the University of Michigan, Ann Arbor (USA). Andreas 
Casutt is a Swiss citizen.

02 Dr. Felix K. Meyer Vice Chairman
Felix K. Meyer (1953) joined the Board of Siegfried Holding AG in 2006 and was elected Vice 
Chairman in 2014. He worked for Ciba-Geigy AG (later Ciba Specialty Chemicals) from  
1981 to 2004, and held various positions in Switzerland and abroad, ultimately, as a segment 
manager and member of executive management. From 2004 to 2010, Felix K. Meyer was 
CEO and Advisory Board member at Baerlocher, a global specialty chemicals company with 
headquarters in Munich, Germany. During his career in the chemicals industry, he represented 
his employers in numerous joint ventures in Europe, Asia and South America. In 2010, he 
joined FKM Management Ser vices GmbH as director (and partner), supporting clients in the 
areas of strategy, international business development and management coaching. He received 
his Ph.D. in chemical engineering from the ETH Lausanne (Switzerland) and spent a year in 
Stanford University (USA) as a post-doctoral fellow. Felix K. Meyer is a Swiss citizen.

03 Colin Bond Member of the Board
Colin Bond (1961) joined the Board of Siegfried Holding AG in 2013. Since 2010, he has  
been Group Chief Financial Officer of the Hamburg-based Evotec AG and member of the 
management board. The company is listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange as part of  
TecDax and provides a wide range of research and development services in the field of active 
pharmaceutical ingredients. Following career stations as a pharmacist, chartered accountant 
and management consultant, he worked for 25 years as Chief Financial Officer for several 
international companies in various industries, of which 11 years for Great Lakes Chemical 
Corporation, today Chemtura, a US-based global specialty chemicals company. Colin Bond 
holds a university degree in pharmacy from the University of Aston, Birmingham, and a  
MBA degree from London Business School. He is a citizen of Great Britain and Switzerland.
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04 Prof. Dr. Wolfram Carius Member of the Board
Wolfram Carius (1961) was elected member of the Board of Siegfried Holding AG in 2014.  
He joined Sanofi, a French healthcare company, at the beginning of 2014 as Senior Vice 
President Biopharma Strategy. Today, he holds the position of Vice President Biologics and  
is a member of the Global Leadership Team. Prior to Sanofi, he worked for Boehringer 
Ingelheim from 1987 until the end of 2013. In 2009 he was appointed to the company’s 
Board of Managing Directors, initially with responsibility for Human Resources and Techni- 
cal Operations, and from 2012 for Biopharma and Operations. At Boehringer Ingelheim he  
was responsible for the company’s worldwide chemical, pharmaceutical and biopharma 
production network. Before that, he was decisively responsible for the development and 
expansion of the biopharma unit. He managed the company’s production site in Japan and 
later Brazil before being appointed member of Boehringer Ingelheim’s Board of Manaing 
Directors in Germany. Wolfram Carius holds a PhD in pharmaceutical biology and analytical 
phytochemistry from the University of Saarland, Germany. In 2009, the Biberach University  
of Applied Sciences awarded him the title of honorary professor in recognition for his long 
and exceptional service. Wolfram Carius is a German citizen.

05 Reto A. Garzetti Member of the Board
Reto A. Garzetti (1960) joined the Board of Siegfried Holding AG in 2011. He is a partner and 
Vice President of the Board of SE Swiss Equities, a Zurich-based asset management company. 
He additionally serves the Boards of Southeastern Technologies Inc. and Setech Inc. in the 
US, and AGI AG, HFS Helvetic Financial Services AG and Meili Peter Architekten AG as well as 
other privately held companies in Switzerland. He graduated from the University of Zurich in 
business administration (lic. oec. publ.) with the main emphasis on banking, trade and securities 
law. Reto Garzetti is a Swiss and Italian citizen.

06 Dr. Thomas Villiger Member of the Board
Thomas Villiger (1951) joined the Board of Siegfried Holding AG in 2011. He founded his own 
management consultancy in 2010. From 1986 to 2010, he was employed by Mepha Group, 
from 1997 onward he led the Mepha Group as a CEO. From 1980 to 1986 he worked in 
various functions for Sandoz in Basel, partly in Japan. He serves the Boards of Dolder AG, 
CACasyso-Holding AG and Sigvaris Holding AG. Thomas Villiger studied pharmacy in Bern and 
Zurich and holds a Ph.D. degree in chemistry from the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology  
in Zurich (1979). Thomas Villiger is a Swiss citizen.
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3.3 Permitted Activities in the supreme managing or administrative body  
of other companies
Members of the Board of Directors of Siegfried Holding AG may not assume more than 
twenty additional mandates, of which no more than five may be for publicly listed companies. 
This applies to any mandate in the supreme managing or administrative body of a legal  
entity that is subject to the obligation to be entered in the Swiss commercial register or a 
corresponding register abroad. Mandates in different legal entities under common control  
or owned by the same beneficial owner shall be deemed to constitute a single mandate.

Not subject to these limitations are (i) mandates in companies that are controlled by, or which 
control, Siegfried Holding AG; (ii) mandates that a member of the Board of Directors assumes 
at the direction of Siegfried Holding AG or a group company, provided that no member of 
the Board of Directors may assume more than ten such mandates at companies that are not 
controlled by, or do not control, Siegfried Holding AG; (iii) mandates in associations, non-
profit foundations, and pension benefit foundations, provided that no member of the Board 
of Directors may assume more than ten such mandates.

3.4 Election and terms in office
The members of the Board of Directors of Siegfried Holding AG are elected by the General 
Meeting of Shareholders. For the first time at the General Meeting of Shareholders 2014,  
the Chairman of the Board as well as the members of the Remuneration Committee were 
elected directly by the General Meeting of Shareholders. Subject to the foregoing, the  
Board of Directors constitutes itself. 

The Board members are elected for a term of one year that expires at the end of the next 
Annual General Meeting. Reelection is allowed. The Board Regulations specify that members 
must retire from the Board at the General Meeting of Shareholders following their 68th 
birthday. Certain exceptions may be made for the Chairman or the Honorary Chairman.

3.5 Internal organization
The Board of Directors is responsible for the supervision of the Siegfried Group and its 
business units. The Board determines the Group strategy, the allocation of resources, and the 
management structure of the Siegfried Group. It is also responsible for setting the organi-
zational structure, accounting, financial control, and financial planning. To the extent it does 
neither exercise these duties itself nor delegate them to the Chairman of the Board, the Board  
of Directors has delegated the management of the business to the CEO of the Siegfried Group. 
Decisions are made by the entire Board of Directors. The Board Regulations setting forth the 
Board’s powers, duties, and internal organization may be found under http://www.siegfried.ch/ 
about-siegfried/about-us/company-structure. 
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During the business year 2014, the Board of Directors met for three one-day ordinary meetings, 
two half-day ordinary meetings, two extra-ordinary meetings and a strategy meeting of two 
days. In addition, numerous teleconferences were held. With the exception of one meeting that 
one Board member was unable to attend, all Board members were present at all meetings.

The following three Board Committees assist the Board of Directors: 
 – Audit Committee
 – Remuneration Committee (until March 26, 2014: HR Committee)
 – Strategy Committee

The responsibilities and competencies of the committees are set forth in more detail in article 
16 paragraph 4 of the Articles of Incorporation (Remuneration Committee) and Section 3.3.3 
of the Board Regulations (see http://www.siegfried.ch/about-siegfried/about-us/company-
structure). The Board Committees review and discuss important matters in their relevant field 
of responsibility prior to Board meetings. The Chairman of the Board, the CEO and the CFO, 
and the responsible members of the Executive Management regularly attend these meetings. 
The Board Committees submit recommendations to the Board. 

During the business year 2014, the Audit Committee met four times, the Remuneration 
Committee twice, and the Strategy Committee three times for half-day meetings.  
The following table shows the composition of the Board Committees for the term  
of office 2014 /2015:

Committee Chairperson Members

Audit Colin Bond Reto Garzetti, Thomas Villiger

Remuneration Thomas Villiger Reto Garzetti, Felix K. Meyer

Strategy Felix K. Meyer Colin Bond, Wolfram Carius

3.6 Information and control instruments
The internal information and control system of the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Management is based on the following monthly reporting instruments: Revenues and  
other financial results of the Siegfried Group are presented in detail and compared with the 
budget and the previous year’s results – including a financial forecast for the entire year. 
Quarterly reports focus on budget deviations, important business incidents, and the most 
important key performance indicators. A five-year plan outlines the financial planning for  
the next five business years. The internal control system (ICS) and a comprehensive risk man- 
agement procedure (described in detail on pages 129ff of the Financial Report) further  
add to the Board’s information and control instruments. The results are discussed and evalu-
ated with the CEO and CFO at the meetings of the Board of Directors. Furthermore,  
the Chairman of the Board discusses the course of business and other important topics with 
members of the Executive Management on a regular basis.
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4 Executive Management 

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is responsible for the operative and results-oriented manage-
ment of the Siegfried Group and its divisions. Subject to the competencies and directives  
of the Board of Directors and its Chairman, the CEO is responsible for the formulation and 
achievement of the corporate goals as well as the management of the subordinate Group 
companies (results and balance sheet responsibilities). The detailed capacities and functions of 
the CEO are described in the Siegfried Group Board Regulations (see http://www.siegfried.ch/ 
about-siegfried/about-us/company-structure).

4.1 Members of the Executive Management

Name Birth year Position
Member 
since

In current 
function since

Rudolf Hanko 1955 Chief Executive Officer 2009 2009

Michael Hüsler 1972 Chief Financial Officer 2009 2009

René Imwinkelried 1957 Head Research & Development 2012 2012

Walter Kittl 1956 Head Technical Operations 2008 2011

Arnoud M. Middel 1971 Head Human Resources 2011 2011

Marianne Späne 1962
Head Business Development, 
Marketing & Sales 2004 2010

Wolfgang Wienand 1972 Chief Strategy Officer 2010 2011

4.2 Management contracts
Siegfried Holding AG and its group companies have not entered into any management 
contracts with third parties.
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4.3 Permitted Activities in the supreme managing or administrative body  
of other companies
Members of the Executive Management of Siegfried Holding AG may not assume more than 
five additional mandates, of which no more than one may be for a publicly listed company. 
This applies to any mandate in the supreme managing or administrative body of a legal entity 
that is subject to the obligation to be entered in the Swiss commercial register or a corre-
sponding register abroad. Mandates in different legal entities under common control or 
owned by the same beneficial owner shall be deemed to constitute a single mandate.

Not subject to these limitations are (i) mandates in companies that are controlled by, or which 
control, Siegfried Holding AG; (ii) mandates that a member of the Executive Management 
assumes at the direction of Siegfried Holding AG or a group company, provided that no 
member of the Executive Management may assume more than ten such mandates at compa-
nies that are not controlled by, or do not control, Siegfried Holding AG; (iii) mandates  
in associations, non-profit foundations, and pension benefit foundations, provided that no 
member of the Executive Management may assume more than ten such mandates.
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4.4 Profiles

Dr. Rudolf Hanko Chief Executive Officer
Rudolf Hanko (1955) was appointed CEO of Siegfried in May 2009. Prior to joining Siegfried, 
he worked in the chemical-pharmaceutical industry in various management positions, at 
Evonik Industries AG (Germany) as head of Exclusive Synthesis & Amino Acids. Rudolf Hanko 
also headed the pharmaceutical division of Bayer AG as head of Chemical Research and as 
General Manager of the fine chemicals division. Rudolf Hanko received his Ph. D. in chemistry 
from the University of Göttingen (Germany) and completed post-doctoral studies at the  
Max Planck Institute (Germany). Rudolf Hanko is a German citizen.

Peter A. Gehler Head Corporate Center (until 31 October 2014)
Peter Gehler (1958) has been Head Corporate Center from 2010 to 2014 and was Secretary  
of Board of Directors between 2002 and 2013. With effect from November 1, 2014,  
Peter Gehler was appointed Head Pharmapark Siegfried in Zofingen, which comprises five 
companies. For governance reasons he subsequently withdrew from Siegfried Group’s 
Executive Committee, which he had served for a period of eight years. He continues in his 
function as the company’s Chief Communications Officer. Peter Gehler graduated from  
the University for Applied Sciences of St. Gall with a business administration degree; in 2006 
he received his Master’s degree in economics and marketing from the University of Basel.  
He is a member of the Board of Directors of the Aargau Chamber of Commerce & Industry, 
and Chairman of the Zofingen Regional Chamber of Commerce & Industry. Peter Gehler  
is a Swiss citizen.

Michael Hüsler Chief Financial Officer
Michael Hüsler (1972) joined Siegfried as Chief Financial Officer in 2009. He completed his 
studies in economics in 1997 at the University of Basel (Switzerland) and worked at Price-
water houseCoopers as an economic planner until 2000. From 2000 to 2005 he was corpo-
rate controller and ultimately, head of corporate controlling at Straumann Holding AG. In 
addition, he completed his studies as a Certified IFRS Accountant in 2004. Michael Hüsler was 
CFO and member of the Executive Management at Bachem Holding AG from 2005 to 2009. 
Michael Hüsler is a Swiss citizen.

Dr. René Imwinkelried Head Research & Development 
René Imwinkelried (1957) was appointed Head of Research & Development of the Siegfried 
Group in September 2012. He has a Ph. D. in organic chemistry from the ETH Zurich and 
completed a post-doctoral fellowship at Colorado State University and Howard University 
(both USA). From 1991 to 2004 he worked in various R&D management positions at  
Lonza, and as head of global chemical and physical sciences at US-based Schering-Plough. 
From 2010 to 2012 he was head of “Technical Development Small Molecules” at Roche  
in Basel. René Imwinkelried is a Swiss citizen.
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Dr. Walter Kittl Head Technical Operations
Walter Kittl (1956) was appointed Head of Technical Operations of Siegfried in 2011. Prior  
to joining Siegfried in 2008, he worked at DSM Chemie Linz (1983 –2000) and at F. Hoffmann- 
La Roche (2000 –2008), where he was head of chemical production in Basel (Switzerland). 
From 2008 to 2011, he was head of the Siegfried facility in Pennsville. He studied at the Uni- 
versity of Linz (Austria), where he graduated with a Ph. D. in chemistry. Walter Kittl is an 
Austrian citizen.

Arnoud M. Middel Head Human Resources
Arnoud Middel (1971) joined the Siegfried Group in September 2011 as Head of Human 
Resources. Previously, he worked for various companies in the field of human resources,  
ultimately as head of HR Switzerland and Global Headquarters for Syngenta in Basel (Switzer-
land). He is a member of the Advisory Board of the European Master in Strategic HR  
Man agement (EMSHRM) at the Bocconi University in Milan (Italy). He completed his studies  
in biology and biochemistry at the University of Basel (Switzerland). Arnoud Middel is  
a Dutch citizen.

Marianne Späne Head Business Development, Marketing & Sales
Marianne Späne (1962) joined the Siegfried Group in 2004 and was appointed Head  
of Business Development & Sales in March 2010. She headed the Siegfried Generics Division 
from 2008 to 2010 and was previously responsible for the Classical Generics Business Unit. 
Between June 2004 and January 2008, Marianne Späne managed the Business Development 
Department and the Supply Chain for Generics. Prior to joining Siegfried, she worked in 
logistics, business development and as site manager for Boucheron, a cosmetics company. 
Later, she switched to the pharmaceutical industry and joined the pharma division of  
Schweizerhalle as head of the sales and marketing department. Subsequently, she joined 
Aceto, a US-based company, where she developed European expansion strategies.  
Marianne Späne holds degrees in finance, business administration and marketing from the 
Business Management School (KFS) in Basel and the Marketing & Business School in  
Zurich (MBSZ). Marianne Späne is a German citizen.

Dr. Wolfgang Wienand Chief Strategy Officer 
As of December 1, 2011, Dr. Wolfgang Wienand (1972) was appointed Chief Strategy Officer 
with responsibility for Strategy, Mergers & Acquisitions, Legal and Intellectual Property Man-
agement. From August 1, 2010, to August 31, 2012, he also served as Chief Scientific Officer 
heading Siegfried’s research & development activities. With effect from 1 January, 2015, he  
is additionally responsible for the Regulatory Affairs division. Before joining Siegfried, he held 
senior management positions at Evonik Industries AG, formerly Degussa AG, mainly in  
the fields of fine chemicals and custom manufacturing for the pharmaceutical industry. Most 
recently, he was responsible for the strategy and business development of Evonik’s  
advanced silanes business with the photovoltaic and semiconductor industries. Wolfgang 
Wienand studied chemistry at the Friedrich-Wilhelms University in Bonn and received  
his Ph. D. from the University of Cologne, Germany. Wolfgang Wienand is a German citizen.
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5 Remuneration, Investments and Loans

5.1 Content and method of determining the remuneration  
and the shareholding programmes
For details regarding the remuneration and shareholdings of the members of the Board of 
Directors and the Executive Management as well the principles and elements of remunera-
tion and shareholding programmes of members of the Board of Directors and the  
Executive Committee, together with a description of the authorities and procedures in connec-
tion therewith, please refer to the Remuneration Report on page 69ff of this Annual Report.

5.2 Statutory provisions regarding performance-related remuneration  
and the allocation of equity securities 
Pursuant to article 23 of the Articles of Incorporation and subject to approval by the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting, the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors consists  
of a fixed base remuneration, an individual functional remuneration and a lump-sum expense 
allowance in cash, as well as a fixed number of shares of Siegfried Holding AG. The Board  
of Directors determines the number of shares as well as the relevant terms and conditions, 
including the time of their allocation and any restrictions on transferability. Absent excep- 
tional circumstances, the members of the Board of Directors do not receive any performance-
based remuneration; any such remuneration would be measured against predefined perfor-
mance targets only.

Pursuant to article 24 of the Articles of Incorporation and subject to approval by the  
General Shareholders’ Meeting, remuneration for members of the Executive Management 
includes of a fixed base remuneration in cash as well as performance-based remuneration, 
which comprises a short term performance-based remuneration in cash as well as a multi-
year employee share ownership plan. The Board of Directors determines the targets,  
target levels, and target achievement for both the short- and the long-term performance-
based remuneration in accordance with the following principles: 
 – The amount of short-term performance-based remuneration in cash depends on the 
achievement of targets over the course of a one-year performance period. The amount of 
the short-term performance-based remuneration for hundred percent target achievement 
(target bonus) is defined on an individual basis for each member of the Executive Manage-
ment. Targets are determined on an annual basis for each member of the Executive 
Management, taking into account his / her position, responsibilities, and tasks, as well as 
local market conditions, at the start of a one-year performance period. At the end of  
the one-year performance period, the total target achievement, which may lie between 
zero and a maximum of two hundred percent, is determined. The effective short-term 
performance-based remuneration in cash is calculated by multiplying the total target 
achievement by the target bonus.

 – Long-term performance-based remuneration depends on the achievement of company 
targets (such as share price and / or key operational numbers of Siegfried Holding AG) over  
a performance period of three years. Each year, at the start of a respective three-year 
performance period, every member of the Executive Management is granted a specific 
number of performance share units, taking into account his / her position, responsibilities, 
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tasks, and local market conditions. At the end of the three-year performance period, the 
total target achievement, which may lie between zero and a maximum of two hundred 
percent, is determined. The number of shares that the member of the Executive Manage-
ment is allocated at the end of the three-year performance period, and their value,  
are calculated by multiplying the number of performance share units granted by the total 
target achievement, as well as the share price on the allocation date. Siegfried Holding AG 
may acquire the necessary shares on the open market or by means of issuance of new 
shares out of conditional share capital.

In the event of a change of control of Siegfried Holding AG, the termination of the employ-
ment relationship, or in case of other extraordinary events, the Board of Directors may during 
the course of an ongoing performance period adapt, shorten or eliminate the targets for 
performance-based remuneration, exercise conditions and periods as well as vesting periods 
and the relevant performance based remuneration may be forfeited or paid out under the 
assumption that targets would have been achieved.

5.3 Statutory provisions regarding payments to members of the executive  
management appointed after the shareholders’ vote on pay 
Pursuant to article 25 of the Articles of Incorporation, Siegfried Holding AG or any group 
company may, with respect to any member of the Executive Management who joins the 
Executive Management or is promoted during a period for which the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting has already approved remuneration for the Executive Management, pay out 
 remuneration for such period(s) if the amount already approved is insufficient. The amount 
per remuneration period may not exceed 40 percent for the CEO and 25 percent for each 
other member of the Executive Management, of the most recently approved total remuneration. 

In addition, Siegfried Holding AG may compensate a newly appointed member of the 
Executive Management for any losses suffered in connection with assuming the new position 
as a result of forfeited vested benefits from his previous position. Such compensation may  
not exceed CHF 1 000 000 for the CEO and CHF 500 000 per person for the other members 
of the Executive Management.

5.4 Statutory provisions regarding loans, credit facilities and post-employment 
benefits 
Pursuant to article 25 of the Articles of Incorporation, Siegfried Holding AG may grant loans 
and credits to members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management up to  
a maximum of the total of their respective individual fixed base remuneration in cash. In 
addition, Siegfried Holding AG may pay advances on attorney fees, court costs, and the  
like, up to a maximum of CHF 1 000 000 per member, in order to defend against liability and 
similar claims by third parties in connection with its activities performed for the Company.
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5.5 Statutory provisions on the vote on pay at the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
Pursuant to article 16 of the Articles of Incorporation, the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
resolves annually on the approval of the motions of the Board of Directors with regard to:
 – the maximum total amount of remuneration for the Board of Directors for the term  
of office expiring at the next ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting;

 – the maximum total amount of fixed remuneration for the Executive Management for  
the following financial year;

 – the total amount of short-term performance-based remuneration for the Executive 
 Management for the most recent financial year;

 – the total amount of long-term performance-based remuneration for the Executive  
Management for the current financial year.

Resolutions on the approval of remuneration for the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Management, respectively, are taken separately. The Board of Directors may submit the 
elements of remuneration for approval either separately or combined. In addition, the Board 
of Directors may submit proposals to the General Shareholders’ Meeting regarding (i)  
the total amounts and/or remuneration elements for other periods and/or (ii) supplementary 
amounts for certain remuneration elements. If the General Shareholders’ Meeting declines  
to approve a motion of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors may submit new 
motions at the same General Shareholders’ Meeting, at an extraordinary General Shareholders’ 
Meeting, or at the next ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting.

6 Shareholder Rights

6.1 Voting rights and proxy
Each share registered in the share registry with voting rights grants to its holder one voting 
right at the General Meeting of Shareholders. A shareholder may be represented at  
the General Shareholders’ Meeting by a natural person duly authorized in writing, or by the 
independent voting proxy. 

The General Meeting of Shareholders passes its resolutions by a simple majority of the votes 
cast, unless a qualified majority is required by applicable law or the Articles of Incorporation. 
If no absolute majority is reached, the chairman casts the deciding vote.
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The approval of at least two-thirds of the votes represented is required for resolutions  
of the General Shareholders’ Meeting with respect to:
 – a change of the company’s purpose
 – the creation of shares with preferential voting rights
 – amendments to the provisions governing the transferability of shares
 – the conversion of registered shares into bearer shares
 – an authorized or conditional increase in capital
 – an increase in share capital through the conversion of capital surplus, through an in-kind 
contribution or in exchange for an acquisition of property and a grant of special benefits

 – the restriction or cancellation of pre-emptive rights
 – the relocation of the company’s registered office
 – the dissolution of the company without liquidation

6.2 Calling a General Meeting of Shareholders and setting the agenda 
The General Meeting of Shareholders is called and the agenda therefore is set in accordance 
with the applicable provisions of the Swiss Code of Obligations.

Shareholders representing shares with a nominal value of CHF 500 000 or more may request 
that an item be added to the agenda of the General Shareholders’ Meeting. Any such request 
must be made in writing at least 45 days prior to the meeting, setting forth the requested 
additional agenda item and the motion thereto. No previous request or notification is required  
for motions concerning items included on the agenda and for debates as to which no vote  
is taken. 

6.3 Entry into the share register / invitation to the General Meeting  
of April 14, 2015 
The Board of Directors has determined that the share registry for the Annual General Meeting 
2015 will be closed on Tuesday, April 7, 2015 / 12:00 p.m. All Shareholders wishing to attend 
the Annual General Meeting of April 14, 2015, must submit their application for registration of 
shares in the share registry no later than said date. Admission tickets and voting materials  
may be ordered by submitting the registration form enclosed with the invitation to the Annual 
General Meeting until April 10, 2015, or electronically on the online platform under https://
sfzn.shapp.ch until April 12, 2015. Upon receipt of the request, an admission ticket and the 
voting materials will be sent to the shareholder. No entries into the share registry will be 
made from April 7, 2015 / 12:00 p.m. until April 14, 2015. Shareholders who sell their Siegfried 
shares prior to the General Meeting of Shareholders forfeit their voting rights.

The invitation to the General Meeting, the minutes of the previous General Meeting, and the 
motions of the Board of Directors are made accessible on the website of the Siegfried Group 
(www.siegfried.ch).
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7 Control Changes and Defensive Measures

7.1 Mandatory take-over offers
There are no provisions in the Articles of Incorporation of Siegfried Holding AG regarding 
opting out or opting up (article 22 and 32 SESTA).

7.2 Change of control clauses
The Long Term Incentive Plan (see Remuneration Report, p. 78ff) which came into force on 
January 1, 2014, provides that: 

a) in the event of a change of control of Siegfried Holding AG, plan participants will, on the 
date of the change of control, receive a pro-rated number of Siegfried shares for all PSUs 
granted for ongoing vesting periods. The number of Siegfried shares to be distributed per 
PSU is calculated on the basis of a valuation method to be determined by the Board.

b) in the event of a takeover which is not endorsed by the Board, Siegfried shares will be 
distributed to the plan participants pro-rata and on the basis of 100% target achievement as 
per the date of change of control for all PSUs granted for ongoing vesting periods. The 
pro-rata entitlement is calculated from the grant date of the PSUs until the date of change  
of control.

The change of control clauses of the EOPs for the Board of Directors, the Executive Management, 
and members of the management that expired by the end of the business year 2013 and  
the allocation of the leverage shares have been reported in Section 7.2 of the Corporate 
Governance Report 2012 (see page 65 of the Annual Report 2012).

8 Auditors

8.1 Contract duration and lead auditor term length
PricewaterhouseCoopers AG (PwC), Basel (or its predecessor companies) has been the 
statutory auditor of Siegfried Holding AG since 1920. In 2014, the current lead auditor,  
Gerd Tritschler, carried out the audit for the fifth time. The auditor is annually elected by  
the General Meeting of Shareholders.

8.2 Audit fees
PwC billed the Siegfried Group for services in connection with auditing of the annual financial 
statement of Siegfried Holding AG and of the Siegfried Group companies, the consolidated 
2014 financial statement of the Siegfried Group and related auditing services CHF 623 000 
(2013: CHF 436 000).
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8.3 Additional fees
For tax consulting during 2014, PwC billed the Siegfried Group CHF 123 000 (2013: 
CHF 80 000), and for other services CHF 21 000 (2013: CHF 103 000) in additional fees. 
Further costs for tax consulting and other services by other auditors amounted to  
CHF 39 000 (2013: CHF 7000).

8.4 External audit informational instruments
The Audit Committee evaluates and discusses the performance, fees, and independence of 
the auditor every year. It reports to the Board and proposes a motion at the General Meeting 
on the election (or reelection) of the auditor. The contract is awarded based on a budget 
presented to the Audit Committee by the auditor. 

The auditor regularly attends the meetings of the Audit Committee; there were four meetings 
in 2014. During such meetings, the auditor presents detailed audit reports, which are  
also distributed to the Board. Assignments for PwC that go beyond the auditing mandate  
are subject to approval by the head of the Audit Committee.

9 Information Policy

The Siegfried Group is committed to an open and consistent information policy. The media, 
financial analysts and other interest groups are continuously informed about important 
developments and events. 

Shareholders are informed semi-annually on the state of the business and receive the annual 
report and the semi-annual report upon request. The annual report, the minutes of the 
previous General Meeting, media releases, important information and the current share price 
can be found at www.siegfried.ch. A news conference is held semi-annually for the media 
and financial analysts.

Siegfried Holding strictly observes the mandatory disclosure rules of the SIX Swiss Exchange 
(“ad hoc disclosure”) regarding potentially price sensitive facts.

In 2015, the Siegfried Group will inform about the course of business as follows:
 – March 5, 2015: publication of results for the 2014 business year at a media and analyst 
 conference in Zurich (media and financial analysts)

 – April 14, 2015 / 10:00 a.m.: Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
 – August 27, 2015: publication of 2014 half-year financial results 

Company address:
Siegfried Holding AG
Untere Brühlstrasse 4
CH-4800 Zofingen, Switzerland
Phone + 41 62 746 11 11
Fax + 41 62 746 11 03

www.siegfried.ch



Acquisition of Hameln Pharma
The youngest member of the Siegfried family is one of Europe’s largest  
providers of sterile fillings for liquid pharmaceutical ingredients.



Remuneration Report 

At Siegfried, we are mindful of the responsibility  
we owe to our stakeholders and we pursue a 
 transparent, performance-based, and sustainable 
remuneration policy. 
— 
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The Remuneration Report describes 
Siegfried Group’s (Siegfried’s) remuneration 
principles and defines the competencies 
and responsibilities associated with setting 
remuneration for members of its Board  
of Directors and Executive Committee. The 
report also contains detailed information 
about remuneration plans and payments 
made in the 2014 financial year. 
—

This Remuneration Report was drafted in accordance with Siegfried Holding’s articles of 
incorporation and complies with all requirements laid down in article 663bbis and article 663c 
paragraph 3 of the Swiss Code of Obligations (CO), as well as articles 13 to 17 of the “Ordi-
nance Against Excessive Compensation at Public Companies” (Verordnung gegen die über- 
mässige Vergütung bei börsenkotierten Aktiengesellschaften, VegüV); it also complies with 
article 5 of the annex to the SIX Swiss Exchange’s “Directive on Information Relating to Corpo-
rate Governance” (Richtlinie zur Corporate Governance, RLCG) dated September 1, 2014. 

Remuneration Report 
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The Remuneration Report is structured as follows: 
 – Introduction by the Chair of the Remuneration Committee
 – Competencies and tasks of the Remuneration Committee 
 – Procedures for setting and authorizing remuneration 
 – Principles of remuneration policy and remuneration elements
 – Remuneration of Board members
 – Remuneration of Executive Committee members
 – Shareholdings of the Board of Directors and Executive Committee  
at the end of the 2014 financial year

 – Contractual agreements, loans, credits, and additional contributions

In this report, details pursuant to articles 14 to 17 VegüV are to be  
found in the following sections: 

VegüV Article Text / Figure / Table Page

Art. 14: Remuneration paid to the Board  
of Directors and Executive Committee

Remuneration paid to the Board of Directors in the 2014 financial year (audited) 82

Remuneration paid to the Board of Directors for the 2014 / 2015 term of office (projection) 83

Remuneration paid to the Board of Directors in the 2013 financial year (audited) 83

Remuneration paid to the CEO and Executive Committee in the 2014 financial year (audited) 84

Actual STI to be paid to the CEO and Executive Committee for the 2014 financial year 85

PSUs allocated to the CEO and Executive Committee in the 2014 financial year 86

Remuneration paid to the CEO and Executive Committee in the 2013 financial year (audited) 86

Art. 15: Loans and credits granted to the Board  
of Directors and Executive Committee

As of December 31, 2014, Siegfried Holding AG and its Group companies do not  
have any outstanding securities, loans, advances or credits to members of the Board  
of Directors or the Executive Committee of Siegfried Holding AG. (audited)

88

Art. 16: Remuneration, loans and credits  
to affiliated persons

Further, there were no securities, loans, advances or credits granted at non-market rates  
to persons affiliated with current members of the Executive Committee or Board of Directors  
or to former members of the Executive Committee or Board of Directors; nor are there any  
such commitments outstanding as per December 31, 2014. (audited)

88

Art. 17: Audit of the remuneration report  
by statutory auditor

Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Remuneration Report 89
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Introduction by the Chair of the Remuneration Committee

Dear Shareholders, 
Over the last two years we have thoroughly reworked the remuneration system for the Board 
of Directors and the Executive Committee. In doing so, we have focused on ensuring that 
remuneration is clearly aligned with the Group’s strategy and long-term development. These 
changes were laid out in detail in our 2013 Annual Report and communicated to you at the 
2014 General Meeting during the consultative vote on the Remuneration Report. 

Given that the remuneration of the Board of Directors and Executive Committee, as well as 
that of non-management employees, is an economically important and emotional topic for all 
of Siegfried’s stakeholders, in 2014 the Remuneration Committee made a particularly 
concerted effort to 
 – implement disclosure requirements as transparently as possible; and 
 – to finalize the reworked remuneration rules for management in all locations. 

In this report, we shall once again explain our remuneration principles, model and plans to 
you and highlight how these are linked to enterprise value and target achievement. The 
report also presents a transparent picture of Siegfried’s remuneration elements and other 
amounts paid to the Board of Directors and Executive Committee, as per the new legal 
requirements. 

At the 2014 General Meeting, you, the shareholders, approved the amendment of the articles 
of incorporation. By voting to change the articles of incorporation at the General Meeting, 
the VegüV provisions entered into effect. Wherever relevant, the employment contracts of 
Executive Committee members were aligned with VegüV requirements by the end of 2014.

As explained in the Progress Report, 2014 was, from an operational point of view, a very 
challenging year for Siegfried. As in previous years, the Board of Directors, along with  
the CEO and the Executive Committee, set extremely ambitious goals, designed to ensure a 
long-term increase in enterprise value. At Group level, these goals were only partially met, 
and this is reflected in the target achievement figures. This deliberately and systematically 
pursued linkage has clearly shown itself to be effective: if the operational targets EBITDA  
and ROCE are not met or only partially met, the total amount available for distribution in the 
form of short-term, performance-based incentives is substantially reduced. 

Dr. Thomas Villiger
Chair of Remuneration Committee
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1 Competencies and tasks of the Remuneration Committee

In accordance with the articles of incorporation, the Remuneration Committee is composed 
of three members of the Board of Directors, who are each elected for a one-year term of 
office at the General Meeting. Dr. Thomas Villiger (Chair), Reto Garzetti, and Dr. Felix Meyer 
were elected to the Remuneration Committee for the 2014/2015 term of office.

The Remuneration Committee supports the Board of Directors in
 – defining and reviewing the remuneration policy and principles;
 – defining and reviewing the targets for short and long-term, performance-based remunera-
tion elements and evaluating target achievement; 

 – preparing recommendations on Board and Executive Committee members’ remuneration 
for the attention of the General Meeting.

Depending on the agenda, the Chairman of the Board, the CEO, and the Head HR Group  
may also join a meeting of the Remuneration Committee. After every Remuneration Committee 
meeting, a set of minutes summarizing topics discussed, as well as decisions taken and recom-
mendations made, is sent to the Board of Directors. The Remuneration Committee convenes 
at least twice annually. During the 2014 financial year, the Remuneration Committee con-
vened twice for ordinary meetings and also held other, informal meetings.

2 Procedures for setting and approving remuneration

Benchmarking and external consultants
According to normal industry practice, Siegfried regularly benchmarks total remuneration 
packages at all levels within the Group against those of other multinational companies in  
the chemicals and pharmaceuticals sectors to ensure competitiveness. In 2013, remuneration  
was reviewed in detail and selectively adjusted. Employees who satisfy the technical and 
behavioral criteria associated with a given position and meet agreed performance targets 
receive a total remuneration package that is in line with the market median for similar 
positions in comparable companies. 
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The remuneration packages of Siegfried’s Executive Committee and Board members are 
regularly reviewed and benchmarked against data from executive studies, surveys, and  
the disclosures of companies1 which are comparable in terms of size, business mix and model; 
the extent to which these companies compete with Siegfried for the same highly qualified 
employees is also factored into the equation. In 2013, Siegfried worked with an independent, 
external consultant specialized in remuneration and benchmarking to conduct a detailed 
analysis of remuneration practices; the resulting adjustments were implemented on January 1, 
2014. No review was conducted in 2014, as the adjusted remuneration packages of Siegfried’s 
Executive Committee and Board members are now in line with market practice.

Process for approving remuneration 
Remuneration is set and approved as follows.

Process for defining and approving remuneration CEO
Remuneration 
Committee Board of Directors General Meeting

Principles of remuneration for the Board of Directors Makes proposal Proposes  
a motion

Enacts

Remuneration model for CEO (incl. short and long-term performance-
based remuneration in the form of cash or shares) and terms of 
employment contract

Makes proposal Proposes  
a motion

Enacts

Remuneration model for the Executive Committee (incl. short  
and long-term performance-based remuneration in the form of  
cash or shares) 

Makes proposal Recommends Proposes  
a motion

Enacts

Maximum total remuneration for the Board of Directors for the term 
of office lasting until the next Ordinary General Meeting

Makes proposal Enacts Approves

Maximum total remuneration for the fixed remuneration of the 
Executive Committee (incl. the CEO) for the following financial year

Makes proposal Recommends Enacts Approves

Maximum total short-term performance-based remuneration of the 
Executive Committee (incl. the CEO) for the previous financial year

Makes proposal Recommends Enacts Approves

Maximum total long-term performance-based remuneration of the 
Executive Committee (incl. the CEO) for the current financial year

Makes proposal Recommends Enacts Approves

1  Actelion, Bachem, Basilea, BASF*, 
Cilag, Clariant, Dottikon ES, DSM*, 
 Ems-Chemie, Givaudan,  Lonza, 
Nobel Biocare, Novartis Pharma*, 
Oridion, Roche Pharma*, Santhera, 
Sonova, SIKA*, Straumann, 
 Syngenta*, Synthes, Ypsomed

 * CH entities
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3 Principles of remuneration policy and remuneration elements

Principles of remuneration policy
Recruiting, developing, and retaining qualified and talented staff is a crucial factor for the 
success of our company. Our remuneration structure and elements are geared towards 
achieving this goal and are based on the following principles:
 – ensuring an effective link between individual performance and sustainable enterprise value 
for Siegfried’s shareholders;

 – rewarding individual performance, competence and desired behaviors;
 – creating a sustainable performance culture by applying performance-related remuneration 
that is contingent on the Group’s success;

 – setting effective incentives by balancing long and short-term remuneration elements;
 – acting fairly and transparently when making and communicating remuneration-related 
decisions;

 – ensuring market competitiveness;
 – complying with all legal and regulatory requirements relating to remuneration, including,  
in particular, with respect to minimum wages, equal pay for men and women, and 
 provisions linked to the disclosure and approval of remuneration for Siegfried’s most senior 
decision-making bodies;

 – ensuring that dilution resulting from share-based remuneration does not exceed 1.0%  
per year (long-term average).

Remuneration elements
In line with market practice, Siegfried’s remuneration model is designed as a package 
consisting of fixed and performance-based elements.

An employee’s total remuneration mix is contingent on his /her function, responsibilities, 
experience, and location. In 2014, employee remuneration was composed of the following 
elements:
1. Fixed remuneration – annual base salary
2. Performance-based remuneration: 
 (i) Short-term, performance-based remuneration (Short Term Incentive Plan, STIP)
 (ii) Long-term, performance-based remuneration (Long Term Incentive Plan, LTIP) 
3. Additional remuneration elements 
 (i) Additional benefits, in line with market practice
 (ii) Employee Share Purchase Plan (ESPP) 
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Element Instrument Purpose Criteria

Fi
xe

d 
 

re
m

un
er

at
io

n Annual base salary Monthly cash payment Attracting and retaining 
employees

Requirements of the job,  
employee experience and ability, 
job performance, local market 
conditions

Pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

-b
as

ed
 

re
m

un
er

at
io

n

Short-term, performance –
based remuneration (STIP)

Annual cash payment Rewarding employees’  
performance and contribution  
to enterprise value 

Achieving corporate, functional, 
and individual targets in a given 
financial year

Long-term, performance –
based remuneration (LTIP)

Annual grant of performance 
share units (PSUs)

Ensuring a sustainable increase  
in enterprise value; aligning the 
interests of shareholders and 
management

Achieving corporate targets at  
the end of the three-year 
performance period

A
dd

iti
on

al
 b

en
efi

ts

Additional benefits Pension plan and fringe benefits Safeguarding employees and their 
dependents in old age or in the 
event of illness

Local market conditions, laws  
and other regulations

Employee Share Purchase Plan 
(ESPP)

Employee participation plan,  
which allows employees  
to purchase Siegfried shares  
at a discounted price

Strengthening employees’ interest 
in and loyalty to the company; 
enabling employees to take a 
stake in the company’s success via 
a potential share price increase

Size of initital investment,  
share price development

The performance-based share of remuneration depends on an individual’s functional level; 
the higher the level, the larger the share.

Fixed remuneration – annual base salary
Each employee receives an annual base salary which is linked to the requirements of the 
position, experience and capabilities, performance, and local market conditions. The salary 
band positioning of employees who meet the expected performance and qualification 
parameters in full corresponds with the market median of comparable positions in the 
chemicals industry. Annual adjustments are made individually in light of internal and  
external benchmarks regarding the competitiveness of salaries, employee performance, and  
the overall economic health of the company. Salary adjustments only occur automatically  
in cases where doing so is a legal requirement. Typically, no provision is made for base salary 
adjustments in the course of a given year.

Short-term, performance-based remuneration (Short Term Incentive Plan, STIP)
The Short Term Incentive Plan (STIP) allows Siegfried to customize incentives across all 
functional levels. The Short Term Incentive (STI) is paid in cash (nominal value – and retro-
spectively at the end of every financial year) and rewards an individual’s performance  
and contribution to enterprise value.
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The amount paid out under the STIP is contingent on the achievement of corporate, func-
tional, and individual targets. A target bonus assuming 100% target achievement (“target 
STI”) is defined for each plan participant. The target STI depends on the requirements  
of the plan participant’s position as well as on related responsibilities, functional level, and 
local market conditions. The target categories and associated weighting applicable to  
each employee depend on the employee’s functional level and are defined in a target matrix. 

Under the STIP, targets are set annually for one financial year (performance period). Responsi-
bility for defining STIP targets depends on the functional level of the employee, and is set  
as follows: 

Level

Corporate Targets
Setting and approval  
of targets and target 
achievement

Functional Targets
Setting and approval  
of targets and target 
achievement

Individual Targets 
Setting and approval  
of targets and target 
achievement

CEO

Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board 
of Directors

Executive Committee CEO CEO

Senior Management

Executive Committee

Line Manager

Management Line Manager

Employees Line Manager

The corporate targets are earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization 
(EBITDA) and return on capital employed (ROCE) – key operational and strategic performance 
indicators in our industry. The Board of Directors sets and approves the KPIs and target  
values based on Siegfried’s budgeted amounts for the year in question. Annually defined 
targets are firmly linked to the achievement of long-term targets, as is the LTIP.

Functional targets (quantitative and qualitative) are derived from Siegfried’s strategy, 
 operational priorities, and corporate targets and are based on the overall performance of  
a given function. They are defined in a top-down process by the Executive Committee  
and are broken down incrementally. Functional targets are, for the most part, pre-defined 
KPIs relating to steering the operational business and to achieving corporate targets,  
in particular concerning net working capital, safety, meeting clients’ quality and delivery 
specifications (delivery on time in full, OTIF), and actively managing overdue payments.

Individual targets relate to the performance of the employee and usually take the form  
of project, leadership, or behavioral goals which are agreed between the line manager and 
the employee.
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At the end of the one-year performance period, target achievement of the corporate, 
functional, and individual targets is assessed. The achievement scale ranges from 0 to 
maximum 200% for corporate targets, and from 0 to maximum 150% for functional and 
individual targets. An individual’s overall target achievement is derived from the weighted  
sum of target achievements. The individual STI is calculated by multiplying the target STI 
amount by the overall target achievement. 

Before being paid out, the actual STI amount to be paid to the CEO and the Executive 
Committee for the year is submitted to the General Meeting for approval. 

Sample calculation of target achievement for a member of middle management with a target 
STI of 10% of annual base salary:

Target category Weighting of target category Target achievement Weighted target achievement

Corporate targets 30% 90% 27%

Functional targets 40% 125% 50%

Individual targets 30% 110% 33%

Overall target achievement 110%

Actual STI: target STI (10%) × overall target achievement (110%) = 11% of annual base salary.

Long-term, performance-based remuneration (Long Term Incentive Plan, LTIP)
The Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) is a long-term, performance-based remuneration element 
aimed at ensuring a sustainable increase in enterprise value, an alignment of interests 
between management and shareholders, as well as to ensure retention of management with 
the company. The LTIP is open to members of the Executive Committee and management  
as well as to employees selected annually by the Board of Directors and Executive Committee 
whose contribution has substantial influence on Siegfried’s long-term development. The  
LTIP links a portion of the Executive Committee’s and management’s performance-based 
remuneration to the long-term development of the Group. 

Every year, as part of their total remuneration package, plan participants are granted a fixed 
number of Performance Share Units (PSUs); the number of PSUs is separately defined for each 
individual plan member by the Board of Directors. Each PSU is a non-binding entitlement  
to a maximum of two Siegfried shares. The allocation of shares to the plan participant depends 
on the company evolving satisfactorily and the achievement of pre-defined targets during  
the three-year performance period, and only takes place at the end of the three-year vesting 
period (three-year period starting on the date of the actual grant of the PSUs and ending  
on the same day three calendar years later). 



Year 1

Setting target values

Grant of a defined number of PSUs

Year 3Year 2

Performance Period (3 financial years)

Vesting Period (3 years after grant)

Defining target achievement

Allocation of Shares

Unblocked Shares
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For the purposes of the LTIP, Siegfried’s long-term performance is gauged according to the 
compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of the capital market KPI total shareholder return 
(TSR) and the operational KPIs EBITDA and ROCE. When defining and signing off the KPIs, 
the Board of Directors intentionally gave equal weight to the dual priorities of sustainable 
increase in enterprise value and alignment of interests of management and shareholders. 

The Board of Directors has defined a CAGR of 8% as a long-term target value for TSR. The 
Board of Directors defines target values for EBITDA and ROCE annually for each new PSU 
grant, taking into account the Group’s medium-term planning. 

Target achievement of TSR CAGR for a performance period is set according to the “relevant 
market price at inception” (the average closing share price on the SIX Exchange over the  
last twelve months’ stock trading days up to the inception date of the relevant performance 
period) and the “relevant market price at closing” (the average closing share price on the  
SIX Exchange over the last twelve months’ stock trading days up to the closing date of the 
relevant performance period). Both the relevant market price at inception and at closing  
are adjusted for corporate events such as payment of dividends, payouts from the capital 
 contribution reserve, capital increases, (reverse) share splits, and changes to the nominal  
value of shares.

EBITDA target achievement following a performance period is defined as cumulative EBITDA 
over the three-year performance period. The key parameters for calculating ROCE are EBITDA 
and capital employed during the last year of a given performance period.

KPIs Key Performance Indicator and definition Setting target values Target value Weighting

Capital market KPI CAGR of total shareholder return (TSR)  
over the three-year performance period The Board of Directors 

reviews and sets 
target values annually 
for each new PSU 
grant

TSR CAGR of 8% 70%

Operational KPI

Cumulative EBITDA over a given three-year 
performance period

Set annually, taking into account the 
company’s medium-term planning

15%

ROCE of the last year in the three-year 
performance period

Set annually, taking into account the 
company’s medium-term planning

15%
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The number of shares transferred per PSU to the plan participant at the end of the three- 
year vesting period depends on to what extent the TSR CAGR target values and operational 
targets set by the Board for the relevant period were met. In calculating the so-called 
“performance factor”, target achievement for desired TSR CAGR receives a 70% weighting 
and target achievement for desired operational targets receives a 30% weighting. 

The performance factor may have a value between 0 and 2. If targets are reached, the 
performance factor is given a value of 1 and the plan participant receives 1 share per PSU.  
If targets are exceeded, the plan participant may receive a maximum of 2 shares per PSU.  
The value of shares allocated at the end of the vesting period is determined according to the 
share price at the time of allocation. If the minimum targets are not reached, the PSUs lapse 
without compensation.

Furthermore, shares may only be transferred following the three-year vesting period provided 
the plan participant has a valid employment relationship with the company at the time of 
allocation. If the plan participant terminates his /her employment contract during the vesting 
period, the PSUs lapse without compensation. 

In order to ensure a sustainable increase in enterprise value and an alignment of interests 
between the Executive Committee /management and Siegfried’s shareholders, LTIP partici-
pants must meet certain equity participation requirements. Participants must thus hold  
a certain number of Siegfried shares for the duration of their participation in the plan. The 
number of shares to be held is twice the number of PSUs granted under the LTIP at the  
last grant date. New employees joining the plan must meet these equity participation require-
ments within a defined period by using their own funds to invest in Siegfried shares. 

Additional benefits
Additional benefits include, first and foremost, retirement pensions and insurance to cover 
staff in the event of disability, death, or illness. They provide security for employees and their 
families in the event of retirement, illness, incapacity, or death. The form and amount of  
such additional benefits are governed by local market circumstances, legislation, and customs.

In Switzerland and abroad, Siegfried operates a number of insurance plans, which cover staff 
in old age and in the event of death or illness. The amount of pension benefits an employee  
is entitled to depends on the number of insured years, their age, their insured salary, and the 
capital they have accumulated. 

In Switzerland, a supplementary defined-contribution pension plan is available for individuals 
whose income exceeds a given threshold. All members of the Executive Committee are 
enrolled in this pension plan. Both employee and employer contribute to the aforementioned 
pension plans. The assets of the funded pension plans are held in separate foundations or  
by insurers and cannot flow back to the employer.

Plans also exist for anniversaries or other benefits linked to years of service.
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Employee Share Purchase Plan (ESPP)
The Employee Share Purchase Plan (ESPP) allows employees in all locations to purchase 
Siegfried shares at a discounted price. Shares may be purchased twice a year (May and 
November) at a discount of 30% versus the defined purchase price and are subject to  
a restriction period of three years from the date of purchase. The defined purchase price is 
equivalent to the average price of the Siegfried share on the SIX Swiss Exchange over the  
six months’ stock trading days prior to the purchase. Employees may invest up to 10% of 
their annual base salary in the ESPP. No members of the Executive Committee or the Board  
of Directors may participate in the ESPP. 

4 Remuneration of the Board of Directors 

Board members receive a fixed remuneration which is comprised of a cash and a share 
component (fixed number of shares). By incentivizing Board members to further the success 
of the company and increase enterprise value over the long term, the share component 
ensures that the interests of Siegfried’s directors and shareholders are aligned. Members  
of the Board of Directors do not receive any performance-based remuneration.

The cash component consists of a base fee for the Board mandate, and fees for individual 
functions as Chairman, Deputy Chairman or Chair of a Committee of the Board. In addition, 
for each term of office, Board members receive an expense allowance covering all incidental 
expenses relating to their professional duties.

Shares are allocated at the beginning of a Board member’s term of office following the 
approval of directors’ remuneration by the Ordinary General Meeting. These shares are 
subject to a three-year restriction period. Should a member of the Board of Directors give 
notice during the current term of office, he/she shall transfer the shares back pro rata.

The following table shows remuneration per term of office:

Cash Component Lump Sum Expense allowance Number of blocked shares

Base Fee

Chairman  
of the Board of Directors 160 000 20 000 1 000

Deputy Chairman  
of the Board of Directors 80 000 10 000 500

Other members  
of the Board of Directors 60 000 10 000 500

Fees for individual functions

Chair of Committee 20 000
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The following tables show remuneration paid /allocated in 2014 and in 2013.

Remuneration of the Board of Directors is shown by financial year. The share component  
of the remuneration is valued as per Swiss GAAP FER. 

Remuneration paid to the Board of Directors in the 2014 financial year (audited)
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Dr. Andreas Casutt (Chairman) 133 334 16 666 150 000 127 847 14 396 292 243

Dr. Felix K. Meyer (Vice-Chairman;  
Chair of Strategy Committee) 93 334 10 000 103 334 73 773 9 616 186 723

Reto Garzetti (Member) 60 000 10 000 70 000 73 773 7 721 151 494

Dr. Thomas Villiger (Member;  
Chair of Remuneration Committee) 80 000 10 000 90 000 73 773 8 863 172 636

Colin Bond
(Member; Chair of Audit Committee) 80 000 10 000 90 000 73 773 8 949 172 722

Wolfram Carius3, 4 (Member) 40 000 6 667 46 667 54 073 0 100 740

Total  
(serving members on December 31, 2014) 486 668 63 333 550 001 477 012 49 545 1 076 558

Gilbert Achermann5 (former Chairman) 53 333 6 667 60 000 39 400 9 256 108 656

Total  
(including former members) 540 001 70 000 610 001 516 412 58 801 1 185 214

The remuneration figures shown in the table are gross amounts and were booked according to the accrual principle (4/12 for the 2013/2014 term of office; 8/12 for the 2014/2015  
term of office).
1  Fixed number of shares as part of Board of Directors remuneration; valued as per Swiss GAAP FER.
2  Incl. social security deductions on the tax value of the pro rata share component of the fixed Board of Directors remuneration (allocated in 2014) for the 2014/2015 term of office. 
3  New Board member since 2014/2015 term of office.
4  Fulfills social security obligations in his principal country of employment.
5  Gilbert Achermann tendered his resignation as Chairman of the Board at the General Meeting on March 26, 2014.

In 2014, no remuneration was paid to the Board of Directors other than that presented 
above. 

During the 2014/2015 term of office, Board of Directors remuneration totalled CHF 1.23 mil- 
lion. The discrepancy between this figure and the approved by the General Meeting amount 
of CHF 1.2 million is due to the use of different valuation methods for calculating the share 
component: in this Remuneration Report, the figures are based on Swiss GAAP FER, whereas 
the figures approved at last year’s General Meeting were based on tax values, including the 
tax discount for the three-year restriction period.
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Remuneration paid to the Board of Directors for the 2014/2015 term of office (projection)
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Dr. Andreas Casutt (Chairman) 160 000 20 000 180 000 162 220 17 355 359 575

Dr. Felix K. Meyer (Vice-Chairman;  
Chair of Strategy Committee) 100 000 10 000 110 000 81 110 10 186 201 296

Reto Garzetti (Member) 60 000 10 000 70 000 81 110 7 926 159 036

Dr. Thomas Villiger (Member;  
Chair of Remuneration Committee) 80 000 10 000 90 000 81 110 9 057 180 167

Colin Bond
(Member; Chair of Audit Committee) 80 000 10 000 90 000 81 110 9 149 180 259

Wolfram Carius3, 4 (Member) 60 000 10 000 70 000 81 110 0 151 110

Total (term of office 2014/2015,  
serving members)5 540 000 70 000 610 000 567 770 53 673 1 231 443

Approved by the General Meeting 1 200 000

The remuneration figures shown in the table apply to the 2014/2015 term of office (May 2014–April 2015).
1  Fixed number of shares as part of Board of Directors remuneration; Value per share as approved by the General Meeting 2014 (CHF 162.22).
2 Incl. social security deductions on the tax value of the share component of the fixed Board of Directors remuneration (allocated in 2014) for the 2014/2015 term of office.
3 New Board member since 2014/2015 term of office. 
4 Fulfills social security obligations in his principal country of employment.
5 Projected total until the end of the 2014/2015 term of office. 

Remuneration paid to the Board of Directors in the 2013 financial year (audited)

Board of Directors C
as

h 
re

m
un

er
at

io
n

Lu
m

p 
su

m
 e

xp
en

se
 

al
lo

w
an

ce
 

To
ta

l c
as

h

Sh
ar

e-
ba

se
d 

re
m

un
er

at
io

n 
te

rm
  

of
 o

ffi
ce

1

Sh
ar

e-
ba

se
d 

re
m

un
er

at
io

n 
un

de
r 

EO
P2

Em
pl

oy
er

 c
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
  

to
 s

oc
ia

l s
ec

ur
ity

3  
an

d 
pe

ns
io

n 
fu

nd
4

To
ta

l r
em

un
er

at
io

n 
fin

an
ci

al
 y

ea
r 

20
13

Gilbert Achermann (Chairman) 157 334 20 000 177 334 151 950 278 509 59 802 667 595

Dr. Andreas Casutt (Vice-Chairman) 71 334 10 000 81 334 59 933 234 530 32 643 408 440

Reto Garzetti (Member) 44 667 10 000 54 667 63 783 278 509 31 065 428 024

Dr. Felix K. Meyer (Member) 58 000 10 000 68 000 59 933 187 624 26 956 342 513

Dr. Thomas Villiger (Member) 64 667 10 000 74 667 63 783 74 269 14 344 227 063

Colin Bond5 (Member) 53 333 6 667 60 000 39 400 0 5 728 105 128

Total (at December 31, 2013  
Serving members of the Board) 449 335 66 667 516 002 438 782 1 053 441 170 538 2 178 763

The remuneration figures shown in the table are gross and are based on the accrual principle (4/12 for the 2012/2013 term of office; 8/12 for the 2013/2014 term of office).
1  Contains the pro rata, share-based remuneration amounts for the 2013 financial year from the 2012/2013 term of office (Bonus Shares under EOP) as well as the 2013/2014 term  

of office (fixed number of shares as part of Board of Directors remuneration) as per Swiss GAAP FER.
2 Pro rata remuneration for 2013 from allocation of Leverage Shares under EOP, as per Swiss GAAP FER.
3  Incl. social security deductions on tax value of Bonus Shares from the 2012/2013 term of office allocated in 2013, the pro rata fixed number of shares allocated as part of Board  

remuneration for the 2013/2014 term of office, as well as the portion of EOP Leverage Shares (plan period 2010 –2013) attributable to 2013.
4 As an independent Board member, Gilbert Achermann’s fixed remuneration was insured in the Siegfried pension fund.
5 New Board member since May 2013.
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5 Remuneration of Executive Committee members 

Siegfried’s revised remuneration model, which entered into effect on January 1, 2014, is, in  
line with market practice, designed as a package consisting of fixed and performance-based 
components. The Executive Committee’s remuneration is comprised of a fixed base salary, a 
short-term, performance-based component (STI), a long-term, performance-based component 
(LTI), and additional benefits. The CEO’s total target remuneration is comprised of 40% base 
salary (50% for the Executive Committee), and 30% each for the short and long-term, perfor-
mance-based components STI and LTI (25% each for the Executive Committee). 

The following table summarizes the Executive Committee’s remuneration in the financial year 
2014 and highlights the highest individual remuneration for services rendered in the financial 
year 2014 (CEO). The remuneration is broken down according to the components listed above: 
fixed base salary, short and long-term, performance-based remuneration, and social security 
expenditure. The performance-based components STI and LTI are described in more detail later 
in this report.

Remuneration paid to the CEO and Executive Committee in the 2014 financial year (audited)
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Highest individual remuneration:
Dr. Rudolf Hanko 570 000 128 250 698 250 586 764 83 012 86 597 1 454 623

Other Executive Committee members5 2 309 900 529 317 2 839 217 1 453 329 244 812 325 293 4 862 651

Total (at December 31, 2014) 2 879 900 657 567 3 537 467 2 040 093 327 824 411 890 6 317 274

The remuneration figures shown in the table are gross and are based on the accrual principle.
1 To be paid out in April 2015 after approval at General Meeting.
2 Includes PSUs granted in 2014 for plan period 2014–2017; PSUs are valued as per external consultant ALGOFIN (CHF 162.99 per PSU); assumes 100% target achievement.
3 Includes an assumed 7% social insurance contribution on both the 2014 STI and PSUs granted in 2014.
4 Doesn’t include fringe benefits (REKA money, child and family allowances, employer contributions to BU/NBU) in the amount of CHF 25 000.
5 Peter Gehler left the Executive Committee on October 31, 2014; remuneration reduced pro rata.

In 2014, no remuneration was paid to the Executive Committee members other than that 
presented above.

Based on 2014 target achievement and subject to the approval of the General Meeting,  
STI remuneration paid to the CEO and Executive Committee in the 2014 financial  
year is CHF 657 567 (excluding social security contributions). This is 42.83% of the target 
amount. The amounts are stated at nominal value.
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Actual STI to be paid to the CEO and Executive Committee  
for the 2014 financial year
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CEO 75%  427 500  128 250 30.00%  137 228 

Other Executive 
Committee members 45%–50%  1 107 632  529 317 47.79%  566 369 

Total  1 535 132  657 567 42.83%  703 597 

1  To be paid out in April 2015 after approval at General Meeting.
2  Peter Gehler left the Executive Committee on October 31, 2014; Actual STI reduced pro rata.
3  Assuming 7% social security contributions.

The value of the PSUs granted to members of the Executive Committee for the three-year 
performance period January 1, 2014 – December 31, 2016 under the LTIP has been reported 
in full as Executive Committee remuneration in 2014. In 2014, the CEO and the Executive 
Committee were granted a total of 12 517 PSUs. At the time of allocation, an external valuation 
expert used best practice methods to estimate the fair value of one PSU at CHF 162.99.  
This fair value at the time of allocation is the amount based on which remuneration and social 
insurance contributions are calculated. In the event of a share transfer, the actual income 
received by Executive Committee members at the end of the vesting period may deviate from 
the fair value assigned to the PSUs at the time of allocation due to the performance factor 
and the share price at the time of transfer. 

In order to ensure full transparency, the PSUs allocated in 2014 are shown as totals in the 
following table of remuneration paid to the Executive Committee. In the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, however, LTIP expenses are distributed over the three-year performance period. 
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PSUs allocated to the CEO and Executive Committee in the 2014 financial year

Value at 100% target achievement

Plan period Executive Committee PS
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2014 –2016

CEO

14.02.2014
01.01.2014 – 
31.12.2016

14.02.2014 – 
14.02.2017

14.02.2017

3 600 586 764 41 073

0%– 
200%

Other members  
of the Executive 
Committee3 8 917 1 453 329 101 733

Total 12 517 2 040 093 142 806

Total sum 2 182 899

Approved sum4 2 250 000

1  PSUs are valued as per external consultant ALGOFIN (CHF 162.99 per PSU); assumes 100% target achievement.
2  Includes an assumed 7% social insurance contribution. 
3  Peter Gehler left the Executive Committee on October 31, 2014; remuneration reduced pro rata.
4  Prospective approval of LTI for 2014 at the General Meeting 2014.

Remuneration paid to the CEO and Executive Committee in the 2013 financial year (audited)
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Highest individual remuneration:
Dr. Rudolf Hanko 570 000 77 932 647 932 415 287 1 202 588 265 860 2 531 667

Other Executive Committee members 2 311 450 274 883 2 586 333 744 464 3 782 915 869 357 7 983 069

Total (at December 31, 2013) 2 881 450 352 815 3 234 265 1 159 751 4 985 503 1 135 217 10 514 736

The remuneration figures shown in the table are gross and are based on the accrual principle.
1 Contains remuneration linked to blocked Bonus Shares as well as to blocked shares linked to CEO’s overall remuneration package. All values as per Swiss GAAP FER.
2 Pro rata remuneration for 2013 from allocation of Leverage Shares under EOP, as per Swiss GAAP FER. 
3 Including social security deductions of EOP Bonus Shares and Leverage Shares as well as blocked shares due to the CEO allocated in 2013.
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6 Shareholdings of the Board of Directors and Executive  
Committee at the end of the 2014 financial year

Shareholdings of Board members
The following table lists shareholdings of Board members and affiliated persons. 

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Board of Directors Total shares of which blocked Total shares of which blocked

Andreas Casutt (Chairman) 15 500 12 450 6 150 6 150

Dr. Felix K. Meyer (Vice-Chairman) 10 040 10 040 5 400 5 400

Reto Garzetti (Member) 13 034 13 034 5 650 5 650

Colin Bond (Member) 1 000 1 000 500 500

Dr. Thomas Villiger (Member) 5 235 5 235 2 900 2 900

Wolfram Carius (Member) 500 500

Total 45 309 42 259 20 600 20 600

Gilbert Achermann1 8 950 8 950

Total (including former members) 45 309 42 259 29 550 29 550

In % of share capital 1.09% 1.02% 0.78% 0.78%

1  Gilbert Achermann tendered his resignation as Chairman of the Board at the General Meeting on March 26, 2014. 

Shareholdings of Executive Committee members 
The following table lists shareholdings of Executive Committee members and affiliated 
persons. 

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Executive Committee Total shares of which blocked Total shares of which blocked

Dr. Rudolf Hanko (CEO) 70 745 60 427 23 505 19 119

Michael Hüsler (CFO) 30 002 30 002 6 908 6 908

Dr. René Imwinkelried  
(Head Research & Development) 11 047 9 447 4 578 2 978

Dr. Walter Kittl  
(Head Technical Operations) 24 054 23 951 5 497 5 354

Arnoud Middel (Head HR Group) 12 625 12 625 2 820 2 820

Marianne Späne  
(Head Business Development & Sales) 34 680 32 799 8 256 7 332

Dr. Wolfgang Wienand  
(Head Strategy & MA, Legal) 26 716 24 816 5 557 5 557

Peter Gehler (Head Corporate Center)1 5 891 5 891

Total 209 869 194 067 63 012 55 959

In % of share capital 5.06% 4.68% 1.66% 1.47%

1 Peter Gehler left the Executive Committee on October 31, 2014.
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7 Contractual agreements, loans, credits, and additional  
contributions

The employment contracts of Executive Committee members and the CEO are open-ended 
and provide for a notice period of six months. Board mandates are not subject to notice 
periods and terminate at the end of the regular, one-year term of office. There are no contrac-
tual agreements in place with respect to severance payments or special clauses for members  
of either the Executive Committee or Board of Directors.

The LTIP, which entered into effect on January 1, 2014 (see Section 4), stipulates that 

a) In the event of a change of control of Siegfried Holding AG, plan participants will, on the 
date of the change of control, receive a pro-rated number of shares for all PSUs granted for 
ongoing vesting periods. The number of shares to be distributed per PSU is calculated on the 
basis of a valuation method to be determined by the Board of Directors.

b) In the event of a takeover of Siegfried Holding AG which is not endorsed by the Board of 
Directors, shares are distributed to plan participants pro rata and on the basis of 100% target 
achievement as per the date of change of control for all LTIP PSUs of an ongoing vesting 
period. The pro-rata entitlement is calculated from the grant date of the PSUs until the date  
of the change of control.

As of December 31, 2014, Siegfried Holding AG and its Group companies do not have any 
outstanding securities, loans, advances or credits to members of the Board of Directors or  
the Executive Committee of Siegfried Holding AG. Further, there were no securities, loans, 
advances or credits granted at non-market rates to persons affiliated with current members  
of the Executive Committee or Board of Directors or to former members of the Executive 
Committee or Board of Directors; nor are there any such commitments outstanding as per 
December 31, 2014.
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8 Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the accompanying remuneration report (tables on pages 82, 83, 84 and 86 
as well as page 88) of Siegfried Holding AG for the year ended 31 December 2014.

Board of Directors’ responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and overall fair presentation of  
the remuneration report in accordance with Swiss law and the Ordinance against Excessive 
Compensation in Stock Exchange Listed Companies (Ordinance). The Board of Directors  
is also responsible for designing the remuneration system and defining individual remunera-
tion packages.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the accompanying remuneration report.  
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to  
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the remuneration report complies with Swiss  
law and articles 14 – 16 of the Ordinance.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence on the disclosures made in 
the remuneration report with regard to compensation, loans and credits in accordance with 
articles 14 – 16 of the Ordinance. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatements in the remuneration report, 
whether due to fraud or error. This audit also includes evaluating the reasonableness of the 
methods applied to value components of remuneration, as well as assessing the overall 
presentation of the remuneration report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the remuneration report of Siegfried Holding AG for the year ended 31 Decem-
ber 2014 complies with Swiss law and articles 14–16 of the Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Gerd Tritschler Wouter van Brandwijk
Audit Expert Audit Expert
Auditor in charge

Basel, March 2, 2015

To the General Meeting  
of Siegfried Holding AG,  
Zofingen 



Top in benchmark ratings
The facility in Malta as well as those in Zofingen, Pennsville and Irvine  
were rated in the top 10% regarding plant safety and fire prevention.
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Siegfried, a formerly fully integrated pharma  
company, still produces active pharmaceutical  
ingredients and finished dosage forms  
under one roof. This combination represents an   
attractive market opportunity for the long-term  
viability of the company and the jobs we provide. 
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Within the range of relevant sustainability 
topics, Siegfried focuses on compliance 
and quality, safety, health, and environment 
(SHE), and our responsibility as an employer. 
—

Siegfried offers a capability unique in our market: the development and production of active 
pharmaceutical ingredients and finished dosage forms under one roof. Both competencies  
are based on the same compliance system. The combination of synthesis and formulation 
represents an attractive market opportunity for the long-term viability of the company and 
jobs. These strengths are the cornerstone of our efforts and communication activities of our 
“Transform” strategy. It is also evident in our significant infrastructure investments.

Sustainability Report
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Corporate Principles 

Corporate governance
The Siegfried Group takes an integrated approach to corporate governance and is committed 
to mutual trust and transparence toward customers, shareholders, employees, the media  
and financial analysts. Our experience with the SIX Swiss Exchange guidelines have shown 
that our efforts must focus on sound and long-term relationships with all stakeholders  
and a reasonable application of the relevant instruments. Corporate governance at Siegfried 
is based on the statutes of Siegfried Holding AG, the rules of procedure of the Siegfried 
Group, and the Group structure. The corporate governance report in this Annual Report 
(page 43ff) describes the principles of management and control of the Siegfried Group. 
Corporate governance within the Siegfried Group adheres essentially to the “Swiss Code 
of Best Practice” and is regularly reviewed and upgraded by the Board of Directors. The 
Board is the ultimate body responsible for the content and implementation of our corporate 
governance guidelines. 

Structural foundation
The Board of Directors and the Executive Committee are the highest institutions responsible  
for the implementation and maintenance of all sustainability policies and guidelines.  
The  Compliance Committee, along with the Chief Compliance Officer, is responsible for the 
 implementation of compliance and quality standards, and for issues concerning safety,  
health and environment. The Chief Communications Officer supervises the Code of Conduct.
See: http://www.siegfried.ch/about-siegfried/about-us/code-of-conduct

Stakeholders
Customers, employees, shareholders, investors and regulatory authorities are  Siegfried’s key 
stakeholders. The public and our vendors are further stakeholders. 

Markets
Siegfried is a globally active service provider to the life science industry. This includes inter-
national chemical and pharmaceutical companies that outsource development and pro-
duction activities, or producers of finished dosage forms that buy active pharmaceutical 
ingredients from us.

About the report
Whenever possible and relevant, this report is based on the guidelines of the Global Report-
ing Initiative (GRI). If not noted elsewhere, the comments made in this report are valid for  
the entire Siegfried Group. Any questions and comments about the report can be submitted 
to Peter A. Gehler, Chief Communications Officer (peter.gehler@siegfried.ch).

Siegfried’s Corporate Governance 
follows the “Swiss Code of Best 
Practice” and is regularly reviewed 
and upgraded by the Board of 
Directors.
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Compliance

Siegfried is committed to quality-oriented management and the ongoing improvement of all 
company processes and activities. Our quality policy is an integral part of the corporate policy. 
Audits and inspections confirm the value of compliance and quality. The results of customer 
audits and regulatory inspections confirm our capabilities.

Policies
Siegfried has created a comprehensive quality management system throughout the value  
chain. Based on the procedures set by ISO 9001 (quality management) and  
ISO 14001 (environmental management), it covers the following international guidelines: 
 – Current Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP)  
http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/sectors/healthcare/human-use

 – International Conference on Harmonization (ICH), defines standards by pharmaceutical 
authorities and industry associations in the USA, Europe, and Japan (www.ich.org)

 – World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines (www.who.int)

The Compliance Committee (ComCom), comprised of members of Executive Committee, all 
site managers and the corresponding quality managers, meets every month under the 
direction of the Chief Compliance Officer, Dr. Peter Kiechle, to discuss quality issues. Quality-
related decisions are made by the ComCom, which also approves Siegfried’s worldwide 
guidelines. At the end of 2014, the Siegfried Group had 27 guidelines, dealing mainly with 
quality issues but also in areas of finance, safety, health and environment (SHE), pharmacovigi-
lance (drug safety), communications and employee conduct (Code of Conduct).

Integration of Siegfried Irvine and Siegfried Nantong
Integration of AMP Irvine into the Siegfried quality management system began in 2013 and 
was continued through 2014. As a result, the Irvine site has made significant progress in 2014.

Siegfried was confronted with special challenges in Nantong, considering that a sustainable 
quality management system had to be developed from scratch. The rich body of experience 
available in the parent company rendered invaluable assistance. This concerns both  
the necessary cGMP documents and qualification and validation concepts as well as direct 
support provided by experienced colleagues from Zofingen and Pennsville, who helped 
expedite implementation on site. First customer audits and authority inspections in 2015 will 
show whether we have reached the ambitious objectives.

Siegfried has created  
a  comprehensive quality 
 management system  
throughout the value chain.
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Inspections and audits
As is customary in the pharmaceutical industry, all Siegfried sites are constantly monitored 
through inspections (by regulatory authorities), audits (by customers, or by Siegfried  
at suppliers), and internal audits. Customer and supplier audits are planned in advance. 
Inspections by regulatory authorities and internal audits can occur without notice.

In general, regulatory inspections are carried out:
 –  In the USA by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and by the Drug Enforcement 
Administration (DEA) when narcotics are involved

 – In Switzerland by Swissmedic (inspections are carried out by Regional Inspectorate 
 Northwest Switzerland [RHI]) and the US FDA

 –  In Malta by the Medicines Authority Malta (MAM) and the US FDA
 –  In Germany by the regional authorities 

In 2014, GMP inspections by the authorities took place at all sites with positive results.  
The licenses were approved or renewed by the relevant authorities. 
http://www.siegfried.ch/competences/compliance/compliance-history/?L=ifxxbjbapuds

Undergoing hundreds of successful inspections and audits over the past years (a total of 94  
in 2014 just in Zofingen) allowed Siegfried to measure itself against other company systems 
and regulatory demands and draw instructive conclusions about our application of the 
guidelines. This creates the security for our quality management system and, moreover, it 
serves as a convincing platform to convince our customers of our capabilities. 2015 is 
expected to be another intense year for customer audits and inspections.

Qualifying suppliers and service providers
Raw materials, pharmaceutical excipients and packaging materials, intermediates and, 
occasionally, active pharmaceutical ingredients are often purchased from foreign suppliers. 
Siegfried is responsible for the qualification of such suppliers and maintains a corresponding 
audit system that meets binding quality standards. This is done through supplier question-
naires, ongoing quality control of the materials and also audits at the manufacturing site. 
Our manufacturers are located mainly in Europe, India, China, and Taiwan. In 2014, we  
carried out over 40 audits of our suppliers and service providers. 

audits did we carry out  
with our suppliers  
and service providers.

40
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Quality demands and quality certificates
The number of inspections and certificates / statements carried out by the pharmaceutical 
industry continues to grow. This is due to increased quality awareness and quality require-
ments as well as accidents, counterfeiting, and sub-standard mixtures. In addition to the 
traditional analysis certificates (with information on appearance, content, purity, physical 
characteristics, and the GMP-conform manufacturing of our products), data and certificates 
are now also needed for: 
 – Genotoxic impurities
 – Heparin adulteration
 – Presence of any genetically modified components
 – Presence of TSE / BSE, melamine, benzene, etc.

Siegfried works closely with the US FDA to prevent product piracy to ensure safety for the 
end user. 

Pharmacovigilance (Reporting system for pharmacological side effects)
Ongoing and systematic surveillance of drug safety is needed not only during clinical testing, 
but also after registration to identify, evaluate, and understand any undesirable side effects, 
and implement necessary risk-minimizing measures. 

Customer satisfaction 
Siegfried maintains an official customer complaint system to process all inquiries and com-
plaints. All questions and complaints, whether justified or not, are systematically registered 
and evaluated. The type and number of complaints are recorded and the individual cases  
are evaluated and discussed by a quality committee under the direction of the local quality 
assurance manager. If necessary, changes are implemented. The Compliance Committee is 
consulted on critical or strategic issues. The results of the investigation, or at least intermedi-
ate reports, are communicated to the customer within 30 days. The number of observations 
resulting from audits over the past few years continues to drop. On average, Siegfried 
receives a customer audit every week in Zofingen. Pennsville and Malta are also very stable 
and reported no significant issues.

Quality contracts with customers 
The obligatory quality agreements between Siegfried and our customers are a growing 
challenge. Customer requirements continue to grow, tighter deadlines are set and even the 
integration of specific customer standards can be required. With over 100 active customer 
accounts, running numerous quality management systems simultaneously is not practical. For 
Siegfried, this means maintaining a sophisticated quality management system that meets  
a range of customer demands. For 2014, eighty quality contracts were signed with our 
partners by the Zofingen, Malta and Pennsville sites. About 130 quality contracts remain in 
the pipeline and will be reviewed or negotiated in 2015.

quality contracts remain in  
the pipeline and will be reviewed  
of negotiated in 2015.

130
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Good Distribution Practices (GDP) 
Since the introduction of new international guidelines in 2013, Good Distribution Practices 
have gained in importance. These Practices will protect the complete materials supply chain of 
producer / supplier to Siegfried and Siegfried to our customers from counterfeiting and 
improper storage. Siegfried must also ensure that goods are actually delivered into the hands 
of the correct recipients, which means adapting and adding new SAP processes, and also 
closely monitoring our logistics providers.

Goals and outlook 
Our current Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) standards and reputation for quality are 
recognized around the world. Siegfried is well aware that it is better to maintain high 
standards than to restore an injured company image. For Siegfried, particular challenges will 
be the complete implementation of an efficient quality management system in Nantong  
and a positive outcome of authority inspections there, as well as the integration of the Hameln 
Pharma subsidiary acquired end 2014. 

Safety, Health and Environmental Protection (SHE)

Awareness of safety, health, and environment (SHE) issues is a priority for Siegfried and a 
central element of our corporate mission. These guidelines help our employees and specialist 
teams to continually improve safety and minimize adverse environmental effects. As a 
chemical-pharmaceutical company and leading provider of controlled substances, Siegfried 
puts great emphasis on plant security. Working closely with professional service partners, 
technical specialists monitor the factory sites and supervise the company’s central  
alarm system around the clock. Total costs and investments in safety, health, environmental 
protection and plant security amount to many million Swiss francs annually. 

Policy guidelines and key figures
Siegfried is a member of the “Science Industries Switzerland” association and also signed  
the Responsible Care® program in 1992. Based on these principles, our internal SHE guidelines 
are continually updated and amended. They were compiled as a global SHE policy in 2006 
and implemented at all sites. This policy outlines the Siegfried safety, health and environmental 
philosophy.

Siegfried uses Key Process Indicators (KPI) in the areas of SHE to control management 
processes and enable goal evaluation. Using established data, we report below on our 
activities in a comprehensive SHE overview at Siegfried. Under our reports on workplace 
accidents and results, the data on “Workplace accidents & workplace sickness” and “Work-
place accidents and absences” have been expanded with an additional column: “Accident 
points”. In addition to accidents with persons, this column takes property and environmental 
damage into account. For further information see: http://www.siegfried.ch/competences/
compliance/safety-health-environment
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Safety and health
Risk management
Efficient and safe chemical processes are two key elements of process development. All 
chemical procedures undergo a safety and environmental analysis during process development. 
Our internal safety lab has well-trained specialists and the newest measurement instruments 
for physical and thermal materials testing. Flammability, danger of explosion, and performance 
of reactions during normal operations and in case of accidents are tested and evaluated.  
The findings are summarized in a SHE report and evaluated as part of a process risk analysis.

As part of our accident prevention measures, accident scenarios in production, storage and 
internal transport of chemical substances undergo a comprehensive risk analysis. The results 
are summarized in a report and reviewed by the regulatory authorities during their annual 
inspection. For emergency situations, Siegfried maintains emergency response teams in Zofingen 
to respond to explosions, fires or chemical incidents. The Zofingen HAZMAT (hazardous 
materials) and firefighting teams have over 100 volunteers from all departments. As an 
additional assignment and mandated by the canton of Aargau, this organization is also the 
official HAZMAT response team for incidents outside our facility.

In 2014, based on the site development at Zofingen, environmental risks were comprehen-
sively evaluated within the parameters of an environmental impact assessment (EIP). The 
report demonstrates that the requirements specified by legislation concerning environmental 
protection are being adhered to in all aspects. The company’s production procedures 
conform to environmental legislation, and no substantial effects on the population or the 
environment are to be expected. 

Workplace safety
Siegfried strives to promote a company culture with zero tolerance for accidents. This vision 
led to the global launch of the Siegfried Safety Program in 2006, with the goal of raising 
safety awareness among all employees. After five years, management decided to launch a new 
global safety initiative to further promote safety awareness. Working with the experts  
from DuPont Sustainable Solutions, the renowned DuPont STOP™ Program was introduced 
at all Siegfried facilities during the past year. This program focuses on cultivating safe 
employee behavior habits: “Every employee must develop heightened safety awareness and 
take responsibility for safely carrying out any activity – for their own safety and the safety  
of their colleagues.” The ambitious goal of this initiative is to lower the accident rate by 80% 
by 2017 (compared to 2012 levels). In Zofingen, also the third-party companies actively 
participate in the program. 

lower accident rate by  
2017 (compared to 2012) –  
an ambitious goal.

80%
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By end 2014, a total of 150 employees participated in training within the parameters of the 
STOP™ Program. The training sharpens the participants’ safety awareness and puts  
them in a position to hold structured dialogs on the topic of safety with their colleagues and 
subordinates. These dialogs represent the actual core of the initiative as safety is being 
actively and repeatedly addressed. The idea of this is not only to observe and define short-
comings, but also to identify and praise good behavior and positive conditions. In 2014,  
more than 1200 such dialogs took place at the participating sites. 

Number of participants at STOPTM-Program 2014 (total) 145

New participants 2014 26

Total number of safety dialogs 1 500

Individual observations 47 000

Observations rated “safe” 45 600

Observations rated “unsafe” 1 400

In addition, 2014 was the year of a company-wide campaign for the introduction of  
five cardinal rules. These rules address significant risks. Their observation is mandatory for  
all employees, and non-observance will have disciplinary consequences: 

 – Consistent use of personal protective equipment
 – Completion of required safety training before start of employment
 – Fall protection when working at heights of two meters or higher 
 – Securing of production plant before beginning with maintenance work
 – Removal or bridging of safety installations are not permitted

Last year, the main topic in Zofingen concerned a safety initiative focusing on safe work  
in heights. Various measures were initiated to prevent serious occupational accidents:

 – Training of employees to deal with their personal protective equipment to prevent a fall
 – Procuring various support and safety materials 
 – Securing roof-lights to prevent collapse
 – Procurement of a mobile elevating working platform for repair and maintenance work
 – Retrofitting attic floors with fixed fall protection

In view of improving occupational safety, a work group developed a concept concerning  
safe entrance and work in chemical reactors and storage tanks in Zofingen. To facilitate fast 
assistance in an emergency case, a new mobile rescue system was introduced. 

Owing to vigorous construction activity on the Zofingen site, the function of a construction 
site safety coordinator was created. 

employees participated in  
training within the parameters  
of the STOPTM Program.

150
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Audits
During 2014, regulatory agencies, insurance companies and customers inspected all Siegfried 
facilities. The inspectors and customers certified that Siegfried has a well-integrated risk  
and environmental management system. No irregularities were noted during the risk analysis 
carried out by HDI Gerling, an insurance company. Zofingen, Malta, Irvine and Pennsville 
met all liability compliance guidelines for plant safety and fire prevention; these facilities were 
rated in the top 10% in the risk benchmark ratings. The new facility in Nantong successfully 
passed inspections by the local authorities and consequently received operating approval.

A system of internal audits and safety walkabouts in Zofingen and Pennsville is well established 
since 2005. Over 100 internal safety and environmental audits were carried out at both 
facilities. The audit teams suggested over 150 corrective measures for Zofingen, of which 
more than 80% were successfully implemented in 2014.

Events, occupational accidents and occupational diseases
As part of an overall risk analysis, our accident statistics since 2013 are now complemented 
with “accident points” that take property damage and environmental effects into 
 consideration. The accident points are rated as follows:
 – Missed workday = 1 point
 – Accident / sickness without missed workday = 1
 – Event with significant property damage or environmental effects = 0.5

This helps Siegfried improve the transparency of our workplace accident reports. The chart 
lists a comparison of the sites in 2014. Our goal of less than 55 accident points per one 
million working hours was undercut in three production sites. 

The accident statistics of the individual sites for 2014 are shown as follows: 

The facilities in Zofingen, Malta and 
Pennsville were rated in the top 
10% in the risk benchmark ratings 
carried out by HDI Gerling.

Top10%
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For the first time, Nantong was included in the evaluation for a 12-month period and 
fortunately recorded only one occupational accident. The accident balance was extremely 
positive owing to a very restrictive monitoring system connected with fines in case  
of violation of rules and despite a high number of external construction workers (several 
hundred). 

In Irvine, the number of occupational accidents per 1000 employees was halved from 16 the 
previous year to 8 in 2014. In Zofingen, the previous year’s trend showing a clear reduction  
of accidents was not repeated. With a total of 18 occupational accidents per 1000 employees 
Siegfried is clearly lower than the norm of the chemical and pharmaceutical industry  
in Switzerland (2013: 24 accidents). In Pennsville and Malta, the number of accidents rose 
sharply to more than 30 accidents per 1000 employees. 

At group level, Siegfried across the past three years was able to reduce the number of 
occupational accidents by 60%. The company reports two occupational accidents with 
long-term absences of several weeks. while the remaining occupational accidents caused 
absences of less than one week. 

Accidents  /  1000 FTE Corporate Zofingen Pennsville Malta Irvine Nantong

2012 38 38 47 14 n / a n / a

2013 12 17 13 7 16 0

2014 14 18 37 30 8 1

Accident points  /  million working hours Corporate Zofingen Pennsville Malta Irvine Nantong

2012 70 90 31 8 50 n / a

2013 38 58 17 4 96 0

2014 33 60 42 70 22 2

Health
Siegfried uses process technologies with different containment systems for the handling  
of high-potency APIs and finished dosage forms. Closed substance handling systems protect 
employees from excessive contamination and additional protective clothing with breathing 
systems is available to provide security at any time. Decontamination zones, airlocks and des- 
ignated changing rooms are all set up to minimize the possibility of substance contamina-
tion. Our SHE department periodically monitors and evaluates the maintenance of workplace 
threshold levels and the efficacy of the technical installations.

Siegfried across the past 
three years was able to 
reduce the number of 
occupational accidents by 
60% at group level,

60%
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A workplace hygiene expert answers questions about workplace hygiene; workplace evalua-
tions and classification of production systems are also monitored. The results are summarized 
in a systems evaluation registry. 

The correct use of protective equipment at the workplace is constantly trained. Our  
SHE department provides on-site training support and our internal workplace safety team 
constantly evaluates new personal protective equipment used in various applications,  
tests skin care products and compiles the resulting information in an internal “personal 
protection tools catalog”.

In 2014, several dozen employees took advantage of a free vaccination campaign in connection 
with the annual influenza prophylaxis. As part of the medical care program mandated by 
SUVA, about 200 employees received checkups and had their fitness for work evaluated by 
the Institute for Workplace Medicine (ifa Baden). 

Activities such as soccer, tennis, hiking, shooting and bowling are offered to all employees  
by the Siegfried sports club to promote fitness.

Goals and outlook
The duties and goals for 2015 in the areas of safety and health include:
 – Reduction of events and workplace accidents, global continuation of the STOPTM safety 
program as well as realization of events and campaigns to enhance workplace safety 
awareness and promote better health across all levels in the company

 – Quick reintegration of injured employees by means of alternative workplaces
 – Optimization of in-house health management efforts
 – Modernization of fire alarm monitoring and building evacuation procedures in Zofingen
 – Harmonization of the information systems for hazardous materials across all facilities
 – Revision of the safety and environmental training concepts in Zofingen, implementation  
of identical safety and health standards currently in use in Pennsville, Malta, and Zofingen 
at our facilities in Irvine, California, and Nantong, China

 – Implementation of the global SHE philosophy in the new pharmaceutical facility in Hameln, 
Germany
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Environmental Protection 

Siegfried strives to limit harmful environmental activities, i.e. we work to minimize energy 
consumption, emissions and waste generation.

The product mix changes from year to year. Figures of relevance to the environment depend 
strongly on product mix and on capacity utilization. Processes for the production of active 
pharmaceutical ingredients can include a single chemical stage, or feature more than a dozen 
process steps. The environmental effects vary correspondingly. The report reflects figures  
for the Zofingen, Pennsville, Irvine and Malta plants. Absolute levels for energy and water 
consumption are reported lower than for the previous year. Whereas levels standardized  
for production volume remained practically unchanged, those for sales volume are lower. The 
total amount of waste (including chemical wastes) decreased significantly by 15% in 2014. 
Waste generated by chemical production decreased faster (– 20%) than general waste. This 
stands in contrast to the growth of waste from non-chemical processes (+ 40%). While the 
emissions of volatile organic compounds (VOC) remains low, it grew by nearly 29% compared 
to the previous year but stayed below the median of the last five years. The level of CO2 
emissions decreased slightly compared to last year.

At the Malta site, Siegfried installed solar panels to contribute positively to the protection  
of the environment. 1400 meters squared of roof have been utilized, approximately 50% of 
the total manufacturing area roof. A total of 844 panels have been installed with a peak 
power of 215 kW and an average annual expected output of 319 MWh of power contributing 
to a savings of 233 tons of CO2 emissions.

A VOC balance sheet for 2014 was also created for Zofingen and sent to local authorities  
and a report was made for the SwissPRTR (Swiss Pollutant Release and Transfer Register).  
See: http://www.prtr.admin.ch/

Energy consumption
Compared to the previous year total energy consumption in 2014 decreased by 0.8%. The 
decrease is connected with lower plant utilization. Energy consumption in Zofingen decreased 
by 5.9% thanks to substantially lower gas and electricity needs. In contrast, energy con-
sumption in Pennsville grew by 7% in 2014, mainly due to a 50% growth in production volume. 
Diesel oil consumption in Zofingen dropped sharply in 2014, as an increasing number of 
electrical fork-lift vehicles replace the older diesel models.

Total energy consumption 
decreased in 2014.

0.8%
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Emissions
In 2014, slightly lower levels of CO2 emissions, which are of relevance to the climate,  
were measured compared to the previous year. The CO2 emissions for Pennsville were slightly 
higher than the previous year. The emissions of VOCs (hydrocarbons) rose by 29%; an 
increase was ascertained in both Zofingen and Pennsville. The rise in Zofingen is connected 
mainly with a longer outage of the thermal waste air purification plant for maintenance 
reasons. 

Water consumption
In 2014, water consumption decreased by 1.5%. While the consumption fell by 1.9% at  
the Zofingen headquarters, it rose by 13.3% at the Pennsville site. As in the previous year, the 
amount of cooling water increased again in Zofingen (+ 2.6%). While the level of industrial 
waste water grew by 2.5%, that of sanitary waste water fell by a considerable 25%. In 2014, 
the waste water pollution levels (organic carbon or TOC) at the Zofingen site decreased by 
16.4% compared to the previous year, while Pennsville reported an increase of 15.6%. 

Waste
The total amount of waste generated by all four production sites was 13 500 tons, or more 
than 2000 tons less compared to 2013, representing a decrease of 15%. At the Zofingen site, 
the amount of waste declined in nearly all waste categories. The strongest decrease was 
noticeable in waste solvents (– 33%), and normal waste fell by the same percentage share. 
The reverse was true for Pennsville where nearly all waste categories grew compared to 2013. 
On the positive side, the amount of material suitable for recycling in 2014 nearly doubled. 
Natural resources are conserved when solvents used in production are recycled. Depending 
on the solvent, cost savings can also be achieved through recycling. The ratio of recycled 
solvents compared to waste solvents grew from 0.20 to 0.21. The ratio thus remains within 
the desired range. The share of recycled solvents is influenced by technical and regulatory 
hurdles. 

Goals and outlook
The absolute environmental data for 2014 improved considerably when compared to the 
previous year.
Specific goals for 2015 include:
 – Implementation of environmental concept for the new Zofingen production building
 – Reduction of water consumption per unit of production
 – Improved monitoring of environmental key performance indicators at all production sites
 – Replacement of old (energy-inefficient) infrastructure in Zofingen, including construction  
start of new logistics center

 – Integration of key performance indicators of new Siegfried sites in Nantong and Hameln

The total amount of waste 
decreased significantly by  
15% in 2014. 

15%
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Key environmental figures

Unit 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Energy consumption

Total energy GJ 400 000 403 300 396 100 389 100 377 700

Natural gas GJ 210 400 216 400 209 600 210 200 194 200

Heating oil GJ 4 400 5 500 5 500 3 900 6 800

Alternative fuels (solvents) GJ 27 300 21 800 34 000 33 400 32 900

Electricity GJ 145 600 147 000 134 700 131 000 130 800

Emissions

CO2 emissions Tons 15 000 15 100 16 200 15 900 15 400

VOC emissions Tons 16 12 14 15 28

Water / sewage

Water consumption m3 2 071 000 2 103 000 2 047 000 1 951 000 1 700 000

Zofingen m3 1 937 000 1 973 000 1 937 000 1 847 000 1 583 000

Pennsville m3 113 600 100 200 103 000 100 900 113 400

TOC emissions Tons 454 509 494 525 432

Zofingen Tons 351 420 403 438 342

Pennsville Tons 103 89 91 87 90

Waste 

Total waste1 Tons 13 500 15 900 15 700 14 000 12 100

Chemical waste Tons 11 700 14 600 14 700 13 200 11 200

Waste solvents Tons 10 400 13 900 13 200 11 000 9 300

Zofingen Tons 7 900 11 800 10 700 8 950 7 300

Pennsville Tons 2 580 2 100 2 480 2 070 2 000

Recycling

Reclaimed solvents Tons 2 150 2 720 3 330 4 230 2 960

Zofingen Tons 2 000 2 650 3 160 4 100 2 860

Pennsville Tons 153 65 164 131 107

Externally recycled wastes2 Tons 2 230 1 170 1 710 2 180 2 050

1 Excluding sewage sludge, chemical wastes, waste solvents and externally processed wastes (tallied under “Total waste”).
2 All externally processed wastes are listed under “Total waste”.
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Our Employees

Our guiding principle “expect more” is a commitment not only to our customers and sup- 
pliers, but especially to our employees. Highly qualified, experienced and motivated employees 
are crucial for success in the chemical and pharmaceutical industry. Our clients profit from 
highly motivated employees who use their know-how and experience to deliver excellent 
services and creative solutions every day. It is a Siegfried priority to be recognized as an 
attractive and reliable employer in all our markets and to recruit, develop and keep talented 
and motivated people. We strive to provide a work environment where employees can  
take on challenging jobs and responsibilities that best promote their personal and technical 
development and profit from the success of our company. This is the only way for us to 
provide the best services to our customers and master the increasingly competitive market 
and regulatory environment. A careful selection process and long-term commitment  
play a key role because lost know-how is difficult to replace and the initial training phase  
for new employees is significantly longer in our industry. Our relatively low employee  
turnover rate of 7.2% (2013: 7.2%) underlines our efforts in this area. 

Leadership – results-oriented and appreciative
The quality of our management is crucial for the success of our company and for employee 
satisfaction and motivation. We expect our management to set clear goals, delegate 
 responsibilities and help employees to work autonomously. Our performance management 
process is an essential management tool to help develop our employees and to live our 
entrepreneurial and performance-oriented corporate culture. It was revised for the 2014 
reporting year across all sites and functions. In addition to the individual goal-setting 
discussion at the start of the year and the performance review at the end of the year, this 
process also provides a status review for mid-year. Company, functional and individual  
goals are set for each employee, where the emphasis differs according to the individual’s 
functional level – for management the focus is on company goals, for employees more on 
individual goals. To strengthen a more uniform performance culture, “calibration meetings” 
are being carried out by management teams to evaluate and compare employee performance 
in the corresponding areas of each team. This process will ensure that performance reviews 
are even and impartial across the functional levels.
 
Communication – transparent and open 
Transparent communication at all Siegfried sites enhances among our employees the under-
standing of strategy and corporate goals and decisions. Information events and workshops  
are held at several times a year to help promote dialog and exchange of information between 
employees and management. These workshops serve to discuss current company news, 
strategy updates and other important topics. Subsequent to the management meetings,  
the information is disseminated to all employees. 

Demographics
Employees in %

above age 50
25.2

up to age 30 
17.2

between  
age 30 and 50 

57.6
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Diversity
in %

percentage 
male employees
67.5

percentage 
female employees 

32.5

Employee development – tailored and sustainable 
It is important for us to have qualified people at all levels and we promote management, 
specialist and project careers equally. An individually tailored training plan is set during  
the annual performance management process between employee and supervisor. These  
plans ensure that the qualifications and competencies of the employees meet the current  
and future requirements of the job and also prepare the employee for potential future roles 
within the company. Siegfried’s goal is to be able to recruit talented people internally – 
 especially young managers and leaders. 

Training and career start 
Every year, our apprenticeship program offers young people an attractive and solid career 
start. This program also makes an important contribution toward building the next generation 
of qualified employees. At the end of 2013, a total of 33 apprentices were in training at our 
Zofingen site alone:
– 15 chemical technologists
– 11 lab specialists (synthetic and analytical)
– 6 business apprentices
− 3 logisticians
– 1 IT specialist

In addition to technical training, we also promote the team spirit and social skills of the 
apprentices. The fact that more than half of our apprentices usually choose to stay  
with Siegfried after completing their apprenticeship confirms the value of our efforts and 
investments. Furthermore, we regularly offer internships for university students in various 
areas of spezialization and thereby provide professional experience to graduates.

Remuneration – market-driven and performance-based
Siegfried emphasizes fair remuneration and has established performance-based remuneration 
policies and structures; they promote an entrepreneurial mind-set and behavior. In 2014,  
a new salary and function appraisal system was introduced in Zofingen to support a more 
targeted implementation of the defined remuneration principles. Moreover, in 2014, the 
defined policies and systems were uniformly introduced at all Siegfried sites. In addition to 
performance and market-oriented basic remuneration, the company offers attractive fringe 
benefits to employees at all sites; they include our own pension fund, numerous discounts 
and additional services. Siegfried remuneration policies comply with all legal guidelines at all 
sites. Salary decisions are transparent and documented; especially gender and any other 
non-performance-related criteria have no influence on the individual remuneration. For further 
details see the Remuneration Report on page 69ff.
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Diversity and equal opportunities 
As a global company, we work in an international market and a multicultural environment. 
We consider diversity to be enriching for our company. We create a discrimination-free 
environment; discrimination based on gender, race or ethnic origin, religion, worldview or 
physical or mental disabilities is not tolerated. Our regulations (“Respectful and Responsible 
Toward Each Other”) shows how victims and witnesses can respond to discrimination and 
how they can find support within the company. We strive to prevent sexual harassment and 
mobbing at the workplace. Various trusted internal and external representatives are desig-
nated as employee contacts. 

Work-life balance
We believe that well-balanced employees are more successful and creative. Key elements are 
the possibility of flexible work hours, a minimum of 24 vacation days / year, part-time 
employment options, the possibility of unpaid leave of absence, a personnel restaurant with 
balanced and nutritional meals, preferred access to day care services in Zofingen and various 
other services. As a family-friendly company, from 2015, we shall introduce a ten-days 
paternity leave entitlement at our Zofingen site. 

Social partnership – cooperative and solution-focused 
At Siegfried, every employee has the right to employee representation and union member-
ship. Siegfried has a long tradition of cooperation with elected employee representatives  
in Switzerland, the USA and at the Hameln site through direct, transparent and constructive 
dialog with all employee and union representatives. Meetings held at regular intervals 
provide a platform for discussions about Siegfried’s business developments, workplace-related 
measures and collaboration on relevant personnel issues.

Social responsibilities
As a responsible employer, Siegfried is involved in social, cultural and sports events across 
Switzerland, with a particular focus on the Zofingen region (canton of Aargau). Siegfried 
dedicates a considerable annual budget to sponsor Swiss social projects, cultural events and 
sports organizations active in the region, especially projects that promote youth and 
 education issues, such as in the natural sciences. Furthermore, the company supports political 
parties that stand up for the industrial base in canton of Aargau and Zofingen. The 
 company is a member of “Science Industries Switzerland”. The Head Pharmapark Siegfried  
is also a Board member of the Aargau Chamber of Industry and Commerce and president  
of the Zofingen Regional Economic Association (WRZ).

In partnership with the University of Zurich, Siegfried sponsors the biennial Siegfried Medal 
as part of the international Siegfried Symposium. The award recognizes outstanding research 
in the field of chemical process development.

As a responsible employer, 
Siegfried is involved in social, 
cultural and sports events  
across Switzerland.
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Sustainability figures

Employees as per December 31 2014 2013

Zofingen, Switzerland FTE / total 476.0 486.7

 Production 164.2 173.0

Pennsville, USA FTE / total 168.4 168.6

 Production 74.0 72.0

Irvine, USA FTE / total 88.0 101.0

Production 34.0 45.0

Malta FTE / total 107.0 120.0

Nantong, China FTE / total 131.0 37.0

Munich, Germany FTE / total 3.5 3.5

Hameln, Germany FTE / total 399.7

Group FTE / total 1 373.6 916.8

Full-time employees FTE / % 1 283.0 93.4% 866.0 94.5%

Part-time employees FTE / % 90.6 6.6% 50.8 5.5%

Apprentices / number of apprentices  
of the total stock Number / % 55.8 4.1% 33.0 3.6%

Diversity

Female employees FTE / % 436.9 31.8% 258.0 28.1%

Male employees FTE / % 936.7 68.2% 658.8 71.9%

Women upper management FTE / % 6.0 0.4% 6.8 0.7%

Male upper management FTE / % 46.0 3.3% 31.0 3.4%

Women middle management FTE / % 71.5 5.2% 70.7 7.7%

Male middle management FTE / % 201.0 14.6% 155.0 16.9%

Demographics

Employees up to age 30 FTE / % 236.1 17.2% 175.9 19.2%

Employees between age 30 and age 50 FTE / % 785.2 57.2% 498.2 54.3%

Employees above age 50 FTE / % 352.3 25.6% 242.7 26.5%

Average age of employees Age 41.5 41.2

Attrition rate1

Exits / attrition rate female employees FTE / % 41.5 3.0% 23.3 2.5%

Exits / attrition rate male employees FTE / % 58.0 4.2% 42.8 4.7%

Total turnover rate FTE / % 99.5 7.2% 66.1 7.2%

Lost working days due to accidents 
and sickness

Lost working days due to work-related 
illness No. of days 0.0 0.0% 0.0 0.0%

Lost working days due to illness No. of days 5 162.7 84.3% 4 863.1 89.6%

Lost working days due to work- related 
accidents / quota of days lost No. of days / % 155.5 2.5% 134.1 2.5%

Lost working days due to not-work -re-
lated accidents / quota of days lost No. of days / % 805.5 13.2% 427.4 7.9%

Total lost working days No. of days / % 6 123.7 100.0% 5 424.6 100.0%

Lost working days per FTE Ø day per FTE / % 4.5 2.0% 5.9 2.7%

1 Attrition rate and lost working days without Hameln Site.



Acquisition of Hameln Pharma
Annualised, Hameln Pharma will contribute about  
one-sixth of the Siegfried Group’s sales.
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In 2014 Siegfried succeeded in further increasing  
the EBITDA margin and so taking an important step 
towards the target of 20%.  
—
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Key figures

 2014  2013 Change CHF (LC)

Net sales (million CHF) 315.3 374.9  – 15.9% (– 15.2%)

Gross profit (million CHF) 72.8 98.7 – 26.3%

 Gross profit margin (%) 23.1% 26.3%

EBITDA (million CHF) 58.8 65.6 – 10.4%

 EBITDA margin (%) 18.6% 17.5%

EBIT (operating result) (million CHF) 34.0 40.8 – 16.7%

 EBIT margin (%) 10.8% 10.9%

Net profit (million CHF) 38.6 53.9 – 28.4%

 Net profit-margin in percentage 12.2% 14.4%

Earnings per share (CHF) 9.97 15.07 – 33.9%

Diluted earnings per share (CHF) 9.92 13.73 – 27.7%

Cash flow from operating activities (million CHF) 24.6 67.5 – 63.5%

Investment in property, plant and equipment  
and intangible assets (million CHF) 82.0 51.9 58.1%

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 Change

Equity (million CHF) 382.8 362.4 5.6%

Total assets (million CHF) 629.6 537.8 17.1%

Equity as a percentage of total assets 60.8% 67.4%

Employees (number of full time equivalents) 1 374 917 49.8%
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Strategy implementation on track

In 2014 Siegfried generated net sales of CHF 315.3 million. Compared to the prior year this 
represents a decline of 15.9% in CHF or 15.2% in local currencies. Net sales of Drug Sub-
stances decreased by 14.5% (– 13.8% in local currencies) to CHF 234.4 million. Drug Products 
reported a decrease by 19.7% (– 18.9% in local currencies) to CHF 80.9 million. About half  
of the missing contribution margin was offset in the result by variablizing important blocks 
of costs.

On the other hand for Siegfried the year 2014 was very successful in new project acquisitions. 
Siegfried also made great progress in implementing its strategy. At the end of November 
2014 Siegfried acquired Hameln Pharma in Hameln, Germany. As it was consolidated for only  
one month, the acquisition effect was minor and adds only 1.9% (EUR 5.1 million) to sales. 
Annualised, Hameln Pharma will contribute about one-sixth of the Siegfried Group’s sales and, 
together with Alliance Medical Products acquired two years ago, will considerably strengthen 
Sterile Filling. As a result Sterile Filling will become an important pillar in our service offering. 
The build-up of the new location in Nantong (China) and of the new multi-purpose plant  
in Zofingen also advanced well.

Further improvement of the EBITA-margin

In 2014, Siegfried achieved an EBITDA of CHF 58.8 million (prior year CHF 65.5 million). The 
EBITDA margin improved by one percentage point to 18.6%. With this Siegfried is on course 
towards the targeted rate of 20%. Despite falling sales Siegfried has succeeded in improving 
the EBITDA margin thanks to the variabilisation of important blocks of costs. The EBIT margin 
of 10.8% is only a little below the prior year. The EBIT reached CHF 34.0 million (2013:  
CHF 40.8 million). 

Cost of goods sold fell to CHF 242.5 million as a result of lower sales. The result was a Gross 
profit of CHF 72.8 million on a Gross margin of 23.1% (prior year CHF 98.7 million with a 
margin of 26.3%). 

Marketing and sales costs of CHF 8.4 million were unchanged from the prior year. As a result  
of being able to charge more research and development services, research and development 
costs fell from CHF 23.1 million to CHF 21.3 million. Administration costs recorded a major 
reduction to CHF 17.1 million, more than half of which was the result of a lower charge for 
the Equity Ownership Plan (EOP), which expired at the end of 2013. Cost savings measures  
in 2014 further supported a reduction in administration costs. The other operating income of 
CHF 8.0 million is CHF 0.8 million below prior year. Following the sale of the investment in  
the Taiwanese SCI Pharmtech, Inc., in 2013 the corresponding positive result from associated 
companies, which in the prior year, contributed CHF 0.6 million to the operating result, falls 
away from 2014. 

Financial Commentary 2014
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Good Natural Hedge

In 2014 the US-Dollar and the Euro remained relatively stable compared with 2013, as  
each fell just slightly by one Swiss Cent. Siegfried still follows the strategy of achieving a 
 Natural Hedge that is as high as possible. In the past financial year this lay in US dollars  
by about 86% and in Euro even as high as 98%. This results in only a marginal negative 
effect of CHF 0.3 million on the 2014 operating result.

Crucial for Siegfried is the assessment of the foreign currency situation following the ending 
of the Euro lower limit by the Swiss National Bank in mid-January 2015. As already men-
tioned, Siegfried has a very high Natural Hedge. This applies unchanged also for the financial 
year 2015. With the acquisition of Hameln Pharma, sales and the cost portion in Euro will 
increase, accordingly the portion in US-Dollar and Swiss franc will decrease. Keeping the 
Natural Hedge remains an important challenge for Siegfried, including when acquiring new 
business. Siegfried has proved that in this respect it is well positioned, so that the effects 
on the operating results are likely to remain manageable.

Decline in net profit due to non-recurring effect in the prior year 

The financial result of CHF 2.2 million is made up of financing costs and financial expense  
of CHF 3.3 million, financial income of CHF 0.2 million and a positive foreign exchange result 
of CHF 0.9 million. Including a positive tax result of CHF 6.8 million, the net profit amounts to 
CHF 38.6 million with a net profit margin of 12.2%. In the prior year the result was a net profit 
of CHF 53.9 million with a margin of 14.4%. However, this included the non-recurring effect 
from the sale of the investment in SCI Pharmtech, Inc., Taiwan, in the amount of CHF 11.3 mil-
lion. The net profit represents earnings per share (EPS) of CHF 9.97 and a diluted earnings  
per share of CHF 9.92 (2013: EPS CHF 15.07, diluted EPS CHF 13.73; these figures also include 
the non-recurring effect). 

High Investments- and Acquisitions activities

In 2014 Siegfried generated an operating cash flow before changes in net working capital  
of CHF 58.1 million (prior year CHF 64.3 million). Including changes in net working capital  
the operating cash flow was CHF 24.6 million (prior year CHF 67.5 million). During the year 
the net working capital increased, firstly the very low inventories at the beginning of the year 
were built up again and secondly the high sales in the fourth quarter are still partially 
reflected in the books as accounts receivable. 
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The years 2013, 2014 and 2015 are impacted by high investments in fixed assets, above  
all in the new factory in Nantong, China, and in the new multi-purpose plant in Zofingen.  
In 2014, investments in fixed assets amounted to CHF 81.9 million (2013: CHF 47.7 million)  
in the aggregate. CHF 41.0 million relate to Nantong, CHF 19.1 million to the new multi-pur-
pose plant in Zofingen. A further new investment was made in Pennsville, USA in a new  
and markedly larger and more efficient Spray Dryer, which commenced operations during 
2014. This investment amounted to CHF 7.0 million, about half of which was incurred  
in 2014. 

The cash flow for investing activities reflects the acquisition of Hameln Pharma in the 
amount of CHF 52.3 million, of which CHF 46.3 million was paid in cash and CHF 6.0 million  
in Siegfried shares. Finally the earn-out payment to the former owner of Alliance Medical 
Products, Inc. in the amount of CHF 13.2 million is included. In total the cash flow for investing 
activities amounted to CHF 141.5 million. 

The acquisition of Hameln Pharma was financed by means of the syndicated loan in EUR.  
This ensures that investment and future cash flows are currency congruent. The financing of 
the acquisition can be seen in the cash flow from financing activities. As a result at the end  
of 2014 net debt reached CHF 85.2 million. At the end of 2014 CHF 50.2 million was held  
in cash and gross loans amounting to CHF 135.4 million were outstanding. Also included  
in the cash flow from financing activities is the dividend of CHF 1.50 per registered share  
or in total CHF 6.0 million. While net debt and net debt ratio have increased as a result  
of the recent acquisition, the net debt in relation to EBITDA at 1.4 still lies in a comfortable 
range as far as the financial covenants are concerned. 

Michael Hüsler
CFO
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

In 1 000 CHF (as of December 31) Notes*  2014  2013

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 2 314 927 208 407

Intangible assets 3 9 489 9 565

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures 4 593 580

Financial and other non-current assets 5 116 158

Employer contribution reserves 17 8 726 8 466

Deferred tax assets 22 291 13 200

Total non-current assets 356 142 240 376

Current assets

Inventories 7 123 159 99 122

Trade receivables 8 68 806 61 966

Other current assets 23 544 3 916

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 7 629 4 497

Current income taxes 68 42

Derivative financial instruments 9 – 512

Cash 50 224 127 341

Total current assets 273 430 297 396

Total assets 629 572 537 772

Liabilities and equity  

Equity

Share capital 8 300 7 600

Treasury shares – 19 236 – 33 421

Capital reserves 85 739 61 479

Retained earnings 307 965 326 775

Total equity 382 768 362 433

Non-current liabilities

Non-current financial liabilities 12 113 241 59 700

Non-current provisions 13 9 073 10 687

Deferred tax liabilities 4 305 3 799

Other non-current liabilities 14 12 959 2 137

Non-current pension liabilities 149 163

Total non-current liabilities 139 727 76 486

Current liabilities

Trade payables 43 971 30 952

Other current liabilities 16 9 765 23 232

Accrued expenses and deferred income 15 22 199 14 905

Other current financial liabilities 12 22 147 17 235

Derivative financial instruments 9 353 258

Current pension liabilities 17 554 612

Current provisions 13 7 947 11 409

Current income tax liabilities 140 250

Total current liabilities 107 076 98 853

Total liabilities 246 803 175 339

Total liabilities and equity 629 572 537 772

*  The notes on pages 121−147 are an integral part of the Group Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Income Statement

In 1 000 CHF (for the years ended December 31) Notes*  2014  2013

Net sales 27 315 282 374 940

Cost of goods sold – 242 517 – 276 192

Gross profit 72 765 98 748

Marketing and sales costs – 8 366 – 8 436

Research and development costs – 21 277 – 23 118

Administration and general overhead costs – 17 082 – 35 716

Other operating income 19 8 007 8 767

Share of results of associated companies – 42 594

Operating result 34 005 40 839

Financial income 20 171 11 833

Financial expenses 20 – 3 318 – 3 071

Exchange rate differences 20 928 655

Profit before income taxes 31 786 50 256

Income taxes 6 6 770 3 595

Net profit 38 556 53 851

Earnings per share (CHF) 22 9.97 15.07

Diluted earnings per share (CHF) 22 9.92 13.73

*  The notes on pages 121 − 147 are an integral part of the Group Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

In 1 000 CHF (for the years ended December 31) Notes*  2014  2013

Net profit 38 556 53 851

Adjustments:

Depreciation and impairment of PP&E and intangible assets 2,3 24 790 24 803

Change in provisions 13 – 601 199

Other non-cash items1 – 3 749 – 10 116

Share-based payments 18 3 570 11 943

Exchange rate differences – 928 – 655

Financial income – 171 – 11 833

Financial expenses 3 321 3 071

Income taxes – 6 771 – 3 595

Share of results of associated companies 42 – 594

Net result on disposal of property, plant and equipment – – 2 818

Cash flow from operating activities  
before change in net current assets 58 059 64 256

Change in trade receivables 673 – 7 250

Change in other current assets – 19 613 – 1 689

Change in inventories – 7 215 21 869

Change in trade payables – 2 803 – 7 961

Change in other current liabilities 591 4 354

Payments out of provisions – 4 559 – 5 460

Income taxes paid – 491 – 592

Cash flow from operating activities 24 642 67 529

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 2 – 81 889 – 47 726

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 78 7 827

Purchase of intangible and other assets 3 – 124 – 4 145

Acquisition of group companies 16, 21 – 59 460 –

Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets – 77 – 83

Sale of available-for-sale financial assets – 18 048

Interest received 15 51

Dividend received – 307

Cash flow from investing activities – 141 457 – 25 721

Increase in financial liabilities 12 48 145 31 762

Purchase/disposal of treasury shares, net – 783 – 12 198

Interest paid and bank charges – 1 934 – 2 258

Dividend to the shareholders of Siegfried Holding AG – 5 931 – 4 284

Cash flow from financing activities 39 497 13 022

Net change in cash – 77 318 54 830

Cash at the beginning of the year 127 341 73 310

Net effect of exchange rate changes on cash 201 – 799

Cash at the end of the year 50 224 127 341

*  The notes on pages 121 − 147 are an integral part of the Group Financial Statements.
1  Other non-cash items mainly include significant releases of accrued income out of projects, certain postings from employee benefits and non-cash movements on accruals. 
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The share capital of Siegfried Holding AG increased from CHF 7.6 million to CHF 8.3 million.  
It is divided into 4 150 000 registered shares each with a nominal value of CHF 2 (2013: 
3 800 000 registered shares) see Note 11. 
 
All fully consolidated investments are held to 100% by the Group. Therefore, at year end,  
as in the previous year the Group had no minorities of third parties.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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As of January 1, 2013 7 600 – 20 442 65 762 – 20 331 466 – 68 014 316 351

Net profit – – – – 53 851 – 53 851

Dividends – – – 4 283 – – – – 4 283

Changes in financial instruments 152 152

Employee share plan – – – – 9 266 – 9 266

Change in treasury shares – – 12 979 – – 2 959 – – 10 020

Change in consolidation scope associated companies – 250 – 250

Currency translation differences – 2 635 – 2 635

As of December 31, 2013 7 600 – 33 421 61 479 132 397 292 – 70 649 362 433

Net profit – – – – 38 556 – 38 556

Dividends – – – 5 931 – – – – 5 931

Changes in financial instruments – 891 – 891

Employee share plan – 9 967 – – – 40 013 – – 30 046

Change in treasury shares – 4 217 – – 3 239 – 7 456

Capital increase 700 – 30 191 – – – 30 891

Goodwill allocation – – – – – 30 479 – – 30 479

Change in consolidation scope associated companies – – – – – – –

Currency translation differences – – – – – 10 779 10 779

As of December 31, 2014 8 300 – 19 236 85 739 – 759 368 595 – 59 870 382 768

*  In the Consolidated Balance Sheet these items are disclosed as retained earnings.
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Notes to the Consolidated  
Financial Statements

General information 

Financial Statements
The financial reporting of the Siegfried Group complies with Swiss GAAP FER and the 
provisions of Swiss law. The Consolidated Financial Statements are based on historical costs, 
except for the revaluation of specific financial assets and liabilities, such as derivative  
financial instruments. As described in the following policies, they are valued at fair value.  
The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared on the going concern basis. The  
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Siegfried Group are presented in Swiss francs and 
were approved by the Board of Directors on February 26, 2015 for presentation to the 
General Meeting held on April 14, 2015.

Information about the Group
The Siegfried Group is a worldwide pharmaceutical supplier with production sites in Switzerland, 
Germany, Malta, the USA and China. Under contract to the pharmaceutical industry Siegfried 
develops manufacturing processes for active pharmaceutical ingredients and their intermedi-
ates and produces them (Drug Substances). The Siegfried Group also produces finished 
pharmaceutical products (Drug Products). With the acquisition of the Hameln Pharma compa-
nies, which are engaged in the development and finishing of sterile liquid dosage forms, this 
mainstay will be significantly strengthened. Siegfried Holding AG (head office in Zofingen, AG)  
is listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange.

Method and scope of consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the financial statements of all Swiss and 
foreign companies, in which Siegfried Holding AG controls (generally over 50% of the voting 
interest) directly or indirectly the financial and operating policy. Assets and liabilities, income 
and expenses are included according to the full consolidation method. Minority interests in  
the net assets and income of consolidated companies are recorded separately both in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet and the Consolidated Income Statement. At year end there are no 
minority interests in the Group.

Investments in associated companies are accounted for using the equity method. These  
are companies, over which the Group exercises significant interest, but not control. This is 
generally the case with a voting rights share of 20% to 50%. Investments in joint ventures 
are also accounted for using the equity method.

Group companies acquired or disposed of during the reporting period are included in or 
excluded from the Consolidated Financial Statements from the date of acquisition or disposal. 
The individual financial statements, on which the Consolidated Financial Statements are 
based, are drawn up in accordance with accounting principles applied consistently through-
out the Group. All intercompany transactions, including receivables and payables, income  
and expenses, unrealized intercompany profits are eliminated in the consolidation. The annual 
reporting period for all Group companies ends on December 31. 
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Changes in accounting principles

Swiss GAAP FER 31 – Financial reporting standard for listed companies
The supplementary Financial Reporting Standard for listed companies will become effective  
as of January 1, 2015. Earlier application is permitted. It deals with the initial adoption of 
Swiss GAAP FER, share-based payments, business being discontinued, earnings per share, 
income taxes, financial obligations, segment reporting and interim reporting. Siegfried 
adopted Swiss GAAP FER 31 as of January 1, 2014. The intro duction of the new Financial 
Reporting Standard had no significant impact on the results and disclosures of the Siegfried 
Group, most the new requirements were already applied. The major change was the disclo-
sure of the tax reconciliation. 

Capitalization of financing costs
Third party financing costs in connection with the construction of property, plant and equip-
ment are capitalized until completion of the plant and amortized over the depreciation life 
of the asset. For materiality reasons the prior year amounts have not been restated.

Accounting principles

Business combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiary companies are reported according to the purchase method. The 
purchase costs of a business combination include the sum of the fair market value of the 
acquired assets and additional Goodwill, debts and contingent liabilities, and issued equity 
instruments at the acquisition date. Purchased Goodwill is eliminated against equity. If the 
initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period, 
in which the combination occurred, the combination is accounted for using provisional 
amounts. Adjustment of the provisional amounts and the recognition of additionally identified 
assets and liabilities must be undertaken within the measurement period, if new information 
about facts and circumstances is obtained that existed at the acquisition date. The measurement 
period may not exceed one year from the acquisition date.

Segment reporting
The Siegfried Group consists of one segment. The decision takers measure the performance 
of the Group using fully consolidated results of the reportable Segment Siegfried Group. 

Foreign currency translation
The positions of the individual financial statements are valued on a functional currency basis.  
The Consolidated Financial Statements are denominated in Swiss francs. The functional 
currency of the Group companies is the respective local currency, apart from Siegfried Hong 
Kong Ltd., which keeps its books in RMB. Balance Sheets stated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the year-end exchange rates, the corresponding Income Statements at the aver - 
age annual exchange rates, which should not differ significantly from the exchange rates 
prevailing on the transaction dates. The exchange rate differences arising from the translation 
of the Financial Statements are recognized directly in the Consolidated Equity. Exchange rate 
differences arising on intercompany loans that, in substance, form part of the net investment  
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in that subsidiary, are also recognized in equity. Intercompany loans are regarded as part  
of a net investment in a subsidiary, if the settlement of these loans is neither planned  
nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. All other exchange rate differences are included  
in the Income Statement.

The exchange rates applied to the Group’s most important foreign currencies are as follows:

Balance Sheet

Year-end rates  2014  2013

1 USD 0.989 0.888

1 EUR 1.203 1.226

100 RMB 16.154 14.669

Income Statement

Average rates  2014  2013

1 USD 0.915 0.927

1 EUR 1.215 1.231

100 RMB 14.901 14.978

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are valued at acquisition or production cost less accumulated 
depreciation. Land is not depreciated. Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis over the 
following estimated useful life of the assets:

Buildings 10 – 30 years

Machinery and equipment 5 – 15 years

Vehicles 5 – 10 years

IT-Hardware 3 – 5 years

In the context of the periodical update of the accounting manual the useful lives of the  
asset categories have been adjusted. These adjustments have no major impact on Siegfried’s 
financial statements.  
 
If parts of a fixed asset have different useful lives, they are recognized and depreciated as 
separate assets. The useful lives of assets are evaluated at least once a year at the reporting 
date and, if necessary, amended. Property, plant and equipment are excluded from the 
Balance Sheet upon retirement, or when no value in use can be expected. Maintenance and 
repair costs are recognized in the Income Statement. Subsequent purchase and production 
costs are capitalized, only if a future economic benefit is expected and the costs of the asset 
can be reliably determined.
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Leasing
Leased property, plant and equipment for which the significant risks and rewards are 
 transferred to the Group are disclosed as Financial Leases respectively as asset and liability.  
All other lease agreements are classified as Operating Leases. Leasing liabilities from  
Operating Leases, which cannot be terminated within one year, are disclosed in the Notes  
to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Currently the Siegfried Group has entered only  
into Operating Leases and no Financial leases.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets consist of licenses, patents, trademarks, technology, software and land  
use rights in China. If there are indications of impairment, intangible assets are tested for 
recoverability. Software is accounted for at cost of acquisition or of production plus costs  
of placing it in a usable condition less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impair-
ment losses. It is amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life. If there  
are indications of impairment, the software is tested for recoverability. All intangible assets 
are amortized over the shorter of their following legal and economic lives:

Land use rights China 50 years

Licenses and patents The shorter of economic or legal life, as a rule 5 – 20 years

Trademarks The shorter of economic or legal life, as a rule 5 – 20 years

Software 3 – 5 years

Impairment tests are carried out whenever there are indications that intangible assets may be 
impaired. If the carrying amount is greater than the recoverable amount, being the higher  
of the fair market value less costs of disposal and value in use, the carrying amount is reduced  
to the recoverable amount. This reduction is recognized in the Consolidated Income State-
ment as expense. 

Impairment of non-financial non-current assets
An assessment whether the value of property, plant and equipment and other non-current 
assets with finite useful life may be impaired is undertaken if as a result of events or changed 
circumstances it appears possible that the carrying amounts are not recoverable. If the 
carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, then an impairment is recorded to this 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s net recoverable value and  
the value in use. When an impairment loss arises the useful life of the asset in question is 
reviewed and, if necessary, the future depreciation charge is accelerated. 
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Securities / Financial assets
Securities are a part of the current assets and are valued at market price. If no market value  
is available the securities are valued at acquisition cost less any impairment. Financial assets 
are carried at acquisition cost less impairment, if any.

Inventories
Inventories include raw materials, supplies, semi-finished goods and finished goods. They  
are measured at the lower of acquisition or production cost and net recoverable value. 
Production costs comprise all manufacturing costs including an appropriate share of produc-
tion overheads. Costs are assigned to inventory based on the first-in, first-out method. 
Appropriate valuation allowances are made for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items. 
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
applicable variable selling expenses.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are included initially at nominal value and subsequently at amortized cost; 
this is equal to the amounts invoiced after deducting allowances for doubtful accounts. 
Indications for possible impairment are given if payment is delayed, the customer is experiencing 
financial difficulties, or recapitalization or bankruptcy is likely. Allowances for doubtful 
accounts are established based on the difference between the net present value of the nominal 
amount of the receivables and the estimated net collectible amount. The expected loss is 
recognized in the Income Statement in the line item Marketing and sales. When a trade 
receivable becomes uncollectible, it is derecognized against the allowance for doubtful 
accounts.

Other receivables
This caption includes mainly VAT receivables and other receivables. They are recorded at net 
realizable value.

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 
Accrued income is valued at nominal value and contains payments made for the following 
financial year and accrued income which will be received in the next period.

Cash
Cash consists of cash, balances held in postal and bank accounts and short-term deposits 
with a maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition and are carried at current 
value. Cash is the defined fund of the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement.
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Equity / Treasury shares
A purchase of treasury shares by a Group company, including all costs (net after taxes), is 
recorded against equity, until the shares are redeemed, reissued, or sold. If treasury shares  
are issued or sold at a later date, the net consideration less directly attributable transaction 
costs and income taxes is recorded in equity.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are recorded under current or non-current financial liabilities. The 
non-current financial liabilities include all liabilities with a residual duration of more than  
one year. The current financial liabilities include all liabilities with a duration of less than 
one year, including the current portion of non-current liabilities. If at the reporting date 
there is a binding commitment to extend a maturing loan, it is classified according to the  
new duration.

Other liabilities 
Other liabilities are valued at nominal value and contain mainly VAT liabilities, shift allowances 
and liabilities from social insurances like AHV, IV etc.

Accrued expenses
Accrued expenses are valued at nominal value and contain mainly payments which are due  
in the following financial year but should be expensed in the current financial year.

Provisions
Provisions are recorded if, as a result of a past event, there is a justified probable obligation, 
the amount and / or due date of which is uncertain but can reasonably be estimated.  
The calculation of the provision is based on the estimate of the cash outflow to settle the 
obligation. If time is a significant factor, the amount of the provision is discounted.

Employee benefits
Pension plans
The Group operates various employee benefit plans in and outside Switzerland for employees 
who satisfy the participation criteria. The pension benefits paid are governed by the legal 
requirements in the respective countries. The employees of the Swiss companies in the Group 
are insured in the Pensionskasse Siegfried, a legally autonomous foundation. The pension 
 fund is financed by employee and employer contributions. In addition there is an affiliation 
to a collective foundation and pension commitments that are financed directly by the 
employer. Abroad there are separate pension schemes.

The effective economic effects of all Group pension plans are calculated annually at the 
reporting date and the resulting liability or economic benefit is recognized in the Balance 
Sheet. Employer contribution reserves are recognized as assets, provided they are not covered 
by a waiver of use. Changes in value of employer contribution reserves or liabilities are 
recognized in the Income Statement in personnel costs.
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Share-based payments
In 2014 Siegfried introduced a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) for the members of manage-
ment. At the beginning of a vesting period of three years the plan participants acquire  
a defined number of Performance Share Units (PSU). After the three year vesting period the 
plan participants are allocated a certain number of shares per acquired PSU. For the plan 
satisfied with equity instruments, the expense of the remuneration granted is recognized 
by an increase in equity. The related costs are recognized as personnel expenses in the  
period in which the claim arose. The valuation of the PSU is undertaken by an external company, 
which is specialised in the valuation of option and equity plans. 

The Siegfried Group also implemented an Employee Share Purchase Plan in 2005 to allow 
employees to buy shares at plan rate, a discounted rate of 30% below market value. The 
share plan is considered as an equity-settled share-based payment plan. The fair value of the 
shares corresponds to the fair value at grant date. Costs for the employee share plan are 
recorded as personnel expenses in the period in which the employee performed his / her 
services. The costs for the shares are adjusted to fair value on the grant date and also 
recorded as personnel expenses.

Profit sharing / bonus plans
The group also has a Short Term Incentive Plan (STIP) which is annully copensated in cash. 
Bonus obligations in cash and profit sharing are recognized on an accrual basis as a liability 
and expense, if there is a contractual commitment or past business practice that constitutes  
a de facto commitment.

Taxes
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred taxes. Provisions are made  
for deferred taxes on all temporary differences between amounts determined for tax  
purposes and those reported for Group accounting purposes at the actual local tax rates likely  
to be applied. The temporary differences are mainly due to the application of a declining 
balance depreciation allowed for tax purposes and to the creation of reserves on inventories 
and receivables. Deferred tax assets arising from temporary timing differences and tax  
loss carry-forwards are recognized if it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized. Management analyzes on a annual  
basis the financial situation and the expected profits of the concerned companies. Changes  
in deferred taxes are recognized against net profit unless the tax relates to an item recog-
nized directly in equity. No provisions are made for deferred income taxes on potential future 
dividends out of retained earnings, as these sums are deemed permanently reinvested. 
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Net sales
Net sales represent amounts received and receivable for goods and services supplied to 
customers after deducting discounts and volume rebates and excluding sales and value- 
added taxes. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership have passed to the buyer. Raw materials supplied by the customer,  
or raw materials for which the customer carries the risk are not recognized as sales. Income 
from services is recognized on an accrual basis in accordance with the underlying service 
agreements.

Cost of goods sold
The production costs of the goods and services sold include the direct production costs and 
the production overheads related to the goods sold and the services rendered.

Other operating income
Royalties are recognized in other operating income on an accrual basis in accordance with  
the terms of the underlying agreement. The remainder of the other operating income also 
includes gains on the sale of fixed assets and income from activities that are not part of the 
Siegfried Group’s core business.

Research and development
Research and development costs include wages and salaries, development costs, costs of 
materials and overheads and are directly expensed.
 
Dividends
Dividends to shareholders are recorded as liabilities at the time the resolution to pay  
a dividend is made.

Government grants
In connection with investment projects, some foreign companies of the Siegfried Group 
receive government grants, which are capitalized at their fair value only if there is a high 
probability that the conditions will be met. Government grants related to fixed assets are 
deducted in arriving at the carrying amount of the fixed asset. The grant is recognized  
as income over the life of a depreciable asset by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Transactions with related parties
Transactions with related parties are defined as a business relationship with shareholders  
of the Group, with companies which are fully consolidated and other related parties as 
defined under Swiss GAAP FER 15.
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Risk management

Siegfried’s business involves risks which should be identified by the risk management.  
By identifying risks at an early stage it is possible to take early action. The Board of Directors 
has delegated the responsibility for the organization and maintenance of a risk management 
system to the Management. 

A distinction is made between operating risks and risks on strategic projects as significant  
risk classes.

The operating risks were determined separately for the different functional areas. Responsibility 
for documenting, communicating and managing the current operating risks lies with the 
Operational Leaders of the functional areas. The operating risks are evaluated and classified 
according to the probability that they will occur and the amount of damage. The most 
important risks per functional area are regularly reviewed.

Major projects of a strategic nature are subject within the Siegfried Group to project manage-
ment. Part of the project management is the ongoing recognition, monitoring and proactive 
investigation of risks. Responsibility for strategic projects and management of associated risks 
always lies with a member of Executive Management.

Operating risks that are expected or have occurred are communicated in monthly reports  
to the Executive Management. Risks of greater consequence are also communicated in 
monthly reports to the Board of Directors. The progress of strategic projects is communicated 
monthly to the Executive Management and at least quarterly also to the Board of Directors. 
This reporting also includes an up-to-date risk assessment.

At its strategy meeting on June 16 and 17, 2014 the Board of Directors considered in depth 
the strategic projects and their inherent risks. When there were significant changes, it  
also called for information at other meetings about risks associated with strategic projects 
and took respective decisions. Operating risks were discussed and assessed by the Board  
of Directors at its regular meetings. The most important operational risks per area were defined 
on November 27, 2014. The annual report on the internal control system, including its assess-
ment, was also approved at the meeting on November 27, 2014. The risk management and  
the ICS reports were also pre-discussed in the Audit Committee on November 24, 2014. 
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Financial risk management

Financial risk management within the Group is governed by policies and guidelines approved 
by Management. These policies cover foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, market risk, 
credit risk and liquidity risk. Group policies also cover the investment of excess funds and the 
raising of debts. Both the investment of excess funds and the raising of current and non- 
current debts are centralized. Risk management strives to minimize the potential negative 
effects on the Group‘s financial position.

Market risks
Siegfried is exposed to market risks which consist mainly of foreign exchange risk, interest 
rate risk and market value risk.

Foreign exchange risks
Siegfried operates across the world and is therefore exposed to movements in foreign  
curren cies affecting its reporting in Swiss francs. Foreign exchange risks arise on business  
transactions that are not conducted in the Group‘s functional currency. Siegfried continues  
to monitor its currency exposures. The Group seeks to reduce the foreign exchange risk  
with natural hedges. If necessary, the Group will also take forward contracts, swaps or 
currency options into consideration.

The Siegfried Group is exposed principally to currency risk in respect of the USD and EUR and 
to a lesser extent of the RMB. 

With the lifting of the cap on the Euro lower limit by the Swiss National Bank in January 2015 
the focus on this topic has become more intense. Already in past years Siegfried has assigned 
this risk a high priority. Siegfried is therefore very well positioned in this respect and both  
in Euro and US Dollar has established a very high Natural Hedge, so that the effects on the 
results are estimated to be marginal.

Interest rate risks
Interest rate risks arise from movements in interest rates, which could have adverse effects  
on the Group’s net profit or financial position. Interest rate movements can result in changes 
in interest income and expense on interest bearing assets and liabilities. In addition, they  
can also, as described under the market value risks below, impact specific assets, liabilities and 
financial instruments. Within the Siegfried Group, interest rate management is centralized. 

The Group may also employ financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps, to hedge 
against movements in interest rates. 
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Market value risks
Changes in the market value of financial assets and derivative financial instruments can affect 
the financial position and net profit of the Group. Non-current financial investments, such  
as investments in subsidiaries, are held primarily for strategic reasons. Risks of loss in value are 
minimized by thorough analysis before purchase and by continuously monitoring the perfor-
mance and risks of the investments. 

Liquidity risks
The Group companies need to have sufficient access to cash to meet their obligations.  
The treasury department manages the raising of current and non-current debt. Centrally  
cash flow forecasting is performed by the operating entities of the Group and aggregated  
and monitored by Group Finance. Excess liquidity is also managed centrally.

Credit risks / counterparty risks
Credit risks arise from the possibility that the counter-party to a transaction may be unable  
or unwilling to meet their obligations, causing a financial loss to Siegfried. Trade receivables 
are subject to active risk management focusing on the monitoring and controlling of risks.

The credit risks on other financial assets are limited by the policy of restricting them to 
institutional partners. Where possible, the latter are controlled by an ongoing review of the 
classification of their creditworthiness and the limitation of aggregated individual risks.  
It has also been laid down that no more than 30% of the liquid funds may be deposited 
with a single credit institute. 

Capital risk
The capital of the Siegfried Group is managed with a view to ensuring the continuation  
of operations, to earning an adequate yield for the shareholders and to optimizing the capital 
structure in order to reduce the cost of capital.

The Siegfried Group monitors its capital structure by reference to the net debt ratio and  
the equity ratio. The net debt ratio is defined as net debt divided by EBITDA. The equity ratio 
is defined as equity divided by total assets.

Derivative financial instruments
To manage currency and interest rate exposure, Siegfried may use forward exchange contracts 
as well as interest rate and currency swaps or put options. Derivatives hedging changes in 
value of an existing underlying transaction are recognized applying the same valuation principles 
that are applied to the underlying hedged transaction. A derivative is derecognized as soon  
as it matures (or an early option is exercised) or as soon as, following a sale or default by the 
counterparty, no further claim on future payments exists. 
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Estimates, assumptions and accounting judgments
The compilation of Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER 
requires estimates, assumptions and accounting judgments. The most important forward 
looking assumptions, from which a substantial risk may arise that could lead to a material 
adjustment to assets and liabilities within a year, are outlined on the following page.

Impairment test of non-financial non-current assets
In compliance with the above accounting principles the recoverability of the net assets  
is tested if there is any indication of impairment. The recoverable amount of the cash- 
generating units is calculated using the Discounted Cash Flow method, based on approved 
mid-range plans. These calculations require management to make forward looking 
 assumptions and estimates.

Deferred tax assets
At December 31, 2014, Siegfried had available unrecognized tax losses and tax credits of  
CHF 176.0 million. Any substantial change in the financial position of the subsidiaries would 
enable the use of these unrecognized tax assets and capitalization of the corresponding  
tax receivables. Management assesses the capitalization of tax losses and tax credits on  
an annual basis based on the taxable profits expected in the future (see also note 6).

Environmental provisions
Provisions relate to obligations to eliminate environmental pollution. Future decontamination 
costs depend on the regulatory status and management decisions on future construction 
projects. Depending on the nature and scope of the construction projects realized, the obliga-
tion to eliminate detrimental effects on the environment is increased or reduced. The 
environmental provision amounting to CHF 14.7 million would as a consequence be higher  
or lower (see also note 13).
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1. Scope of Consolidation

The consolidation includes the following companies:

Group companies Share capital in LC

Operating

Siegfried AG, Zofingen (Switzerland) 20 000 000 CHF 100.00%

Siegfried (USA), LLC, Pennsville, NJ (USA) 500 000 USD 100.00%

Penick Corp., Pennsville, NJ (USA) – USD 100.00%

Siegfried International AG, Zofingen (Switzerland) 2 000 000 CHF 100.00%

Siegfried Malta Ltd., Valletta (Malta) 100 000 EUR 100.00%

Siegfried GmbH, Munich (Germany) 25 000 EUR 100.00%

Siegfried Hong Kong Ltd., Hong Kong (China) 1 000 HKD 100.00%

Alliance Medical Products Inc., Irvine, CA (USA) 116 521 USD 100.00%

Siegfried (Nantong) Pharmaceuticals Co. Ltd. (China) 346 925 622 CNY 100.00%

Hameln Pharmaceuticals GmbH, Hameln (Germany) 750 000 EUR 100.00%

Hameln RDS GmbH, Hameln (Germany) 30 000 EUR 100.00%

Finance and administration

Siegfried Holding AG, Zofingen (Switzerland) 8 300 000 CHF 100.00%

Siegfried Finance AG, Zofingen (Switzerland) 14 000 000 CHF 100.00%

Siegfried Deutschland Holding GmbH,  
Lörrach (Germany) 1 790 000 EUR 100.00%

Siegfried USA Holding Inc., Pennsville, NJ (USA) 3 000 USD 100.00%

Siegfried Deutschland Real Estate GmbH,  
Lörrach (Germany) 25 000 EUR 100.00%

Hameln Real Estate GmbH + Co. KG, Hameln (Germany) 25 000 EUR 100.00%

Joint venture

Alpine Dragon Pharmaceuticals Ltd.,  
Huangyang, Gansu Province (China) 10 542 708 CNY 49.00%

On November 28, 2014 Siegfried fully acquired Hameln Pharmaceuticals GmbH, Hameln 
RDS GmbH and Hameln Real Estate KG, in Hameln, Germany. In connection with the acquisi-
tion, Siegfried Deutschland Real Estate GmbH was incorporated.
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2. Property, plant and equipment

In 1000 CHF Land Buildings

Machinery  
and  

equipment Prepayments
Assets under  
construction Total

Acquisition costs

As of January 1, 2013 6 942 160 399 454 837 618 18 128 640 924

Translation differences – – 921 – 1 883 – 106 – 592 – 3 502

Additions – 206 2 265 5 195 38 602 46 268

Disposals – – 6 797 – 24 051 – – 68 – 30 916

Reclassifications – 1 031 11 331 – 599 – 11 763 –

As of December 31, 2013 6 942 153 918 442 499 5 108 44 307 652 774

Translation differences – 8 3 703 8 819 194 6 418 19 126

Change in scope of consolidation 776 35 034 37 220 10 – 73 040

Additions – 85 2 545 2 88 647 91 279

Disposals – – 3 924 – 4 199 – – 245 – 8 368

Reclassifications – 3 084 22 103 – 3 840 – 21 347 –

As of December 31, 2014 7 710 191 900 508 987 1 474 117 780 827 851

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairments

As of January 1, 2013 – 98 720 353 806 – – 452 526

Translation differences – – 592 – 1 598 – – – 2 190

Depreciation charge – 3 002 20 363 – – 23 365

Disposals – – 5 523 – 23 811 – – – 29 334

As of December 31, 2013 – 95 607 348 760 – – 444 367

Translation differences – 2 288 6 611 – – 8 899

Change in scope of consolidation – 15 658 28 037 – – 43 695

Depreciation charge – 3 010 20 633 – – 23 643

Disposals – – 3 604 – 4 076 – – – 7 680

As of December 31, 2014 – 112 959 399 965 – – 512 924

Net book value 31.12.2014 7 710 78 941 109 021 1 474 117 780 314 927

Net book value 31.12.2013 6 942 58 311 93 739 5 107 44 308 208 407

Insurance value 31.12.2014 890 847

Insurance value 31.12.2013 885 881

In connection with project Forum, Siegfried sold land and buildings to Swisscanto in 2013. 
 Swisscanto holds a put-option with Siegfried valued at CHF 2.5 million for the repurchase of 
defined land and areas should the project not be realized. The put-option is registered at 
the land registry and is valid until August 31, 2019. 
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In 2014 Siegfried sold buildings and installations with a carrying amount of CHF 0.4 million  
to Arena Pharmaceuticals GmbH. Additions amounting to CHF 29.3 million (net) recorded in 
changes in scope of consolidation derive solely from the Hameln acquisition.

As of December 31, 2014, commitments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment 
amounted to CHF 13.4 million (2013: CHF 30.9 million) thereof CHF 8.2 million (2013: 
CHF 27.6 million) relate to construction of the production site in Nantong (China). Borrowing 
costs of CHF 0.8 million (2013: CHF 0.0 million) in connection with the financing of Nantong  
was capitalized. 

3. Intangible Assets

In 1000 CHF
Licenses, 
patents Trademarks Software

Land use  
rights Total

Acquisition costs

As of January 1, 2013 9 947 6 049 9 903 727 26 626

Translation differences – 275 – 168 – 50 – 86 – 579

Additions – – 25 4 120 4 145

Disposals – – – 56 – – 56

As of December 31, 2013 9 672 5 881 9 822 4 761 30 136

Translation differences 1 092 650 209 481 2 432

Change in scope of consolidation – 1 385 9 102 1 496

Additions – – 124 – 124

Disposals – – – 73 – – 73

As of December 31, 2014 10 764 7 916 10 091 5 344 34 115

Accumulated amortization and  
impairments

As of January 1, 2013 5 161 5 065 9 340 – 19 566

Translation differences – 160 – 162 – 50 – 2 – 374

Amortization charge 410 522 390 113 1 435

Disposals – – – 56 – – 56

As of December 31, 2013 5 411 5 425 9 624 111 20 571

Translation differences 643 634 206 18 1 501

Change in scope of consolidation – 1 375 9 97 1 481

Amortization charge 399 434 215 97 1 145

Disposals – – – 72 – – 72

As of December 31, 2014 6 453 7 868 9 982 323 24 626

Net book value December 31, 2014 4 311 48 109 5 021 9 489

Net book value December 31, 2013 4 261 456 198 4 650 9 565
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The Goodwill which arose upon the acquisition of Alliance Medical Products Inc. (AMP) 
and the Hameln companies was set off against the Consolidated Equity at the date of 
purchase. If the Goodwill had been capitalized, the effect on the financial statements would 
have been as follows:

In 1000 CHF (for the years ended December 31)  2014  2013

Theoretical Goodwill

As of January 1 67 846 67 846

Additions 30 479 –

As of December 31 98 325 67 846

Accumulated amortization

As of January 1 7 161 2 638

Amortization 4 692 4 523

As of December 31 11 853 7 161

Theoretical Goodwill December 31 86 471 60 685

The theoretical useful life applied for straight-line amortization is 15 years as it is regarded as  
a long-term investment into a new field of sterile filling for Siegfried. The Goodwill out of  
this acquisition is translated into Swiss francs at the rate prevailing at the date of acquisition.  
This procedure avoids foreign exchange adjustments to the theoretical Goodwill movements.

In 1000 CHF (for the years ended December 31)  2014  2013

Operating result according to Income Statement 34 005 40 839

Amortization of Goodwill – 4 692 – 4 523

Theoretical operating result incl. amortization of Goodwill 29 313 36 316

Net profit according to Income Statement 38 556 53 851

Amortization of Goodwill – 4 692 – 4 523

Theoretical net profit incl. amortization of Goodwill 33 864 49 328

4. Investment in associated companies and Joint ventures

Alpine Dragon Pharmaceuticals Ltd. was incorporated during 2007 as a joint venture with  
the Chinese company Gansu Medical Alkaloids, Inc. The joint venture company is at present  
in the development stage, and therefore no sales have yet been made and the impact  
on the Financial Statements is immaterial. There are no contingent liabilities or payment  
commitments in connection with this joint venture.

The investments in associated companies and joint ventures include no goodwill at the 
reporting date.
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5. Financial and other non-current assets 

Financial assets are classified in the following categories:

In 1000 CHF  2014  2013

Burill Life Sciences Capital Fund, San Francisco, USA 0 128

Other non-current assets 116 30

Total financial and other non-current assets 116 158

The Burrill Fund was terminated in 2014. On the remaining non-tradeable positions  
an impairment of CHF 0.1 million (2013: CHF 0.1 million) was recognized through Income 
Statement. 

6. Income taxes

Income taxes in the Consolidated Income Statement

In 1000 CHF  2014  2013

Current tax expense 391 674

Deferred tax income – 7 161 – 4 269

Total income taxes – 6 770 – 3 595

The effective weighted tax rate 2014 is 17.9% (2013: 22.8%). This would lead to a tax expense 
of CHF 5.8 million (2013. CHF 11.6 million). In 2014 the tax income was CHF 6.8 million (2013: 
3.6 million) which would be equivalent to a positive tax rate of 21.3% (2013: 7.2%). The 
difference between the effective and normalised tax result is based mainly on the capitaliza-
tion of tax loss carry forwards not previously capitalized in the amount of CHF 12.4 million 
(2013: CHF 14.7 million), the use of non-capitalized tax loss carry forwards CHF 3.0 million 
(2013: CHF 2.6 million), the re-assessment of capitalized tax loss carry forwards CHF – 0.7 
million (2013: CHF 0.0), and the non-capitalization of newly incurred loss carry forwards of 
CHF – 2.2 million (2013: CHF – 1.1 million). The balance results from temporary differences 
between tax and Swiss GAAP values of CHF 0.1 million (2013: CHF – 1.0 million).

The Group owns a large amount of tax loss carry forwards. Of these, CHF 64.3 million (2013: 
CHF 38.6 million) were recognized as of December 31, 2014. Siegfried also has tax losses 
available which are not recognized in the amount of CHF 176.0 million (2013: CHF 234.4 mil-
lion) of which approximatively 43% relate to non- operational entities where future usage  
will be difficult.

The following unrecognized tax losses are available to Siegfried:

In 1000 CHF  2014  2013

Expiry of unrecognized tax losses and tax credits

Within one year 31 517 –

Between one and five years 52 430 53 888

More than five years 91 987 180 463

Total unrecognized tax losses and tax credits 175 934 234 351
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7. Inventories

In 1000 CHF  2014  2013

Raw materials 31 816 36 227

Semi-finished goods 57 753 37 801

Finished goods and trading goods 33 534 25 094

Total inventories 123 159 99 122

The valuation allowances for inventory amount to CHF 13.9 million (2013: CHF 6.9 million) 
and are included in the figures above. 

8. Trade receivables

In 1000 CHF  2014  2013

Trade receivables 68 819 62 018

Allowances for doubtful accounts – 13 – 52

Total trade receivables 68 806 61 966

The allowances for doubtful accounts are calculated using the difference between the nominal 
amount of the receivables and the estimated net amount collectible. The net amount 
collectible is estimated on the basis of experience. Receivables more than 6 months overdue  
in the amount of CHF 0.04 million (2013: CHF 0.1 million) are included in the allowances.  
As in the previous year there were no receivable losses. In the reporting period CHF 0.1 million 
(2013: 0.1 million) impaired receivables were cleared.

9. Derivative financial instruments

The guidelines of Siegfried’s financial risk management are described in the accounting 
principles. Within the framework of these guidelines, Siegfried uses derivative financial 
instruments to hedge foreign exchange and interest rate risks. The contract value provides 
information about the volume of outstanding transactions. At the reporting date foreign 
exchange as well as interest hedging contracts were open. Foreign currency forward and 
interest rate contracts were used to hedge net payment flows in the financial year 2014, 
aggregating USD 33.2 million (2013: USD 16.3 million), EUR 4.6 million (2013: EUR 7.0 million) 
and RMB 304.8 million. For the period of the underlying loan taken up in relation to the 
acquisition of Alliance Medical Products Inc., the company entered into an interest and currency 
rate swap amounting to USD 55.2 million and EUR 45.0 million (2013: USD 71.6 million)  
with several banks in order to hedge the interest expense. The fair value of this foreign currency 
instrument is recorded in the financial result as well as in equity.
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Derivative financial instruments

Contract value Positive fair value Negative fair value

In 1000 CHF  2014  2013  2014  2013  2014  2013

Foreign currency swaps 87 610 23 577 – 512 158 20

Interest rate swaps 108 730 63 609 – – 195 238

Total 196 340 87 186 – 512 353 258

10. Treasury shares

Treasury shares are deducted at transaction value directly from equity. At December 31, 2014, 
the book value of the treasury shares was CHF 19.3 million (2013: CHF 33.4 million). The 
inventory of treasury shares was reduced significantly in 2014 as a result of the grant of 
48 756 shares under the Equity Ownership Plan (EOP) and the partial payment of the 
purchase price for Hameln Pharma with 40 752 shares. The average transaction prices of the 
purchased and sold treasury shares are disclosed in the Notes of the Financial Statements  
of Siegfried Holding AG on page 156.

Treasury shares December 31, 2013 Change December 31, 2014

Total treasury shares 262 249 – 128 010 134 239

Total Siegfried shares 3 800 000 350 000 4 150 000

Total outstanding shares 3 537 751 478 010 4 015 761

11. Share capital – conditional capital 

In March 2014 in connection with the allocation of the Equity Ownership Plan shares  
the capital was increased out of conditional capital by 350 000 shares. This resulted in a share 
capital increase by CHF 0.7 million to CHF 8.3 million with a total of 4 150 000 shares  
each with a nominal value of CHF 2.

At the General Meeting held on March 26, 2014 the creation of new conditional capital  
of CHF 420 000 to create 210 000 shares to serve the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) was 
approved. The remaining conditional capital from the mandatory convertible bond,  
which was fully converted in 2011, has been cancelled in accordance with the resolution  
of the General Meeting.

Conditional capital (number of shares) December 31, 2013 Change December 31, 2014

Excess from Mandatory 
 Convertible Note (MCN)1 50 000 – 50 000 –

Equity Ownership Plan (EOP) 350 000 – 350 000 –

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) – 210 000 210 000

Total 400 000 – 190 000 210 000

1  No more needed for Mandatory Convertible Note due to complete conversion.
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12. Financial liabilities

The credit line is made available by a bank syndicate with a volume of CHF 250 million (2013: 
CHF 250 Mio.) and a duration of five years (2014– 2018). It is structured to meet the Group’s 
current needs. A small part is fore seen for the financing of the ongoing business, the larger 
part is available on call for the implementation of the strategy Transform. The bank loans  
are set at variable interest rates. The financial covenants consist of a maximum net debt ratio 
defined as 2.5 times EBITDA before charges for share-based payments (resp. an elevated  
ratio of 3.0 during a coherent period of 18 months). The second financial covenant is defined 
as a minimum equity ratio of 50% (resp. 40% in case of the elimination of goodwill through 
equity). The Group fulfilled both financial covenants at year-end. As of December 31, 2014 
USD 82.2 million and EUR 45.0 million (2013: USD 86.6 million) were drawn from the credit 
line.

13. Provisions

In 1000 CHF 
Environmental  

provisions
Other  

provisions Total

As of January 1, 2013 20 329 3 645 23 974

Costs incurred – 3 832 – 1 628 – 5 460

Additions, interest 667 4 563 5 230

Releases of unused provisions – 912 – 700 – 1 612

Currency translation – 28 – 8 – 36

As of December 31, 2013 16 224 5 872 22 096

Thereof current 6 037 5 372 11 409

Thereof non-current 10 187 500 10 687

As of January 1, 2014 16 224 5 872 22 096

Costs incurred – 2 986 – 1 573 – 4 559

Additions, interest 2 186 792 2 978

Releases of unused provisions – 807 – 2 772 – 3 579

Currency translation 79 5 84

As of December 31, 2014 14 696 2 324 17 020

Thereof current 6 123 1 824 7 947

Thereof non-current 8 573 500 9 073

Environmental provisions: The Siegfried Group produces chemicals at various locations.  
As part of the manufacturing process, undesirable incidents may arise that result in an obligation 
to remedy pollutant effects on the environment. Such obligations are recognized in the 
period when they become apparent. A provision is recorded if it is expected that the obligation 
results in an outflow of economic resources in the medium term and if a reasonable estimate  
of that obligation can be made. By their nature the amounts and timing of any out -flows are 
difficult to predict. In connection with planned construction projects, environmental investi-



Consolidated Financial Statements
Notes

—
141

gations were performed. Possible remediation obligations of CHF 14.7 million have been provided 
for (2013: CHF 16.2 million). In the reporting period costs for remediation in curred to  
CHF 3.0 million (2013: 3.8 million). The start of the planned construction projects is anticipated 
within the next 15 years. The environmental provision was discounted with 2% (2013: 4%)  
to the present value of the expected expenditures. The discount amounted to CHF 1.2 million 
(2013: CHF 0.2 million). Management reviews the provisions annually, based on regulatory 
changes or changes in planned investments. 

Other provisions include costs directly related to the project “Forum” in the amount of 
CHF 1.0 million. In addition provisions had to be created in the amount of CHF 0.6 million 
for future costs to be incurred in connection with the sale of floors in a building to Arena. 
The balance covers other operating obligations. In the reporting year CHF 1.4 million was used 
in connection with extension and demolition work and CHF 0.2 million for legal cases. 

14. Other non-current liabilities

Other long-term liabilities include the earn-out related to the acquisition of the Hameln 
companies on November 28, 2014. This may fall due in 2016 (see Note 21).

In the prior year there was a long-term liability in connection with an exchange of land for 
future reconstruction work in the fixed amount of CHF 1.8 million. This liability was  
reclassifed to current liabilites as the related tasks will be executed in the next 12 months.

15. Accruals

The accrued expenses and deferred income include accruals for personnel costs and social 
security charges as well as various expense and income accruals.

16. Other current liabilities

In March 2014 the earn-out in the amount of USD 14.4 million (CHF 12.8 million) was paid to 
the former owners of Alliance Medical Products Inc. The corresponding liability was released. 
Accordingly all the liabilities related to the acquisition of Alliance Medical Products Inc. have 
been settled.
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17. Employee benefits and personnel expenses

In 1000 CHF  2014  2013

Wages and salaries 90 819 87 123

Share-based payments 1 683 11 943

Pension expense 6 248 6 452

Expenses for other long-term employee benefits 190 225

Social and other personnel expenses 14 410 17 409

Total personnel expenses 113 350 123 152

In the year under review, the average number of employees (in full-time positions) was  
1374 (2013: 917). The increase is due to the acquisition of the Hameln companies as of 
November 28, 2014.

Pension liabilities and economic benefits are as follows: 

Excess / insuf-
ficient cover 

as per FER 26
Economic benefit /  

obligation for the company

Change vs. 
prior year 

or taken to 
the Income 

Statement in 
the FY Contributions

Pension expenses in  
personnel expenses

In 1000 CHF 31/12/2014 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 31/12/2014 2014 2014 2013

Pension schemes 
without excess /
insufficient cover 
(CH) 29 573 – 1 57 58 5 023 5 081 5 280

Pension costs (CH) – 252 – 252 – 436 – 184 57 – 127 34

Pension schemes 
without excess /
insufficient cover 
(USA) – 450 – 450 – 392 58 1 236 1 294 1 138

Total 28 871 – 703 – 771 – 68 6 316 6 248 6 452

Nominal 
value

Waiver of 
usage

Other value 
adjustments

Balance Sheet 
asset

Result from ECR in  
personnel expenses

In 1000 CHF 31/12/2014 31/12/2014 31/12/2014 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 2014 2013

Welfare funds (CH) 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 073

Pension schemes 
(CH) 8 726 0 0 8 726 8 466 – 260 – 8 466

Total 1 8 726 0 0 8 726 8 466 – 260 – 1 393

1  At September 30, 2013 the Welfare fund was merged into the pension fund.
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18. Share-based payments

In March 2014 the shares were allocated under the Equity Ownership Plan. In total 398 756 
shares were allocated, 350 000 shares were created out of conditional capital and 48 756 out 
of treasury shares.

In 2014 Siegfried introduced a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) for members of management. 
The plan participants receive at the beginning of a three-year vesting period a defined number 
of Performance Share Units (PSU). At the end of the three-year vesting period the plan 
participants are allocated, depending on the extent to which they have attained the targets,  
a certain number of shares per PSU acquired. Between 0 and 2 shares can be allocated per 
PSU. The plan defines a target amount for the growth in Total Shareholder Return (compound 
annual growth rate CAGR on total shareholder return (TSR weighting 70%) and two oper-
ating targets (EBITDA and ROCE weighting each 15%). After allocation, the shares are at the 
free disposal of the plan participants and are not subject to a restriction period.

The valuation of the PSU and Siegfried’s related expense is undertaken at the beginning of the 
relevant vesting period by an external company, which is specialised in the valuation of option 
and equity plans. In 2014 for the LTIP an expense of CHF 1.4 million was recognized, 25 251 PSUs 
with a fair value of CHF 162.99 per PSU. 

In addition to the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) there exists an equity plan for employees 
(Employee Share Purchase Plan – ESPP). The total expense for the ESPP amounted in the 
reporting year to CHF 0.3 million (2013: CHF 0.1 million). In the reporting year 2883 (2013: 
2109) shares were acquired under the plan. The funds saved in the ESPP by the plan partici-
pants at December 31, 2014 entitle them to acquire 544 shares (2013: 183 shares). 

19. Other operating income

Other operating income includes CHF 0.5 million royalty revenues and sales of precious 
metals (2013: CHF 0.2 million), CHF 0.4 million for environmental damage compensation 
(2013: CHF 0.3 million), CHF 7.1 million gains on sales of fixed assets (2013: CHF 2.8 million), 
CHF 1.0 million costs for environmental remediation and site clean-up (2013: CHF 0.0 million) 
and various other income aggregating CHF 1.0 million (2013: CHF 0.9 million). On the pay- 
ment of the earn-out due in 2014 for the company, Alliance Medical Products Inc. (AMP), 
acquired in 2012, the accrual of USD 5.0 million (CHF 4.6 million) was released to income 
over operating income in 2013. 
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20. Financial result

The financial result comprises of CHF 3.3 million (2013: CHF 3.1 million) financial expenses,  
of which CHF 2.2 million (2013: CHF 2.8 million) for debt interest and fees, CHF 1.1 million for 
the compounding of the enviromental provision, financial income of CHF 0.2 million (2013: 
CHF 11.8 million of which CHF 11.3 million from the sale of the shares in SCI Pharmtech Inc. 
in Taoyuan, Taiwan), and CHF 0.9 million (2013: CHF 0.7 million) from exchange differences. 

21. Acquisitions

At the end of November 2014 Siegfried acquired Hameln Pharmaceuticals GmbH, Hameln RDS 
GmbH and Hameln Real Estate KG, in Hameln, Germany. The Hameln Group is specialized  
in the development and finishing of sterile liquid dosage forms for the pharmaceutical industry 
and is therefore a valuable complement to the Siegfried Group’s existing product range.  
The provisional purchase price of CHF 52.3 million was paid CHF 46.3 million in cash and 
CHF 6.0 million in Siegfried shares, of which CHF 33.1 million was used to repay loans. If 
specific defined financial targets are met by the end of the financial year 2015, in 2016 an earn- 
out will become due in addition. The amount of the earn-out is graduated according to  
the extent to which the target is reached. The extent to which the target will be reached and 
the amount of the related earn-out has been estimated by the Management based on the 
business plans at CHF 13.0 million and recognized as an other non-current liability. The good- 
will resulting from the transaction of CHF 30.5 million, which also contains transaction costs  
in the amount of CHF 3.4 million, was set off against equity. As the transaction occurred only 
one month before the year-end, the allocation of the purchase price may change in 2015.  
At the date of the takeover the Hameln companies carried the following major consolidated 
balance sheet items (Fair Values):

In 1000 CHF November 30, 2014

Cash 1 557

Inventories 12 925

Other current assets 8 338

Non-current assets 29 057

Total assets 51 877

Current liabilities 43 702

Non-current liabilities 1 594

Equity 6 581

Total liabilities and equity 51 877
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22. Earnings per share

For the calculation of earnings per share, the number of shares has been reduced by the 
weighted average shares held by the Group.

 2014  2013

Net profit attributable to Siegfried shareholders  
(in 1000 CHF) 38 556 53 851

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 3 868 382 3 572 407

Undiluted earnings per share 9.97 15.07

Net profit attributable to Siegfried shareholders  
(in 1000 CHF) 38 556 53 851

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 3 868 382 3 572 407

Adjustment for assumed exercise of share-based payments, 
where dilutive 18 200 350 000

Diluted earnings per share 9.92 13.73

23. Distribution per share

For the financial year 2014 the Board of Directors proposes the distribution of CHF 1.50  
per share from the capital contribution reserves (2013: CHF 1.50 per share). If this is 
 approved by the Annual General Meeting on April 14, 2015, it will result in a total payment  
of CHF 6.0 million to the shareholders. The number of shares entitled for distribution may 
change by the time of the Annual General Meeting on April 14, 2015.

24. Commitments and contingencies

The operations of the Group companies continue to be exposed to risks from political,  
legal, fiscal and regulatory developments, including those related to environmental protection.  
The nature and frequency of these developments and events, which are not covered by any 
insurance, are not predictable. Possible obligations that are dependent on future events are 
disclosed as contingent liabilities. Refer to note 2 regarding the contingency related to the 
“Forum-Sale” in 2013. As of December 31, 2013, further contingent liabilities amounted to 
CHF 0.9 million. On December 31, 2014, Siegfried Holding AG gave guarantees to banks  
in the amount of CHF 5.0 million, USD 4.0 million and EUR 1.5 million (2012: USD 4.0 million) 
to serve as securities for leasing transactions.
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25. Maturity of rental and lease liabilities

Operating leases Operating leases

In 1000 CHF  2014  2013

Due under 1 year 4 655 1 653

Due between 1 and 2 years 4 407 1 967

Due between 2 and 3 years 4 128 2 088

Due between 3 and 4 years 3 615 2 087

Due between 4 and 5 years 3 123 2 118

Due after 5 years 14 058 14 448

Total lease liabilities 33 986 24 361

Of these liabilities CHF 17.2 million relate to the new administration bulding in Zofingen, 
CHF 2.2 million (2013: CHF 0.3 million) to the production facility in Malta, CHF 7.2 million to 
the production facility in Hameln and CHF 5.6 million (2013: CHF 5.7 million) to the production 
site in Irvine, California.

26. Transactions with related parties

The companies owned by Siegfried are listed in Note 1 “Scope of consolidation“. In 2014 no 
transaction between related patries took place (2013: CHF 0.4 million). All transactions 
between fully consolidated companies have been eliminated in the consolidation process  
and are not disclosed in this note.
 
The remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors and Executive Management is 
described and presented in detail in the Remuneration Report in sections 4 and 5.

27. Segment information 

The Siegfried Group consists of one segment. The decision makers measure the performance 
of the Group using fully consolidated results of the reportable Segment Siegfried Group. 

Net sales to third parties

In CHF million  2014  2013

Sales of products 307.4 366.6

Services 7.9 8.3

Total net sales 315.3 374.9
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Net sales by product group

In CHF million  2014  2013

Drug Substances 234.5 274.1

Drug Products 80.8 100.8

Total 315.3 374.9

Geographic information 1

The most important markets are Western Europe and the USA. 

In CHF million  2014  2013

USA 138.6 126.1

Switzerland 48.0 94.9

Other regions 128.7 153.9

Total 315.3 374.9

1  by location of customers

28. Events after the reporting period 

There are no significant events after the balance sheet date.
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Report of the statutory auditor 

Report of the statutory auditor  
on the consolidated financial statements

As statutory auditor, we have audited the consolidated financial statements of Siegfried 
Holding AG, which comprise the balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement, 
statement of changes in equity and notes (pages 117 to 147), for the year ended December 31, 
2014. 

Board of Directors’ Responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consoli-
dated financial statements in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and the requirements of  
Swiss law. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal 
control system relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board 
of Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies  
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on 
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on  
the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s prepara-
tion and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

To the General Meeting  
of Siegfried Holding AG,  
Zofingen 
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Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 
give a true and fair view of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash flows 
in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and comply with Swiss law.

Report on other legal requirements

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor 
Oversight Act (AOA) and independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there 
are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890,  
we confirm that an internal control system exists which has been designed for the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Gerd Tritschler Wouter van Brandwijk
Audit expert Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Basel, March 2, 2015
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Balance sheet of Siegfried Holding AG

In CHF (as of December 31) 2014 2013

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 17 218 437 32 444 262

Other current receivables due from third parties 5 641 3 279

Other current receivables due from group companies 2 188 378 200 435

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 1 034 949 1 363 970

Total current assets 20 447 405 34 011 947

Non-current assets

Loans to group companies 344 128 203 256 925 901

Investments 165 553 976 165 553 976

Property, plant and equipment 854 1 216

Intangible assets 2 574 4 289

Total non-current assets 509 685 607 422 485 382

Total assets 530 133 012 456 497 329

In CHF 2014 2013

Liabilities and shareholders‘ equity

Current liabilities

Short-term interest-bearing liabilities thrid parites 11 864 000 7 996 000

Short-term liabilities due from group companies 19 955 735 23 833 843

Other short-term liabilities due from third parties 393 057 207 242

Accrued expenses and deferred income 4 265 647 8 641 520

Total short-term liabilities 36 478 439 40 678 606

Non-current liabilities

Long-term interest-bearing liabilities third parties 38 559 700 31 982 000

Total long-term liabilities 38 559 700 31 982 000

Total liabilities 75 038 139 72 660 606

Shareholders‘ equity

Share capital 8 300 000 7 600 000

Legal reserves 2 800 000 2 800 000

Reserves from capital contribution 110 252 410 66 178 577

Free reserves 340 584 544 268 327 180

Teasury Shares – 19 214 596 – 33 326 397

Statutory retained earnings 12 372 514 72 257 362

Total shareholders‘ equity 455 094 872 383 836 723

Total liabilities and shareholders‘ equity 530 133 012 456 497 329
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Income Statement of Siegfried Holding AG

In CHF 2014 2013

Income

Financial income 14 845 099 19 317 786

Service income 8 385 709 9 580 406

Non-recurring income 3 708 812 –

Total income 26 939 620 28 898 192

Expenses

Personnel expense 1 276 561 7 602 567

Administrative expense 2 192 780 2 073 669

Financial expenses 11 029 788 3 850 727

Taxes 65 900 66 066

Depreciation of non-current assets 2 077 3 393

Total expenses 14 567 106 13 596 424

Net profit 12 372 514 15 301 769
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
of Siegfried Holding AG 

General information

Siegfried Holding AG holds directly or indirectly all subsidiaries of the Siegfried Group.  
The Financial Statements of Siegfried Holding AG are prepared in accordance with Swiss Code 
of Obligations. The federal council has put into effect the new accounting law as of 
 January 1, 2013. For the application there is a transitional period of two years. These financial 
statements have been drawn up in accordance with the provisions governing commercial 
accounting of the Swiss Code of Obligations (Art. 957 – 963b OR, applicable from 1 January 
2013). The corresponding comparative amounts for the prior year have been adjusted and 
comply with the requirements of the new accounting law.

The number of Full Time Equivalent employees is not on average above 10.

Guarantees and securities
The guarantees and securities amount to CHF 275.0 million (2013: CHF 275 million) at 
year-end. To secure the syndicated loan Siegfried Holding AG has assigned receivables from 
subsidiaries in favor of the lending banks. At December 31, 2014, Siegfried Group used the 
credit line in the amount of USD 82.2 million and EUR 45.0 million (2013: USD 86.6 million). 
At December 31, 2014, there were guarantees from Siegfried Holding AG to the banks in  
the amount of USD 4.0 million, CHF 5.0 million and EUR 1.5 million (2013: USD 4.0 million) to 
secure lease transactions of subsidiaries.
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Balance Sheet

Investments
As of December 31, 2014, Siegfried Holding AG holds the following investments:

Group companies in LC Participation
Share capital 

2014
Share capital 

2013

Operating

Siegfried AG, Zofingen (Switzerland) CHF 100.00% 20 000 000 20 000 000

Siegfried (USA), LLC, Pennsville, NJ (USA) USD 100.00% 500 000 500 000

Penick Corp., Pennsville, NJ (USA) USD 100.00% – –

Siegfried International AG, Zofingen (Switzerland) CHF 100.00% 2 000 000 2 000 000

Siegfried Malta Ltd., Valletta (Malta) EUR 100.00% 100 000 100 000

Siegfried GmbH, Munich (Germany) EUR 100.00% 25 000 25 000

Siegfried Hong Kong Ltd., Hong Kong (China) HKD 100.00% 1 000 1 000

Alliance Medical Products Inc., Irvine, CA (USA) USD 100.00% 116 521 116 521

Siegfried (Nantong) Pharmaceuticals Co. Ltd. (China) CNY 100.00% 346 925 622 174 973 294

Hameln Pharmaceuticals GmbH, Hameln (Germany) EUR 100.00% 750 000 –

Hameln RDS GmbH, Hameln (Germany) EUR 100.00% 30 000 –

Finance and administration

Siegfried Finance AG, Zofingen (Switzerland) CHF 100.00% 14 000 000 14 000 000

Siegfried Deutschland Holding GmbH,  
Lörrach (Germany) EUR 100.00% 1 790 000 1 790 000

Siegfried USA Holding Inc., Pennsville, NJ (USA)  USD 100.00% 3 000 3 000

Siegfried Deutschland Real Estate GmbH, Lörrach 
(Germany) EUR 100.00% 25 000 –

Hameln Real Estate GmbH + Co. KG, Hameln  
(Germany) EUR 100.00% 25 000 –

Joint venture

Alpine Dragon Pharmaceuticals Ltd.,  
Huangyang, Gansu Province (China) CNY 49.00% 10 542 708 10 542 708

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates include those companies in which Siegfried Holding 
AG has an interest of more than 20%. The investments are valued at acquisition cost less 
valuation allowances. The long-term loans to affiliates are used for the financing of capital 
expenditures and other operational activities. The loans increased in 2014 by CHF 87.2 million 
due to high acquisition – and investment activities. The intangible assets include capitalized 
software.
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Current assets
Liquid funds are valued at the rate prevailing on the reporting date. Accrued income and 
prepaid expenses are recognized at nominal amount and include for the most part payments 
made for the following year and accruals of receipts, which will not be collected until the 
following year, and include mostly accruals for trademark royalties

Shareholders’ equity
The share capital increased as a result of the allocation of shares under the Equity Ownership 
Plan (EOP) from CHF 7.6 million to CHF 8.3 million. It is divided into 4 150 000 registered 
shares, with a nominal value of CHF 2 each. The Legal reserves are unchanged and amount to 
CHF 2.8 million In addition there is a Reserve from Capital contribution of CHF 110.3 million 
(2013: CHF 66.2 million). With the application of the new accounting law, the inventory of 
treasure shares has been reclassified from Securities to Equity as a negative balance. The 
related Reserves for treasury shares have been allocated to the Free reserves. 

Conditional capital 
At the General Meeting held on March 26, 2014 the creation of new conditional capital of 
CHF 420 000 to create 210 000 shares to serve the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) was 
approved. The remaining conditional capital from the mandatory convertible bond, which 
was fully converted in 2011, has been cancelled in accordance with the resolution of the 
General Meeting.

Treasury shares
In the reporting year Siegfried Holding AG and a subsidiary company have made various 
purchases and sales of Siegfried shares. On balance, the inventory fell by 127 010 shares.  
The inventory of treasury shares was reduced significantly in 2014 as a result of the grant of 
48 756 shares under the Equity Ownership Plan (EOP) and the partial payment of the 
purchase price for Hameln Pharma with 40 752 shares. The shares are valued at the average 
rate.

CHF Number of shares Average prices

At January 1, 2013 198 370 103.0

Purchases Jan.– Dec. 2013 251 554 136.0

Sales Jan.– Dec. 2013 – 187 675 132.6

At December 31, 2013 262 249 127.4

Purchases Jan.– Dec. 2014 145 185 156.5

Sales Jan.– Dec. 2014 – 273 195 151.3

At December 31, 2014 134 239 143.3

Liabilities
The credit line is made available by a bank syndicate with a volume of CHF 250 million and  
a duration of five years (2014-2018). As of December 31, 2014 CHF 135.4 million were drawn 
from the credit line from the whole Group, divided in USD 82.2 million and EUR 45.0  
(2013: CHF 76.9 million resp. USD 86.6 million. The portion of Siegfried Holding AG amounted 
to CHF 50.4 million resp. USD 51.0 million (2013: CHF 40.0 million resp. USD 45.0 million). 
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Accrued expenses and deferred income include the deferrals and accruals of various income 
and expense items mainyl unrealized exchange proftis.

Income statement

In the reporting year and in the prior year no dividend distributions were received from 
subsidiary companies. Financial income includes interest income on receivables from  
group companies, exchange gains and income from securities. The proceeds of charging 
internal services to group companies are reported in service income. Based on new  
estimates, valuation adjustments on loans to group companies in the amount of CHF 3.7 million 
(2013: CHF 0.0 million) have been released and reported under non-recurring income. 

Financial expense includes interest on loans from third parties and group companies as well 
as exchange losses.

Loans and share ownership of the Board of Directors and  
the Executive Management

Loans to members of executive bodies
The members of the Board of Directors or of the Executive Management and persons closely 
related to them are, or were, in the current or preceding financial year not involved in 
transactions beyond the normal business activity of Siegfried Holding AG or of one of its 
group companies or in other transactions that in form or substance were unusual, but 
important for Siegfried Holding AG.

At December 31, 2014, Siegfried Holding AG and its group companies have not granted  
any securities, loans, advances or credits to the members of the Board of Directors or the 
Executive Management or to persons closely related to them.

Share ownership of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management
In 2014, 29 409 shares with a value of CHF 3.0 million were distributed to the members of the 
Board of Directors. On December 31, 2014, the non-executive members of the Board of 
Directors and persons closely related to them owned 45 309 (2013: 29 550) registered shares 
of Siegfried Holding AG. This represents 1.1% (2013: 0.8%) of the entire share capital of 
Siegfried Holding AG. The members of the Executive Management (including persons closely 
related to them) owned at the same date 209 869 (2013: 63 012) registered shares, i.e. 
5.1% (2013: 1.7%) of the share capital of Siegfried Holding AG.
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December 31, 2014

Board of Directors Function
Number 

of shares
of which 
blocked

Dr. Andreas Casutt Chairman 15 500 12 450

Dr. Felix K. Meyer Deputy Chairman 10 040 10 040

Reto Garzetti Member 13 034 13 034

Colin Bond Member 1 000 1 000

Dr. Thomas Villiger Member 5 235 5 235

Wolfram Carius Member 500 500

Executive Management

Dr. Rudolf Hanko CEO 70 745 60 427

Michael Hüsler CFO 30 002 30 002

Dr. René Imwinkelried Head Research & Development 11 047 9 447

Dr. Walter Kittl Head Technical Operations 24 054 23 951

Arnoud Middel Head Human Resources 12 625 12 625

Marianne Späne Head Business Development & Sales 34 680 32 799

Dr. Wolfgang Wienand Head Strategy & M&A 26 716 24 816

December 31, 2013

Board of Directors Function
Number  

of shares
of which  
blocked

Gilbert Achermann Chairman 8 950 8 950

Dr. Andreas Casutt Deputy Chairman 6 150 6 150

Colin Bond Member 500 500

Reto Garzetti Member 5 650 5 650

Dr. Felix K. Meyer Member 5 400 5 400

Dr. Thomas Villiger Member 2 900 2 900

Executive Management

Dr. Rudolf Hanko CEO 23 505 19 119

Michael Hüsler CFO 6 908 6 908

Peter A. Gehler Head Corporate Center 5 891 5 891

Dr. René Imwinkelried Head Research & Development 4 578 2 978

Dr. Walter Kittl Head Technical Operations 5 497 5 354

Arnoud Middel Head Human Resources 2 820 2 820

Marianne Späne Head Business Development & Sales 8 256 7 332

Dr. Wolfgang Wienand Head Strategy & M&A 5 557 5 557
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Major shareholders

Shareholders representing more than 3.0% relating to the number of Siegfried shares at year 
end of 4 150 000 (2013: 3 800 000):

 – According to its own statement, Tweedy, Browne Company LLC, New York, USA, holds  
an interest of 9.0% of the shares of Siegfried Holding AG (2013: 9.9%).

 – Rainer-Marc Frey holds 8.7% (2013: 9.5%) of the shares in Siegfried Holding AG. 
 – According to their own statement, the Kreissparkasse Biberach, Biberach, Germany  
(Bayerninvest Kapitalgesellschaft mbH, München and LBBW Asset Management Investment 
GmbH, Stuttgart) holds 3.3% (2013: 3.6%) of the shares in Siegfried Holding AG.

 – EOP Participants (blocked until 2015) 4.8% (2013: 0.0%)
 – EOP Participants (blocked until 2016) 4.8% (2013: 0.0%)

Events after the reporting period

There are no significant events after the balance sheet date.
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Proposal of the Board of Directors  
to the Annual General Meeting of  
April 14, 2015 regarding appropriation 
of the retained earnings and the 
 distri bution from reserves from capital  
contribution 

In CHF 2014

Profit for the year 12 372 514

Balance brought forward –

Statutory retained earnings 12 372 514

Appropriation of retained earnings to free reserves 12 372 514

Balance to be carried forward –

Reserves from capital contribution as of December 31, 2013 66 178 577

Payout for 2013 – 5 924 652

Addition from capital increase 49 998 485

Total Reserves from capital contribution as of December 31, 2014 110 252 410

Distribution of CHF 1.50 per registered share on 3 988 989 distribution entitled shares – 5 983 484

Reserves from captial contribution carried forward 104 268 927

The total amount of distribution mentioned in the proposal of the Board of Directors has 
been calculated on the basis of number of shares entitled for distribution on the day of  
the approval of the Board of Directors meeting. The number of shares entitled for distribu-
tion can still change up to the Annual General Meeting on April 14, 2015.
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Report of the statutory auditor

Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements

As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of Siegfried Holding AG,  
which comprise the balance sheet, income statement and notes (pages 152 to 159),  
for the year ended 31 December 2014. 

Board of Directors’ Responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the requirements of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. 
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control 
system relevant to the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that 
are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards.  
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,  
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

To the General Meeting  
of Siegfried Holding AG,  
Zofingen 
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Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 comply  
with Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation.

Report on other legal requirements

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor 
Oversight Act (AOA) and independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there 
are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890,  
we confirm that an internal control system exists which has been designed for the preparation 
of financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings and capital 
contribution reserves comply with Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. We 
recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Gerd Tritschler Wouter van Brandwijk
Audit expert Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Basel, March 2, 2015
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Key figures overview 2010 – 2014, consolidated figures1

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Net sales CHF million 315.3 374.9 367.8 328.1 314.4

Growth in % – 15.9 2.0 12.1 4.4 11.1

EBITDA CHF million 58.8 65.6 45.4 36.5 28.1

Growth in % – 10.4 44.7 24.1 30.1 11.1

EBITDA margin in % 18.6 17.5 12.3 11.1 8.9

Operating profit (EBIT) CHF million 34.0 40.8 17.9 12.5 – 4.4

Growth in % – 16.7 127.9 43.5 n/a n/a

Operating margin in % 10.8 10.9 4.9 3.8 n/a

Net profit (loss) CHF million 38.6 53.9 20.9 9.7 – 14.0

Net profit/-margin in % 12.2 14.4 5.7 3.0 n/a

Net cash/(net debt) CHF million – 85.2 50.4 25.8 52.6 41.2

Net Working Capital2 CHF million 148.0 130.1 137.0 122.2 104.7

As % of net sales 46.9 34.7 37.3 37.2 33.3

Total assets CHF million 629.6 537.8 477.4 430.6 464.1

Equity CHF million 382.8 362.4 316.3 353.5 373.7

Equity ratio in % 60.8 67.4 66.3 82.1 80.5

Market capitalization3 650.0 572.0 435.0 329.0 344.0

Average capital employed4 CHF million 384.7 331.5 327.8 301.4 384.0

Return on capital employed (average) ROCE5 in % 15.3 19.8 13.8 12.1 7.3

Cash flow from operating activities CHF million 24.6 67.5 54.3 29.4 57.7

As % of net sales 7.8 18.0 14.8 8.9 18.4

Free cash flow CHF million – 57.3 23.5 38.4 27.7 44.7

As % of net sales – 18.2 6.3 10.5 8.4 14.2

Investments in PPE and intangible assets CHF million 82.0 51.9 22.8 13.5 13.0

As % of net sales 26.0 13.8 6.2 4.1 4.1

Depreciation and amortization/impairment CHF million 24.8 24.8 27.4 24.1 32.5

As % of net sales 7.9 6.6 7.5 7.3 10.3

Employees (number of FTEs)6 Number 1 374 917 832 715.0 696

Change vs. previous year % 49.8 10.2 16.4 2.7 – 15.4

Sales per employee CHF 229 463 408 877 442 012 458 874 451 700

Change vs. previous year % – 23.5 – 7.5 – 3.7 1.6 31.4

1  2009/2010 IFRS, from 2011 Swiss GAAP FER
2  Calculation of net working capital: Trade Receivables + Inventories – Trade Payables
3  Calculated on the weighted average number of shares outstanding, deducting treasury shares
4  Calculation of capital employed: PPE + Intangible Assets + Net Working Capital
5  Calculation ROCE: EBITDA in relation to average capital employed over 12 months.
6  Year-end figures
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Stock market data

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Registered shares nom. CHF 2 4 150 000 3 800 000 3 800 000 3 800 000 2 929 410

Share capital CHF million 8.3 7.6 7.6 7.6 5.9

Gross dividend per registered share1 CHF 1.50 1.50 1.20 1.00 0

Total dividend paid CHF 6 225 000 5 700 000 4 560 000 3 800 000 –

Market prices registered share high CHF 171.0 163.5 122.0 110.0 102.0

low CHF 139.0 109.3 83.7 80.0 86.1

Year-end CHF 162.0 161.6 114.3 89.8 90.5

Dividend yield per registered share2 % 0.9 0.9 1.0 1.3 0

Earnings per share – EPS3 CHF 9.97 15.07 5.76 2.61 – 1.25

Earnings per share – EPS – diluted4 9.92 13.73 5.55 2.55 – 1.25

Consolidated operating cash flow  
per registered share3 CHF 8.6 19.0 15.0 8.0 16.5

Consolidated equity and reserves  
per registered share3 CHF 99.0 101.5 87.3 96.3 110.6

P/E ratio (year-end)2 16 12 21 35 n/a

Market capitalization at year-end3 CHF million 650 572 435 329 344

1  For 2014 proposal to the General Meeting
2  Calculated on the basis of year-end share price
3  Calculated on the weighted average number of shares outstanding, deducting treasury shares
4  Adjustment for assumed exercise of share-based payments, where dilutive

Siegfried shares are traded on the SIX Swiss stock exchange:

Valor 1 428 449

ISIN CH 0014 284 498

Stock symbols
Reuters 
Telekurs

SFFZn 
SFZN

Share price development from January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2014
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Shareholder Base

As of December 31, 2014, 2 630 shareholders were registered in the Siegfried Holding AG 
share registry, holding 75.99% of the total share capital. The share holdings include:

Distribution of shares as of December 31, 2014 No. of shareholders No. of shares per category %

1 – 10 257 1 577 0.04

11 – 100 1 121 63 809 1.54

101 – 1 000 1 006 327 837 7.90

1 001 – 10 000 196 643 963 15.52

10 001 – 100 000 45 1 033 178 24.90

100 001 – 1 000 000 51 1 083 220 26.10

2 630 3 153 584 75.99

Own shares and non-registered shares n. a. 996 416 24.01

Total shares 4 150 000 100.00

Shareholdings by segment as of December 31, 2014, was as follows:

Holdings by segment as of December 31, 2014 No. of shareholders No. of shares per category %

Key shareholders (>3%) 32 871 376 21.00

Individuals 2 396 1 191 820 28.72

Institutional investors 232 1 090 388 26.27

Own shares and non-registered shares n. a.  996 416 24.01

Total shares n. a. 4 150 000 100.00

1  Including one custodian holding over 3% of the share capital for the account of third parties that has been registered as nominee.
2  Without EOP participants and own shares.
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Publications

The Siegfried Group is committed to an open and consistent information policy.  
The media, financial analysts and other interest groups are continuously informed about 
important developments and events. 

Shareholders are informed semi-annually on the state of the business and receive the 
annual report and the semi-annual report upon request. The annual report, minutes of the 
previous General Meeting, media releases, important information and the current share 
price can be found at www.siegfried.ch. A news conference is held annually for the media 
and financial analysts.

Siegfried Holding strictly observes the mandatory disclosure policies of the SIX Swiss 
 Exchange (ad hoc notification) regarding events that could affect the stock price.

Calendar

In 2015, the company will inform about  
the course of business as follows:

March 5, 2015: 
Publication of results for the 2014 business
year at a media and analyst conference  
in Zurich

April 14, 2015: 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders

August 27, 2015: 
Publication of 2015 half-year financial results
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Cautionary statement regarding 
 forward-looking statements

This Annual Report contains certain forward-looking statements identified by words such as 
“believes”, “expects”, “anticipates”, “projects”, “intends”, “should”, “seeks”, “estimates”, 
“future” or similar expressions or by discussion of, among other things, strategy, goals, plans 
or intentions. Various factors may cause actual results to differ materially in the future from 
those reflected in forwardlooking statements contained in this Annual Report, among others: 
(1) pricing and product initiatives of competitors; (2) legislative and regulatory developments 
and economic conditions; (3) delay or inability in obtaining regulatory approvals or bringing 
products to market; (4) fluctuations in currency exchange rates and general financial market 
conditions; (5) uncertainties in the discovery, development or marketing of new products or 
new uses of existing products, including without limitation negative results of clinical trials  
or research projects, unexpected side-effects of pipeline or marketed products; (6) increased 
government pricing pressures; (7) interruptions in production; (8) loss of or inability to  
obtain adequate protection for intellectual property rights; (9) litigation; (10) loss of key execu- 
tives or other employees; and (11) adverse publicity and news coverage.

The statement regarding earnings per share growth is not a profit forecast and should not 
be interpreted to mean that Siegfried’s earnings or earnings per share for 2015 or any 
subsequent period will necessarily match or exceed the historical published earnings or 
earnings per share of Siegfried.
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